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At NEAS, we are proud to have continued to play 
our part in the national response to the most 
serious public health emergency that the NHS has 
ever faced. We would like to begin this annual 
report by paying tribute to the thousands of staff, 
students, volunteers and third-party partners who 
kept us safe throughout this period. 

We entered April 2021 in a spirit of cautious 
optimism as the country began a phased exit 
from the lockdowns of 2020-2021. We hoped 
for the best and prepared for the worst and time 
and time again we were amazed by the resilience, 
flexibility and agility demonstrated by our front-
line crews and support staff. As a Board, we are 
immensely proud of their commitment to each 
other, to the service and to the health and well-
being of the people of the North East. 

Our staff survey results show that there is  
much work to be done to recover our people. 

Further information on the activities we are 
undertaking in this regard is available in the Staff 
Report. I would like to take this opportunity to 
emphasise that the health and well-being of our 
people is a key priority and our commitment to 
them is the same as we offer our patients: we will 
put them at the heart of everything we do. We 
commend them all and thank them for the care 
they provide to patients and each other. 

We continued to embrace new ways of working 
to keep our staff safe throughout 2021-2022,  
so that they, in turn, could keep our patients safe. 
Social distancing, digital meeting tools, flexible 
working and agile working spaces are just some 
of the measures that we continue to adopt. While 
we appreciate the opportunities afforded by these 
new ways of working, we look forward to the 
day when we can safely welcome our employees, 
Governors and members back into our facilities 
on a more regular basis.

Chair Foreword

2021-2022 was another extraordinary year for the NHS  
as we continued to respond to the challenges posed by  
the Covid-19 pandemic.  
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Peter Strachan
Chairman

We took the opportunity of recovery to review 
and refresh our strategy and launched a new  
five-year strategy “Our Vision for the Future”  
in August 2021. The strategy is our “north star” 
and provides a roadmap for delivery of our vision 
to provide ‘unmatched quality of care’. In the 
wider healthcare landscape, we continued to 
work with our partners in the region to develop 
and embed the integrated care system and 
ensure that the voice of the ambulance service 
is well-represented. Within our operations, we 
realigned our capabilities to reflect and anticipate 
the needs of future partnership working. 

The work we have done in the past year, 
together with our programme for the next 
four years, will enable us to deliver a positive, 
enriching work-life balance, and safe, high-
quality care to our patients.

As this Annual Report was being finalised, we 
witnessed events unfold in the Ukraine. This is a 
shocking event at every level and our thoughts 
are with the Ukrainian people. There have been 
many global impacts as a result of this and we 
maintain a watching brief on escalating fuel and 
energy costs and cyber-security as a result. 

It is against this backdrop that we present the 
2021-2022 Annual Report. We are encouraged 
by the start to the year that we have had and 
look forward to making further strong progress  
in the year ahead as we put the challenges of  
the pandemic behind us.
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The Trust Strategy “Our Vision for the Future 2021-2026” was 
agreed by the Board of Directors and launched on 16 August 
2021. This followed an in-depth consultation and engagement 
period with key internal and external stakeholders. 

Our Strategy, Vision,  
Mission and Values

As we now emerge from the pandemic, we 
believe that this strategy leaves us well placed 
to begin the process of recovering our services, 
supporting our people, and preparing for the 
pending changes in our external environment. 

The strategy is based around four strategic 
ambitions with patients at the centre. Together, 
these ambitions (our “Ps and Qs”), provide the 
framework for everything we do. 

People – a great place to work and grow

Performance – deliver outstanding performance, 
every time

Partner – collaborate and innovate with our 
partners

Quality – safe, compassionate and inclusive care 

During 2022/23 our strategy will be  
connected by ‘golden threads’ representing  
cross-organisational goals that we must  
deliver to achieve our objectives. 

Our vision: unmatched quality of care 

Our mission: safe, effective and responsive care 
for all

In developing our strategy, we agreed as a Board 
that our original vision, mission and values 
continue to hold true. By keeping our patients  
at the centre of everything we do, we ensure  
that our strategy remains firmly anchored to our 
over-arching vision and mission.

Our values: our vision and mission are supported 
by our core values which provide the cultural and 
behavioural framework within which we operate. 

These shared values of compassion, accountability 
and responsibility, respect and excellence and 
innovation, are at the heart of everything we 
do. They shape our culture, drive our decision-
making, and ensure that our ways of working  
are shared and understood by all.
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New service developments and achievements must be placed 
within the context of our response to the challenges posed by 
the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Our Service Developments  
and Achievements

Throughout 2021-2022, we demonstrated the 
resilience of our operating model and culture, by 
adapting and responding to the pressures of the 
external environment while continuing to provide 
the highest standards of care to our service users. 

Against this backdrop of extreme pressure and 
challenge, we remained ambitious in our aims to 
continue to develop and grow. This ability to flex, 

perform and grow is testament to our culture; a 
culture in which everyone feels they can make a 
difference, knows the value of their contribution, 
understands their responsibilities and takes pride 
in their performance. Some of our key service 
developments and achievements are highlighted 
in the following pages.
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Strategic Ambition 
People – A Great Place to Work and Grow

Keeping our People Safe and Work  
Without Fear
NEAS staff reported 2499 incidents of abuse 
and assault over the last five years. Staff safety 
is one of our highest priorities and in July 2021 
NEAS was successful in a funding bid from NHS 
England to purchase an additional 200 body 
worn cameras, meaning that every ambulance 
station in the region now has access to a camera. 
As well as providing evidence for criminal 
convictions, these cameras can be instrumental 
in de-escalating a situation, thereby keeping our 
staff and patients safe. We are firmly committed 
to maintaining a safe environment for our staff 
and NEAS health advisors and paramedics who 
have been subjected to verbal and physical 
assaults in the line of duty have also joined in  
the national #WorkWithoutFear campaign which 
was launched in February 2022.

Commitment to Armed Forces
In September 2021, NEAS received the Defence 
Employer Recognition Scheme (ERS) Silver Award 
from the Ministry of Defence in recognition of 
its support to the Armed Forces community. 
NEAS has a long tradition in supporting ex and 
current Armed Forces personnel into and during 
employment, and proudly employs a large 
number of reservists and veterans. As well as 
employing numerous former and current serving 
military staff and veterans, NEAS also offers 
placement opportunities to military paramedic 
students looking to gain practical working 
experience in a paramedic environment. 

Internal Paramedic Apprenticeship 
Programme 
In September 2021, NEAS launched the first 
internal paramedic apprenticeship programme. 
Run in partnership with Teesside University, the 
new three-year BSc (Hons) Paramedic Practice 
degree apprenticeship programme, allows us to 
invest and develop our people by enabling them 
to progress their careers without the need to 
leave the Trust.

Engagement, Equality and Inclusion
NEAS was recognised for its work in the areas of 
communications, engagement, and equality and 
diversity over the last year. The service was one of 
only 14 organisations in the country to achieve 
Gold Award status with the Employers Network  
in Equality and Inclusion (ENEI), covering all aspects 
of equality and inclusion in the workplace. NEAS 
was also highly commended by the ENEI network 
for its innovative approach to equality, diversity  
and inclusion (EDI).

The Trust also won a Dyslexia Smart Award and the 
NEAS EDI Team were highly commended for their 
work on a positive action project in the community 
initiative of the year category of the national 
Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) Health 
& Care Awards. This project involved promoting 
ambassadors in seldom heard communities to 
improve awareness of our services.

The communications team were winners in  
five awards across the country for its work with 
staff engagement, internal communications and 
raising awareness of assaults against ambulance 
staff. The team were winners in the PR Moment 
Awards for staff engagement and runners up in 
the best event category; winners in the Chartered 
Institute of Public Relations Excellence Awards for 
internal communications; and winners in the CIPR 
Pride Awards for internal communications and 
best public sector campaign. 

The communications team were also finalists in 
the Institute of Internal Communications Awards 
in three categories and NHS communications 
initiative of the year in the Health Service Journal 
Awards, and highly commended by NHS Providers 
in the behaviour change and public health 
campaign for its work against assaults on staff. 
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Strategic Ambition 
Performance – Deliver Outstanding Performance, Every Time

HRH The Princess Royal visit to award 
Queen’s Medals and mark the 10th 
anniversaries of Hazardous Area Response 
Team (HART) and 111 services
In July 2021, we were honoured to welcome 
HRH The Princess Royal to NEAS. During her visit, 
HRH The Princess Royal presented the Ambulance 
Service (Emergency Duties) Long Service and 
Good Conduct Medal to 14 frontline ambulance 
staff who, between them, have more than 285 
years of frontline emergency service. HRH The 
Princess Royal also watched a live demonstration 
of the Hazardous Area Response Team’s response 
to a terrorist incident before meeting some of 
the ambulance staff based at Hebburn and 
witnessing first-hand the contribution made  
by some of the region’s 999 and 111 health 
advisors in keeping the region safe.

The visit of HRH The Princess Royal was 
undoubtedly one of the highlights of the year 
and a firm acknowledgment of the outstanding 
contribution made by our staff to the people of 
the region.

NEASUS
Our wholly-owned fleet management 
subsidiary company (NEASUS) continued to 
find opportunities for growth throughout 
2021/2022. In April 2021 they expanded to 
open a new fleet workshop in Blaydon which 
focuses on servicing trailers for SRL – the UK’s 
largest hire fleet company providing portable 
and temporary traffic lights and pedestrian 
signals. This expansion created an additional  
10 posts.

Intelligent Conveyancing 
The Trust worked with the northern Integrated 
Care Partnership to develop a process to move 
ambulances between hospitals to facilitate more 
efficient patient handovers and reduce handover 
delays. This was managed by NEAS who looked 
at the live data on current ambulances waiting 
to handover, ambulances on the way to hospital, 
as well as data on the status of the hospital 
Emergency Department and ambulances on scene 
with a patient who may require transportation to 
hospital. These parameters then enabled NEAS 
to re-route ambulances to another hospital to 
facilitate a quicker handover of the patient and 
allow the ambulance to be available to respond  
to its next incident. 

On one site alone the Trust experienced a 64% 
improvement in patients who had previously been 
waiting over an hour to handover, resulting in 
ambulances being available quicker and delivering 
a much improved patient experience. 
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Digital and Technology 
The Covid-19 pandemic forced the Trust to  
re-assess the way we use and rely on digital 
services. NEAS had already made significant 
progress towards agile working for the majority 
of non-operational staff, allowing rapid adoption 
to working from home after the onset of the 
pandemic. This in turn allowed us to reconfigure 
key areas of estate to ensure social distancing  
was in place for those staff who needed to 
remain on-site.

The introduction of key cloud services (Office365) 
prior to the onset of the pandemic allowed us 
to maintain the delivery of patient-facing and 
support services with little or no disruption.  
A number of additional developments have 
also been undertaken to support these ‘new’ 
ways of working which include:

• recording and reporting of related  
Covid-19 testing and vaccinations

• additional infrastructure to support  
remote working

• replacement of the telephony system  
and laptops

• scheduled care mobile data terminal 
replacements of all front-line electronic  
Patient Record devices (ePR)

• the introduction of lone worker safety devices 

• datawarehouse and reporting tools

Significant progress has also been made on 
national initiatives such as the replacement 
of the radio, mobile data and control room 
communications systems which is planned  
to be introduced during the coming year.

The more agile and remote ways of working 
alongside the increased threat levels associated 
with cyber security have resulted in additional 
security applications and software being 
introduced to help monitor, protect and  
maintain all our core services.

During 21/22, a new four-year digital plan 
was developed alongside the Trust strategy, 
taking into account the future digital needs and 
aspirations of the local and wider health systems 
we operate in. Whilst Covid-19 impacted on our 
ability to move forwards in the digital space as 
fast as we may have originally planned, we have 
taken the time to focus on ensuring we have 
introduced a robust and flexible basis to build 
upon as we emerge from the pandemic.

Call handling capacity in the Emergency 
Operations Centre
As part of our ongoing commitment to 
improve call handling response times within 
our Emergency Operations Centre, we have 
undertaken a significant recruitment campaign 
for health advisors. We will also be opening an 
additional EOC at Winter House, at Billingham 
Teesside in order to provide additional 
organisational resilience and employment 
opportunities for residents in this part of  
the region. 
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Strategic Ambition 
Quality – Safety, Compassionate and Inclusive Care

Quality and Performance Desk
A new Quality and Performance (Q&P) desk went 
live as a trial in the Emergency Operations Centre 
(EOC) in November 2021. The overarching aim of 
the desk is to:

• provide support to operational crews on scene

• provide support in handover to clear times

• identify welfare support for staff

• work alongside colleagues in dispatch  
to identify options for reducing late finishes  
for crews

• oversee the deployment of operational 
managers to hospitals

• provide clinical support to newly qualified 
paramedics

• reduce downtime

• improve communication with operational  
staff and EOC staff

As a result of the Quality and Performance desk we:

• met the 15-minute KPI handover to clear 
target every week

• reduced the average time spent on the daily 
deep clean from 41 minutes to 37 minutes 

• reduced the % of hours spent on daily deep 
clean, from 24% to 21%

The Quality and Performance desk has since been 
incorporated as part of the Operations directorate 
restructure but will continue to support our front-
line colleagues.
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Strategic Ambition 
Partner – collaborate and innovate with our partners

Community Paramedic Scheme
In February 2022, NEAS received the news that 
the much-loved Berwick community paramedic 
scheme received permanent funding. The scheme 
which has serviced the Berwick area since its 
launch in July 2019 has proven to be a major 
success and lifeline for the community.

The scheme involves a small team of paramedics 
who respond to calls in and around the Berwick 
area, in addition to offering additional support to 
the local NHS services. Since its launch there has 
been a significant reduction in response times, 
reducing category 1 waiting times from 12.43 
minutes to 06.02 minutes. In addition the team 
has prevented many unnecessary hospital transfers 
outside of the Berwick area by seeing and treating 
patients at home.

As well as responding to emergencies in the area, 
the team of paramedics works closely with local 
GPs supporting urgent home visits to patients, 
helping with the care plans for patients with long-
term medical conditions, and working with other 
healthcare staff such as the district nursing team. 
Following the successful funding of the scheme, 
the team will receive additional training to further 
support their work in the community, allowing 
them to respond to more jobs, further reduce 
the number of unnecessary hospital transfers 
and lighten the workload of local GP practices. 
By the end of their training, the team will be fully 
qualified first contact practitioners and will be 
able to conduct more work in the area to help 
provide the best patient experience and support 
their partners in the wider NHS system.

Two Hour Urgent Community Response 
(UCR)
Urgent community response is the collective name 
for services that improve the quality and capacity 
of care for people through delivery of urgent, crisis 
response care within two hours. Community crisis 
response teams provide urgent care to people 
in their homes which helps to avoid hospital 
admission and enables people to live independently 
for longer. Through these crisis response teams, 
older people and adults with complex health needs 
who urgently need care can obtain rapid access 
to a range of health and social care professionals 
within a set time frame (nominally two hours).  
Ambulance services can greatly benefit from 
working in partnership with UCR teams as they 
offer alternative pathways to patients and can 
mean the difference between an unnecessary 
journey to hospital and possible admission.

NEAS has been working with our partners across 
the integrated care system (ICS) to maxmize 
coverage of UCR services operating 8am-8pm. 
The Directory of Services (DOS) has been updated 
to enable referrals to these services and we are 
working with our partners to maximise these 
opportunities by enabling our clinicians to refer 
directly to the most appropriate service for our 
patient and their familes. 

Sedgefield Co-Location 
Building on their already successful partnership, 
NEAS joined forces with County Durham and 
Darlington Fire and Rescue to move into a state-
of-the art shared facility in Sedgefield, County  
Durham. The co-location of resources in this way 
leads to more effective integrated working with 
a key partner in the region and enables both 
the ambulance and fire service teams to provide 
greater continuity of care to service users within 
the community.
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NEAS forms an integral part of the health services across the 
North East and is an essential partner within the North East  
and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS). 

Our Partnerships

Our local partners include eight acute hospital 
trusts, two mental health trusts, 12 unitary 
authorities, police and fire services and many 
voluntary organisations. 

The ICS is currently supported by four Integrated 
Care Partnerships (ICPs) with NEAS covering all 
except North Cumbria. 
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NHS Provider chief executives across the North 
East have formed a provider collaborative.  
The provider collaborative has several aims, 
including ensuring all services are consistently of 
the highest quality, are sustainable, and deliver 
the best performance. Our Chief Executive is an 
essential member of the collaborative, and we 
will continue to support its aims as we move  
into 2022/23. 

NEAS is also an essential partner in the North  
East Urgent and Emergency Care Network 
(NEUECN).  The network comprises more than  
30 organisations from across the ICS with the aim 
of reducing unwarranted variation and improving 
the quality, safety, and equity of urgent and 
emergency care. 

Throughout 2021-2022, NEAS maintained 
a strong working relationship with our lead 
Commissioner, Northumberland Clinical 
Commissioning Group. In February 2022 we 
established the NEAS Strategic Transformation 
Board. Our aim is to enable visibility, co-ownership 
and accountability of strategic transformation 
opportunities and improvements delivered through 
partnership working. The Board will ensure 
that ambulance services have a voice within the 
wider North East North Cumbria ICS, recognising 
that any changes to NEAS will have wider 
consequences for the system and vice versa. 

Anchor institutions are typically large, non-
profit, public sector organisations whose 
long-term sustainability is tied to the wellbeing 
of the populations they serve. As an anchor 
institution within the North East economy, NEAS 
is committed to supporting economic and social 
regeneration across the region as well as the 
recovery from the impact of Covid-19. 

Outside of the North East, NEAS is a key member 
of the Northern Ambulance Alliance (NAA) 
which is a partnership of four Ambulance Trusts: 
North East Ambulance Service (NEAS), North 
West Ambulance Service (NWAS), East Midlands 
Ambulance Service (EMAS) and Yorkshire 
Ambulance Service (YAS). The NAA was formed 
by the participating trusts to work together, for 
the benefit of their populations to deliver the best 
possible outcomes for patients within available 
resources. The aim is to work collaboratively on 
strategic projects, delivering resilient, effective, 
quality services and sharing best practice. 

NEAS is also a member of the Association 
of Ambulance Chief Executives (AACE), an 
organisation which supports, co-ordinates and 
provides structure to the implementation of 
national work programmes and policy affecting 
ambulance services, with membership from all UK 
ambulance Trusts. Both NAA and AACE provide 
unique opportunities to share and spread best 
practice to improve patient services alongside 
support to individual members. They also provide 
a strong voice on behalf of the ambulance sector 
in influencing national policy. 

As part of the three main emergency services, 
NEAS works closely with Police and Fire and 
Rescue services, providing a vital role in the 
response to emergencies and serious incidents  
in the North East of England.
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The purpose of this overview is to provide 
a summary of the North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust, its purpose, 
the key risks to the achievement of the Trust’s 
objectives and how the Trust has performed 
during the year.

Performance Report
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I would like to begin this review of the year 
by acknowledging the incredible efforts of all 
our staff in successfully navigating the extreme 
challenges of Covid-19. Throughout the second 
year of the pandemic, our staff worked tirelessly 
to care for the people of the North East. 

Chief Executive’s Statement

The Board and executive team are both incredibly 
proud of and grateful for their efforts over the 
last two years. As a result of the commitment, 
hard-work and perseverance demonstrated by 
our staff, I am more convinced than ever that 
we are emerging from the pandemic stronger, 
and are ready to meet the challenges and 
opportunities ahead of us.

2021/22 stood out for me, as the year we began 
to recover and transform. When I wrote my 
previous Chief Executive statement, I could hardly 
imagine that one full year later, we would only 
be tentatively emerging from what has been 
the most significant challenge ever faced by our 
organisation and by the NHS as a whole. While 
the pandemic posed unprecedented challenges 
for us as an organisation and as individuals, I feel 
it is important that we also take stock of what we 
have learned and that we harness this learning 
for future growth and development.

Ongoing Impact of Covid-19
There is no doubt in my mind that as an 
organisation we are more flexible, agile and 
resilient than we were two years ago. By 
reorganising our ways of working, we were able 
to release capacity within the system which was 
then able to focus on patient care. We have 
continued to enhance our digital capability 
to support this agility and efficiency and our 
ways of working and physical spaces have 
permanently changed for the better. When the 
pandemic was as its most challenging, we were 
able to call on our army of volunteers and third-
party providers for support and I am incredibly 
grateful for their assistance.

Partnership working and the ICS
NEAS has continued to work closely with 
partners in the North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care System (ICS), in preparation for 
the new Health and Care Act 2022. NEAS is 
uniquely positioned at the interface of several 
key components of the ICS and is thus able to 
provide a helicopter view of the entire system. 
The NEAS Chair and I, along with other executive 
team members, will continue to collaborate with 
our colleagues across the system to ensure that 
the voice of the ambulance services is adequately 
represented in the most appropriate forum. 

Financial Investment
I am delighted to announce that our 
commissioners have recognised our request 
for additional investment in order to deliver 
the performance required for the people of 
the region. This has enabled us to significantly 
enhance our number of call handlers and expand 
our offering in the Teesside area through a  
third Emergency Operations Centre. We are 
committed to working closely with our system 
partners to ensure future investment meets 
requirements and will continue to develop our 
services, recognising that improved quality of 
care through improved timeliness of response is a 
must, in return for this additional investment.

Our Vision for the Future
We launched our new strategy in August 2021. 
The strategy sets out our vision for the future and 
the details are referenced elsewhere in this report. 
We are focused on embedding this strategy 
throughout NEAS with intensive work in progress.

Annual Report and Accounts | 2021/22
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Recovery of Performance
In addition to Covid-19, urgent and emergency 
care dominated the national headlines during  
the year. The Trust moved to REAP level 4 (the 
highest level of escalation) in July 2021 and 
remained at that level until January 2022.  
This level of sustained pressure had never been 
experienced before and the impact on our staff, 
cannot be under-estimated. Handover delays 
continue to challenge our performance and risk 
harm to our patients. We escalated this to the 
Board of Directors via the organisational risk 
register where we monitor and review this risk  
on a regular basis. However, ambulance handover 
delays are not a simple ambulance issue but  
are symptomatic of wider system pressures.  
At a system level, we are working closely with 
our colleagues in acute Trusts across the region 
to develop innovative solutions towards resolving 
this issue. Nationally, my colleagues in the 
Association of Ambulance Chief Executives  
will continue to highlight the patient safety  
risks posed by handover delays.

Taking Care of our People
Throughout 2021/22 we had some very honest 
conversations with our staff about what they 
need to perform well in their roles. Some of these 
issues are within our gift to resolve – others are 
wider systemic issues which will require time 
and innovative solutions. I am very aware of 
the extreme pressure that our staff have been 
under for the past two years and the impact 
that this has had on their well-being. However, 
our people are our most valuable resource and 
I am committed to doing everything I can to 
ensure that they are supported. This includes 
supporting them to report issues of corporate or 
clinical concern as part of our commitment to 
continuous learning. I would also like to take this 
opportunity to pay tribute to Paul Liversidge, who 
oversaw many significant developments at NEAS 
during his tenure as Chief Operating Officer over 
the last number of years and we wish him a long 
and happy retirement.

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Equality, diversity and inclusion remain 
fundamental to our culture, values and decision-
making. Our success depends on us recognising, 
understanding and respecting the diversity of all 
our colleagues and I look forward to reconnecting 
with our staff networks and our wider membership 
in person over the coming 12 months.

Look forward to 2022/23
The Health and Care Act 2022 will have a 
significant impact on the way we conduct our 
business going forward and consequently, 
we are committed to transformation in the 
truest sense of the word. New governance 
frameworks, decision-making models and 
accountability relationships will be developed and 
embedded. We must embark upon a significant 
transformation program so that we can be the 
most effective system partner. We know that 
in order to deliver this transformation we will 
need to embrace change. Some of this will 
not be easy and will require different ways of 
working. However, we are committed to doing 
this together and to embedding a #OneTeam 
approach that will collectively make us stronger.

I am optimistic that we will continue to recover 
and begin to transform. However, it is clear 
that recent global events, particularly the war in 
Ukraine, create further uncertainty and we need 
to remain vigilant as the impacts upon this for 
our organisation become clearer. Having said, 
that, we are committed to delivering strong 
performance, transforming NEAS and becoming 
the best performing Ambulance Service in the 
country. This means a commitment to excellent 
patient experience, seamless access and high-
quality care in the right place at the right time. 
This will be our focus for the year ahead.

Helen Ray
Chief Executive
16 June 2022
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The North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(the Trust or NEAS) was authorised as a Foundation Trust in 
November 2011 and we are one of ten ambulance services  
in England, covering an area of around 3,230 square miles. 

About the Trust 

As a Foundation Trust, we are accountable to 
our patients, community, and staff through what 
is known as membership which is available to 
anyone over the age of 16 years old. Membership 
ensures that we represent the views of all of our 
service users and enables us to deliver better 
patient care. There are no limits to how many 
members we can have as a Foundation Trust. 

Our public constituencies are as follows:

• North of Tyne: Newcastle upon Tyne, 
Northumberland and North Tyneside

• South of Tyne: Gateshead, South Tyneside 
and Sunderland

• Durham: County Durham and Darlington

• Teesside: Hartlepool, Stockton, Middlesbrough 
and Redcar & Cleveland

The Trust reviewed its vision, mission and values 
and published its five-year strategy in 2021. 

A copy of this can be found on the Trust’s 
website, www.neas.nhs.uk

2.71m  
People served

+3,000
Employees

+300
Volunteers
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We operate across Northumberland, Tyne and Wear,  
County Durham, Darlington and Teesside. 

Our Purpose and Activities

We provide an unscheduled care service to 
respond to 999 calls (the emergency element  
of our services), and a scheduled care service 
which provides pre-planned, non-emergency 
transport for patients in the region (our patient 
transport service). 

We have delivered the NHS111 service across 
the region since 2013. The service operates 24 
hours a day, seven days a week, helping patients 
who need medical help fast but do not need to 
call 999. The NHS111 service also incorporates 
our Clinical Assessment Service (CAS), bringing 
together a range of clinicians with differing 
specialities such as advanced practitioners, GPs 
and pharmacists to help patients receive the most 
appropriate care for their needs. We have been 
able to demonstrate how this service can run 
alongside the 999 service to provide a seamless 
access point for patients. These services are 
supported by our operations centres based in 
Newburn, Hebburn and Teeside, who manage 
more than 1.5 million calls per year. 

We also deliver specialist response services 
through our Hazardous Area Response Team 
(HART). HART units are made up of specially 
trained paramedics who deal with major 
incidents. Our HART team are highly trained to 
operate in the hot-zone of challenging incidents, 
including chemical incidents, terrorist attacks, 
major collisions, water operations, difficult 
extrications and many more. 

In addition to our front-line services, the Trust 
operates a wholly-owned subsidiary company. 
North East Ambulance Service Unified Solutions 
(NEASUS), is contracted by the Trust to maintain, 
fit, service, clean and repair Trust vehicles. 
NEASUS provided the Trust with significant 
support during the year in respect of enhanced 
cleaning of our vehicles, helping to maintain a 
safe and responsive service for our patients.

Annual Report and Accounts | 2021/22
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In August 2021 we launched our new five-year 
strategy. Our strategy sets a clear direction for 
the organisation as we begin to emerge from 
the Covid pandemic, recovering our people and 
our performance, and re-setting and improving 
our ways of working. As previously mentioned, 
the strategy is built around four key ambitions 
(people, partner, performance, quality and safety) 
and supported by nine underpinning plans (the 
“NEAS 9”). The NEAS 9 plans contain the detail 
of how our teams will deliver our strategy.

During 2022/23 our agreed ‘golden threads’ 
that run throughout our organisational priorities 
are as follows:
1. Support and develop our workforce
2. Define and implement a devolved leadership 

model
3. Work with our Commissioner to ensure  

that we mobilise investment efficiently  
and effectively to achieve the best possible 
patient outcomes

4. Build a robust business case for recurrent 
investment into NEAS

5. Review and improve key aspects of our clinical 
and operating model

6. Review and improve existing practices to 
ensure that they are as efficient and as 
effective as possible

Each of these priorities will run through our  
NEAS 9 plans.

Our
people

Planning  
&  

finance
Green & estates

NEASUS & 
commercial 

growth

Quality  
& safety

Quality 
improvement & 
transformation

Digital Clinical model

Operations & 
performance
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Principal Risks to 
Delivery of our Strategy
The key risks to the achievement of the Trust objectives 
are detailed within this report as part of the Annual 
Governance Statement.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2021/22 and Department of Health Group 
Accounting Manual 2021/22.

Going Concern Disclosure

After making enquiries, the directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the services provided 
by the NHS Foundation Trust will continue to be 
provided by the public sector for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, the directors have 
adopted the going concern basis in preparing 
the accounts, following the definition of going 
concern in the public sector adopted by HM 
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual.

Annual Report and Accounts | 2021/22
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Performance Analysis

Key Performance Measures 
NHS Foundation Trusts are required to report 
performance against a core set of indicators  
using data available through NHS Digital. Trusts 
are required to report only on the indicators 
 that are relevant to the services they provide  
or subcontract. For ambulance services these 
include the speed of response, performance,  
and clinical indicators.

The last 24 months have arguably been the most 
challenging for NEAS. This financial year has 
continued to be dominated by efforts to respond 
to the pandemic. 

We have continued to deliver our 999-emergency 
and 111 services in a strategically co-ordinated 
approach to meet the needs of our patients 
across the region to ensure that the sickest 
patients received the fastest response, patients 
get the response they need first time, and in a 
timeframe that is appropriate for their condition. 

During 2021/2022 NEAS answered 1,440,429 
calls, compared to 1,481,546 calls in 2020/2021, 
a decrease of 2.7%.
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During 2021/2022 NEAS answered 1,440,429 calls, compared to 1,481,546 calls in 2020/2021, 
a decrease of 2.7%.

Ambulance Response Program 
The Ambulance Response Program (ARP) was 
introduced in 2017 as a means of categorising 
calls to ensure that patients receive the clinical 
response that is most appropriate to their needs. 
Table 1 below explains the various categories and 
the target response times:

Table 1: NEAS performance against ARP National Standards 

Category Description
Average 
response 

target
NEAS

90th 
percentile 
response 

target

NEAS

1.
Life 
threatening

A time critical life-threatening event 
requiring immediate intervention or 
resuscitation.

7 minutes 00:07:15 15 minutes 00:12:46

2.
Emergency

Potentially serious conditions that may 
require rapid assessment and urgent on-
scene intervention and/or urgent transport.

18 minutes 00:36:48 40 minutes 01:17:26

3.
Urgent

An urgent problem (not immediately 
life threatening) that needs treatment 
to relieve suffering and transport or 
assessment and management at the scene 
with referral where needed within  
a clinically appropriate timeframe.

None N/A 2 hours 04:51:21

4.
Less urgent

An urgent problem (not immediately 
life threatening) that needs treatment 
to relieve suffering and transport or 
assessment and management at the scene 
with referral where needed within  
a clinically appropriate timeframe.

None N/A 3 hours 03:37:56

Although falling short of the targets, NEAS 
continues to be one of the best performing Trusts 
nationally for responding to those patients who 
are most seriously ill (category 1 response).

A key aspect of our investment will be focussed 
on recovery of these standards

Operational Performance
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Significant levels of additional resources were 
deployed through 2021/2022 through our 
third-party providers, to meet patient demand. 
Additional pressure on resources from infection, 
prevention and control requirements, including 
daily deep cleaning of vehicles, impacted resource 
availability through increased downtime. Staffing 
resources were also stretched through increased 
sickness levels as a result of the Omicron variant, 
as well as the impact of shielding, staff self-
isolating and increased handover delays. 

The impact of this has been that response 
standards have remained challenging as we 
continued to prioritise C1 life-threatening 
incidents.

The overall number of 999 calls answered 
increased by 18% compared to the previous 
year, but the success in improving hear and treat 
rates resulted in ambulance incidents reducing 
by 1.4% helping to mitigate the impact of the 
pandemic and effectively meet patient needs. 

Table 2: Detailed NEAS Performance Against ARP Standards

Measure Target 2021/22 2020/21

C1 Mean 00:07:00 00:07:15 00:06:26

C1 90th Percentile 00:15:00 00:12:46 00:11:01

C2 Mean 00:18:00 00:36:48 00:25:38

C2 90th Percentile 00:40:00 01:17:26 00:53:27

C3 90th Percentile 02:00:00 04:51:21 02:54:57

C4 90th Percentile 03:00:00 03:37:56 02:36:59

Hear & Treat N/A 11.03% 8.02%

See & Treat N/A 26.44% 29.78%

See & Convey to A&E N/A 52.96% 53.66%

See & Convey to Non-A&E N/A 9.53% 8.54%

See & Convey N/A 62.50% 62.20%
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Additional agency, health advisor and clinical 
resource was deployed throughout the year 
to manage the additional demand. Increased 
absence due to Covid significantly impacted 
the capacity of the service, and in particular, 
the availability of health advisors. In order 
to provide additional resilience for our call 
handling capability across the North East, we 
undertook a significant recruitment campaign 
for health advisors and began planning for the 

existing base at Wynyard as a third Emergency 
Operations Centre, complementing the bases 
in Newcastle and Hebburn. Other initiatives 
included an overtime incentive scheme, quality and 
performance desk which delivered improvements 
in handover to clear, surge action plans revised and 
delivered through winter and additional dispatch 
clinicians to focus on ambulance validation.

Scheduled Care

There are no national targets against which our 
scheduled care service is measured, however we 
do set a number of local quality indicators, such 
as time on vehicle (with the aim for this to be less 
than 60 minutes in 90% of cases), timeliness of 
arrival at treatment centre and timeliness of pick-
up following treatment (85% to be picked up 
within 60 minutes). 

Our scheduled care service continued to perform 
well during the year and in addition to their 
scheduled care work, our teams provided 
significant assistance across the health system 
in the region to support same day discharges to 
maintain patient flow during extremely pressured 
times. Performance levels were maintained while 
activity continued to increase over the year, as 
hospitals worked to recover pre-pandemic levels 
and support elective recovery.

Table 3: Scheduled Care Performance 
Measures 

Performance Measures 2020/2021 2021/2022

On time arrival 83% 83%

Collection within 60 minutes 90% 84.9%

Time on Vehicle <60 minutes 94% 93.4%
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Emergency Operations Centre

We monitor a number of different national 
and local metrics in respect of our Emergency 
Operations Centre. These metrics include 111 call 
answer performance, timeliness of 111 clinician 
call-backs and the percentage of 111 calls 
receiving a revalidation from a clinician, which 
are within an agreed set of measures we report 
to our commissioners. Initiatives have included 
bolstering clinical capacity through additional sub-
contracts to manage demand, rolling out remote 
working kits and video consultation.

Our NHS111 service continued to experience 
significant pressure throughout the year with 
increased call and 111 online demand as a 
result of the pandemic. Capacity has been 
challenging throughout the year, with increased 
absence rates and supporting the higher acuity 
calls on 999 during periods of pressure. We 
have continued to support the system through 
improving our emergency department validation 
rates and helping to signpost patients to the most 
appropriate service.

Table 4: 111 Performance

Measure Target 2021/22 2020/21

111 Calls abandoned ≤3% 39.12% 13.42%

111 Calls average call answer 
≤20 

seconds
00:16:51 00:03:04

111 Clinician call backs (KPI 5a - within 20 minutes) ≥90% 40.58% 44.10%

111 C3/C4 revalidations >50% 21.70% 28.58%

111 ED revalidations >50% 26.51% 18.17%

111 Clinical Input >50% 34.89% 31.24%
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Monitoring Performance

In addition to the Ambulance Response 
Programme performance standards referred to 
above, NEAS also monitors performance on a 
daily, weekly and monthly basis against a series of 
measures which have a direct or indirect impact 
on overall frontline performance. Our Trust Board 
receives an update on all relevant measures via 
an Integrated Quality Performance Report (IQPR). 
Monitoring performance against national and 
local metrics is of paramount importance, and we 
do this in a number of ways:

• The Performance team analyses trends and 
trajectories for performance and liaises with 
all departments in the Trust to triangulate 
performance and proactively challenge and 
support

• Clinical care managers and clinical operations 
managers review performance and staffing 
plans on a daily basis

• Within Emergency Operations Centre 
the dispatch and duty managers review 
performance on a daily basis

• The Deputy Chief Operating Officer holds 
weekly performance review meetings with the 
senior team

• The Chief Operating Officer chairs a monthly 
performance group

• The Executive Management Group (which 
includes all executive directors and the senior 
management team) receives performance 
updates at each meeting

• The Performance and Finance Committee 
provides enhanced scrutiny and assurance over 
performance at the Board committee level

• Our performance is also subject to regular 
scrutiny from key stakeholders, including our 
Council of Governors, regulators, Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees and Healthwatch.

National guidance states that patients arriving at 
an emergency department by ambulance must 
be handed over to the care of A&E staff within 
15 minutes. Throughout 2021/2022, hospital 
handover delays continued to impact our ability 
to provide a timely reponse to emergency calls.

Table 5: Handover time lost

2020-2021 2021-2022

11,974 hours 24,892 hours

Handover delays are a systemic issue, and we 
continue to work with our acute and social care 
partners within the system towards a long-term 
sustainable solution.

Reports providing updates and detailing the 
impact of handover delays and actions taken 
have been submitted throughout 2021/2022 to 
the Trust public Board meetings. In addition, our 
executive team continue to use their influence 
to draw attention to this issue at regional and 
national levels. 

Hospital Handover Delays
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Financial Performance 

It has been another challenging year for the Trust as the effects of 
the pandemic continued throughout the year. However, the Trust 
demonstrated a strong financial performance ending the year with  
a £2.9m surplus on a NHSIE Control Total basis.  

Income and Expenditure    
The Government’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic meant that for NHS organisations 
a new, temporary financial framework was 
implemented from April 2020. This meant that 
our income was based on need rather than 
delivery of performance. 

Our operating income for the year was £185 
million. The majority of our income comes from 
the provision of our Emergency Care and Patient 
Transport Services as well call handling for 999 
and 111 through our main contracts which we 
have in place with the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) in our geographical area. 

Additional income from our commercial services 
team via the provision of a range of services 
including training and the sale of equipment, 
and from our subsidiary company providing fleet 
maintenance to the public and private sectors 
was significantly reduced during the pandemic.  
However, we did receive some income through 
an NHS lost income payment to supplement this 
at the year end.

Operating expenses totalled £182m this year.   
Our top three areas of expenditure were pay, 
third party service provision and transport costs. 
These running costs continue to be tightly 
controlled but we have seen significant pressures 
in all three of these areas.

The growth in expenditure in these areas is mostly  
as a direct result of the pandemic response by  
the service.

Conversely we have seen expenditure reductions  
in the areas of clinical supplies and services,  
and general supplies.

The Balance Sheet
The Trust ended the year with a strong balance 
sheet. Fixed assets totalled £47.9m and our end 
of year cash balance was £39m.
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Capital Expenditure
This year the Group was issued a Capital 
Department Expenditure Limit (CDEL) of £7.695m 
and received additional allocations totalling 
£0.431m. The final capital charge against CDEL 
for the year was £6.479m – taking into account 
grants and disposals. Expenditure for the year 
was £1.647m below plan. 

The largest proportion of this investment, £4.1m, 
was spent on vehicles including Emergency 
Ambulance chassis, Advanced Practitioner cars 
and Rapid Response Vehicle  conversions, patient 
transport service conversions and the associated 
equipment for these vehicles.  This was followed 
with estates works including a new site for our 
Specialist Operations Response Team (SORT) 
finance lease of £.95m and £0.25m in invest  
to save initiatives.      

Subsidiaries
The Trust owns one subsidiary company,  
North East Ambulance Service Unified Solutions 
Ltd which provides fleet provision and 
maintenance services to the Trust and private 
sector. Trust directors who sit on the Board of 
NEASUS are not remunerated for this role.

Summary
It has been another successful year for the 
Group in terms of financial performance in that 
it has met its financial targets. Looking ahead to 
2022/23, we believe we are well placed to face 
the future with funding and procedures in place 
to implement quality and service developments 
that have been on hold during the pandemic.

The Trust has a healthy balance sheet and a track 
record of transformation to respond to future 
challenges. The Board of Directors is confident 
of maintaining sound financial management and 
provision of a services and that the accounts can 
continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.
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Risk Profile 

The Annual Governance Statement provides the details of the 
organisational risks faced by the Trust alongside an overview  
of the Trusts risk management framework. 

A high-level summary of risks is provided. 
They fall into the main categories of financial, 
performance, quality and safety, featuring  
both internal and external facing risks.  
Each organisational risk is owned by an Executive 
Director and includes existing risk controls and 
associated actions to further mitigate the risk 
with the aim to achieve a target risk score.  
These control measures are detailed with the 
Annual Governance Statement. 

During 2021/2022 the Trust has continued to 
face challenges related with the COVID-19 
pandemic and the longer-term impact on 
the health and social care system and the 
communities we serve. 2021/2022 has witnessed 
the risks associated with COVID-19 morphing 
into the longer-term management and recovery 
of our performance whilst protecting our people. 
Some of these risks are internally facing whilst 
others are related to the wider system and 
dynamic nature of global events. This was evident 
as the 2021/2022 financial year was drawing to 
an end when the globe was faced with new risks 
created by the shocking events in Ukraine. These 
events have created new risks and affected the 
likelihood and impact of existing risks such as that 
posed by cyber-attack and the financial pressures 
associated with energy and fuel rising costs. 
Furthermore, the ongoing pressures on the health 
and social care system, in conjunction with other 
external pressures are having an impact on our 
staff and resources.

During the challenges and pressures faced during 
2021/2022, the Trust continued to strive towards 
innovation and service developments. Throughout 
the period the Trust worked with partners to 
adapt and respond to the demands of our service 
users and communities. This can be evidenced via 
the changes and delivery of priorities during the 
previous 12 months, even against the backdrop 
of COVID-19 and other pressures. 

In looking forward, the Trust’s five-year  
strategy “Our Vision for the Future 2021-2026” 
builds upon the foundations created during 
2021/2022. The strategy is built upon four 
strategic ambitions with patients at the centre, 
creating the framework for everything we do. 
These include people, performance, partner 
and quality and the details are contained within 
the strategy, vision, mission and values section  
of this annual report. 

During the development of the Trust’s  
Strategy the Board of Directors considered  
how existing and new risks could affect the 
delivery of plans and performance in future years. 
This undertaking was based upon intelligence 
and information sharing with internal and 
external partners using the Trust’s internal  
risk and governance framework.
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Environmental and  
Sustainability Matters
Climate change is viewed as one of the most serious threats to 
the health and wellbeing of people worldwide, with the effects 
likely to impact those who are most vulnerable.

It is therefore vital that action is taken at all levels 
to implement effective strategies that not only 
reduce carbon emissions, but also apply the 
broader principles of sustainable development. 

Through publication of our Green Plan, NEAS has 
shown a commitment to tackling the issues of 
environmental sustainability through long term 
strategic planning and objective setting. The 
holistic sustainable development model outlined 
in the plan highlights our targets for the next 
five years in order to meet the NHS requirement 
of Net Zero by 2040, and our aspirations to be a 
leader of sustainability in the ambulance sector. 
We have also committed to supporting the 
regional North East & North Cumbria (NENC) ICS 
Green Plan.

These ambitious targets continue the progress 
made to date through investment in over 150 
‘Invest energy reduction projects’ which have 
taken place across our estate since 2012/13. 
These have contributed to > 60% reduction in 
carbon from our gas and electricity usage since 
2012/13, and a cumulative financial saving 
of over £400k. During 2021/22 we delivered 
several projects that have contributed to these 
savings including a new 33kWp solar panel array 
at our Dukesway station - with an expected 
generation of more than 27,000 kW per year 
- as well as six additional renewable air source 
heat pumps including the largest installation to 
date, at Redcar Ambulance Station. The Trust’s 
recent decision to purchase 100% renewable 
electricity across a number of our sites supports 
these efforts. Further projects to meet our green 
plan objectives include biodiversity action with 
a wildflower trial across four of our sites and 
collaboration with North East Community Forest 
(NECF) to provide improved green space, which 
will benefit both nature and our staff.

We are aware of the UK Government’s impending 
ban on new diesel and petrol vehicle purchases 
from 2030. In response, we are working on 
moving away from fossil fuel-based vehicles 
which currently make up 75% of our total trust 
emissions. Our net zero transport roadmap will 
inform this work. The roadmap is currently in 
development and details how we will increase 
the number of alternatively fuelled vehicles within 
our fleet, initially for our support services but 
working towards front-line use. The roadmap 
will include the installation of the necessary EV 
infrastructure and site electrical load surveys 
were completed estate wide in 2021/22. We are 
also an active member on the NENC Integrated 
Care System Sustainability Group and lead the 
travel and transport workstream with a view to 
implementing a joined-up approach to charging 
across the region. NEAS along with other 
ambulance trusts and manufacturers will be 
trialling the first front-line electric double-crewed 
ambulance in the coming year.

The overall carbon savings from the projects 
implemented have been outstanding, with over 
1,400 tonnes saved since 2012/13. We will 
continue to roll out decarbonisation projects 
across the estate including an additional four 
air source heat pump installations planned for 
2022/23, and further biodiversity improvements, 
as well as feasibility studies to enable us to 
achieve a ‘Net Zero’ ambulance station. 
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The NHS needs to plan for, and respond to, a wide range of 
incidents and emergencies that could affect health or patient care. 

Under the Civil Contingencies Act (2004), NHS 
organisations and providers of NHS funded care 
must show that they can effectively respond to 
emergencies and business continuity incidents 
while maintaining services to patients. The NHS 
England Core Standards for the Emergency 
Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) are 
the minimum standards which NHS organisations 
and providers of NHS funded care must meet. 

The purpose of these standards are to:

• enable health agencies across the country to 
share a common approach to EPRR;

• allow coordination of EPRR activities according 
to the organisations size and scope;

• provide a consistent and cohesive framework 
for EPRR activities; and

• inform the organisation’s annual EPRR work 
programme

 
The standards are reviewed and updated as 
lessons are identified from testing, national 
legislation and guidance changes and/or as 
part of the rolling NHS England governance 
programme.
 
As part of the national EPRR assurance process, 
NEAS is required to assess itself against these core 
standards. In addition, the National Ambulance 
Resilience Unit has developed an audit tool for 
our national interoperable capabilities which 
covers the following key areas:

• Command & Control

• Hazardous Area Response Team (HART)

• Marauding Terrorist Attack Response (MTA)

• Chemical Biological Radiological Nuclear 
Response (CBRN)

• Mass Casualty Response

• Joint Emergency Services Interoperability 
Principles (JESIP)

The audit reviewed 54 Key Lines of Enquiry 
(KLOEs) which encompass the Interoperability Core 
Standards as well as the CQC HART and EPRR 
framework. NEAS were inspected in January 2022, 
and the outcome highlighted 26 KLOEs in which 
further development was required in order to 
meet the standards. This has resulted in a revised 
compliance rating for 2021/2022 as below;

Table 6: NARU Audit Compliance Rating

Area Compliance Rate 
(Year-end 2021/22)

EPRR Core Standards 94%

HART 91%

MTA 96%

CBRN 53%

Mass Casualty 100%

Command & Control 67%

JESIP 100%

The areas within the EPRR Core Standards and 
Interoperable Standards which NEAS are partially 
or non-compliant are subject to ongoing action 
plans and progress monitored by the EPRR 
Governance Group.

In addition, this year the Trust is working towards 
compliance with the Enhanced Special Operations 
Response Team standards, which require 290 
operational staff to be trained to respond to 
MTA and CBRN incidents by 1 September 2022. 
So far progress has been interrupted due to the 
pandemic, although NEAS is still on course to 
fulfil the requirement within the timescale.

 
Emergency Preparedness,  
Resilience and Response
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Social, Community,  
Anti-bribery and  
Human Rights Issues

The Trust’s approach to diversity and inclusion is  
managed through the Equality Diversity and Inclusion plan  
– “One Service For All”. 

This is supported though the Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion Code of Practice and additional 
policies, guidance documents and procedures. 

This year we have reviewed our dyslexia guidance, 
interpreting and British sign language support 
guidance, developed support for disabled staff 
through our disability and carers passport and 
updated our Equality Analysis Assessment policy. 

We have an Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption 
Policy in place with regular updates on activity 
and investigations provided to the Audit 
Committee. This policy was most recently 
reviewed and approved in October 2020. 

The Trust’s Standards of Business Conduct  
Policy also includes references to bribery.  
The Local Counter Fraud Specialist ensures  
that fraud awareness training is delivered  
as part of the Trust’s statutory and mandatory 
training requirements. 

There is a Board-approved Modern Slavery 
Act Statement which demonstrates the Trust’s 
commitment to and efforts in, preventing slavery 
and human trafficking practices in the supply 
chain and employment practices. This is available 
on the Trust website at www.neas.nhs.uk/about-
us/modern-slavery-statement
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Equality reporting 

We are committed to advancing equality, 
promoting social inclusion and ensuring our 
workforce is diverse and inclusive and can meet 
the needs of our patients and communities. 

We recognise our responsibility to provide equal 
opportunities, eliminate discrimination and foster 
good relations in our activities as an employer, 
service provider and partner and we work with 
organisations across the sector, region and nation 
to meet these requirements. 

We take a broad approach to equality, diversity 
and inclusion - we consider this to be part of 
the day job and an essential part of providing 
excellent services and patient care.

Each year the Trust develops a separate annual 
equality report. The Trust meets all its legal, 
mandated and statutory requirements in relation 
to equality, diversity, inclusion and human rights. 
Our annual report is available on the Trust website 
www.neas.nhs.uk.

Our Equality Frameworks 

We continue to use the NHS EDS2 framework 
alongside the Employers Network for Equality 
and Inclusion (ENEI) framework to drive our 
improvement work around diversity and inclusion. 

We have worked with staff and stakeholders to 
assess and grade our performance against the 
national Equality Delivery System 2 guidance.  
The 2021/22 grading assessments indicated that 
the Trust is excelling in four objectives, achieving 
in fourteen objectives, an improvement on last 
year. Due to the pandemic, we delayed our 
internal staff review and undertook a desktop 
review of staff focused objectives in 2021.  
We will undertake a full review with staff in  
2022 on the new EDS3 framework. 

We supplement our work and benchmark with 
others using the Employers Network for Equality 
and Inclusion (ENEI) framework. We undertake an 
assessment with a range of private and public sector 
organisations each year.  In June 2021 we were 
one of only fourteen organisations nationally to 
attain the gold standard against their assessment. 
In addition, we were highly commended in their 
awards for the Innovative Approach to Diversity 
category and we were also highly commended in 
the national BAME Health and Care awards for 
Community initiative of the Year. 

We are also recognised and assessed as a 
Disability Confident Scheme leader organisation 
and in 2021 we were assessed as Dyslexia Smart 
by the national British Dyslexia Association. 

We continue to meet our requirements under 
the Workforce Race and Disability Equality 
Standards (WRES and WDES) and gender pay 
audit requirements. Actions to help us to improve 
our response to these requirements are contained 
in our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Plan 2020-
2024 and the accompanying action plan. 
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The Importance  
of Positive Action 

Our Positive Action Officer project has been 
working with people from ethnic minority 
communities since March 2021 to raise 
awareness of our services, CPR and defibrillators, 
train people in basic first aid, raise awareness 
of employment opportunities and attract and 
recruit new community volunteers through our 
community ambassador programme.

In 2021/22 we:  

• engaged 929 people in awareness  
raising sessions

• trained 788 people in basic first aid

• recruited 83 people as community 
ambassadors

• delivered employment workshops  
to 138 people

• supported one organisation to fit defibrillators  
in ethnic minority communities

As the project develops, we will also appoint 
community ambassadors to help us to reach 
out into communities, build and maintain 
relationships and pass key messages throughout 
the region. We have secured funding for another 
two years and aim to build on the success of the 
project and look to expand its remit. 
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Making Services Accessible  
To Our Patients 

We continue to make good progress towards 
ensuring our services are accessible to patients 
with a wide range of communication needs.  
We provide: 

• a range of communication mechanisms to 
contact our services including British Sign 
Language relay, text relay and telephone

• guidance on how to access a range of 
communication support providers for 
employees to access

• advice and guidance to all staff on meeting 
the specific communication needs of patients 
through statutory and mandatory training, 
factsheets and living library lunch and learn 
sessions

• the ‘ReciteMe’ accessibility tool on our website 
giving users access to a range of accessibility 
features for disabled people and people whose 
first language is not English

• the Communications Support Guide to assist 
staff to triage and communicate with people 
with a variety of communication needs

• a learning disability, British Sign Language  
and learning zone part of our website  
www.neas.nhs.uk providing bespoke 
communication resources to diverse groups  
of people with communication needs.

We continue to work with commissioners, 
regional and national partners and NHS England 
and Improvement to explore how we can  
meet the Accessible Information Standard.  
We provide information in a range of formats  
on request and a standard strapline on our 
external communications. 

In addition, we provide a range of literature 
in easy read format for people with learning 
disabilities and we can provide information in 
large print, Braille, audio and other formats on 
request. Our website is compatible with national 
W3C accessibility features to ensure people with 
a range of different needs are able to access 
information contained on our website.

2021/2022 continued to pose challenges in terms 
of engaging with our communities in person. 
However, following a successful funding bid we 
improved our online engagement offer and are 
launching a combined online and face to face 
engagement campaign from April 2022.

We have redesigned our patient information 
pages on our website. These contain videos 
and information on our range of services and 
how to access them, an ambulance 360 Tour, 
responses to twenty common questions asked 
to paramedics, developed following user 
involvement. We have also developed bespoke 
content for young people, deaf and hearing-
impaired people and people living with learning 
disabilities and other communication needs.

In addition, a number of learning resources, 
games and interactive quizzes have been 
developed to help embed learning and 
knowledge linked to national curriculum 
requirements to support schools and community 
organisations to marry their learning requirements 
with our key messages.
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Our corporate videos were launched in November 
2021 and as of 31 March 2022 our service videos 
have been viewed 22,743 times. 5,450 of these 
views related to our British Sign Language video 
content. The top 5 most viewed resources are:

Table 7: Most viewed resources

Title Views

What happens when you call 999 10849

When to use 999 2686

Patient transport services 2160

Ambulance response times 2133

Using a defibrillator 1223

Other key viewing statistics are as follows:

• Ambulance 360 Tour – 1,219 views 

• ‘Ask a Paramedic’ questions – 1,089 views  

• Our YouTube channel visits have increased 
from 2,000 to 20,800 and subscribers have 
increased since we transferred content over  
in February 2022.

Our engagement web pages:

• Patient information – 7297 visits

• Your views – 2549 visits

• Learning Disability Zone – 942 visits 

• Learning Zone – 1173 visits

We have developed social media 
communications plans and assets for each 
resource to help to promote and raise 
awareness of the resources. Feedback from our 
communities and stakeholders has been strong. 
Dr Jen Rhodes, Consultant Clinical Psychologist 
at Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear 
NHS Foundation Trust said “feedback has been 
very positive, participants have clearly gained 
insights into your service and how you have 
worked to adapt to the needs of the people  
you come into contact with”.  

We have maintained contact with HealthWatch 
groups and stakeholders throughout the 
pandemic via the regional Ambulance 
HealthWatch Forum and the Stakeholder Equality 
forum and other channels to ensure services are 
appropriate and gather feedback throughout 
the year. Community stakeholders have also 
been involved in the review of our three Equality 
Delivery System objectives, our move to provide 
more engagement online and discussions about 
access to services. 
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Patient survey data 

We are in the second year of delivering our 
revised patient survey system. This allows 
us to analyse data more comprehensively 
by protected characteristics and locality and 
supports us to better understand free text data 
and sentiment. Survey responses continue to 
be much higher compared with the previous 
system even during a national pandemic. 

In 2021/22 we collected over 10,000 responses 
from patients, more than any other year, thanks 
to our new survey system and methodology. 
In respect of Scheduled Care, 95.3% of those 
surveyed rated the service as good or very good, 
the same as last year. Responses increased by 
824 compared to the previous year. Satisfaction 
levels are high for most indicators, with 12 of the 
14 indicators rated very good or good between 
92.9% and 98.6%. Two indicators scored lower 
than 90% - these were ease of getting through 
on the phone (87.6%) and the comfort of the 
ambulance (88.3%).
 
With regard to NHS 111, 77.2% of patients 
surveyed rated the service as good or very good, 
10.9% lower than the previous year. Responses 
decreased by 430 compared to the previous year.  
Satisfaction levels across all 15 indicators are 
lower than the previous year. Positive ‘strongly 
agree or agree’ scores are between 73.3% - 
92.5% compared with 81.9% - 97.2% the 
previous year. Two indicators scored over 90% 
the same as the previous year, six indicators 
(thirteen in 2021) scored between 80% to 89%, 
and seven indicators (none in 2021) scored 
between 70 to 79%.

 With regard to Unscheduled Care, See and 
Convey, 91.1% rated the service as good or very 
good, which was 3.5% less than the previous 
year. Response rates remained good but dropped 
by 1,282 compared to the previous year. Year on 
year satisfaction rates are fairly consistent, with 
13 out of the 14 indicators remaining within 
a 2% tolerance compared to 2020/21. One 
indicator decreased by more than 2% compared 
to 2020/21, ease to get through on the phone 
87.6% (-2.3%)
 
With regard to Unscheduled Care (See and Treat 
on Scene), 97.1% rated the service as good or 
very good which was 1.4% less than the previous 
year. Response rates decreased by 359 to 554 
responses and responses visibly dropped during 
periods of high pressure.

The 2021/22 annual survey report shows slightly 
lower satisfaction levels from Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) people and Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) people. The 
proportion of responses in most cases were lower 
than the community profiles but we are exploring 
themes through our positive action officers and 
educating communities about our services and the 
support available to assist people to use them.

Helen Ray
Chief Executive
21 June 2022
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95.3%
Rated the service 

good or very good  

45



Accountability Report

The accountability report of the annual report 
comprises the following: 

• Directors’ report 

• Remuneration report 

• Staff report 

• Disclosures set out in the NHS FT  
Code of Governance 

• NHS System Oversight Framework 

• Statement of accounting officer’s 
responsibilities  

• Annual governance statement. 
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As detailed in the NEAS Constitution, the 
general duty of the Board of Directors and of 
each director individually, is to act with a view 
to promoting the success of the Trust so as to 
maximise the benefits for the members of the 
Trust as a whole and for the public. In addition, 
the Board is responsible for formulating and 
driving strategy, ensuring accountability and 
shaping culture, taking into consideration the 
views of the Council of Governors.

Board of Directors
A detailed Schedule of Reservation and 
Delegation of Powers is in place which explicitly 
sets out those decisions which are reserved for 
the Board, those that may be determined by 
committees of the Board, and those that are 
delegated to managers. Decision-making for  
the operational running of the Trust is delegated 
to the Chief Executive and the executive team. 
The Board gains assurance through its committee 
structure and sources of other assurance and it 
meets formally throughout the year to discharge 
its duties and receive those assurances.

Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, 
the Board of Directors met 16 times, 5 in 
public and 11 in private. In compliance with 
the requirements of the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, the Board holds part of its meetings 
in public, which precedes the private business 
section. Due to social distancing requirements 
mandated by the pandemic response, the 
majority of meetings were held virtually. 

All directors adhere to the Trust’s Standards  
of Business Conduct policy and the core  
principles underpinning Board responsibilities  
and behaviours, including the Fit and Proper 
Person requirements of the Trust’s CQC 
registration and NHS Provider Licence. 

Appointment and removal of directors is 
completed in accordance with the NHS Act 2006. 
All Board appointments are made in accordance 
with the fit and proper persons regulations. The 
Council of Governors has the power to terminate 
the appointments of the Chairman and other 
Non-Executive Directors, subject to the approval 
of 75% of the membership. 

Board Composition
The Board of Directors has a range of skills  
and experience gained from the public, private 
and voluntary sectors that complement all  
areas of our business including clinical expertise, 
senior experience within other NHS bodies  
and emergency services, legal services, logistics, 
finance, human resource management and 
operational management. This range of 
skills ensures balance, completeness and 
appropriateness of membership of the Board 
of Directors. Board member biographies are 
available on our website.  

There were a number of changes to the 
composition of the Board in 2021/2022. 
Non-Executive Directors Carolyn Peacock and 
Catherine Young retired from the Board following 
the completion of their terms. Carolyn was Chair 
of the People and Development Committee and 
the Non-Executive Freedom to Speak Up lead, 
while Catherine chaired the Audit Committee 
and also performed the roles of Deputy Chair 
and Senior Independent Director. Chief Operating 
Officer Paul Liversidge retired in March 2021 after 
a lengthy career with NEAS. He has been replaced 
by Stephen Segasby who joined the Trust from 
the Yorkshire Ambulance Service. Christopher 
Fairs also left the Trust following the completion 
of his term as Associate Non-Executive Director. 
The Board would like to sincerely thank Carolyn, 
Catherine, Paul and Chris for their significant 
contributions and commitment to the Trust. 

Directors’ Report
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In addition, the Council approved a one-year 
extension for Helen Suddes as Non-Executive 
Director to 31 October 2022. This was considered 
a necessary step to support Board continuity 
and stability during the pandemic period (given 
the volume of change within the last eighteen 
months) and enable further considered work to 
be undertaken on future Non-Executive Director 
succession planning.

Non-Executive Directors Paul Chandler and Alison 
Slater joined the Board of Directors in November 
and December 2021 respectively. In addition, 
Marie Liston was appointed as Associate Non-
Executive Director in January 2022. 

Following the departure of Non-Executive Director 
Catherine Young, the Board appointed John 
Marshall as Senior Independent Director with 
effect from 1 February 2022. The Council of 
Governors approved the appointment of John as 
Deputy Chair at their meeting on 28 January 2022. 
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Table 8: Director Attendance at Board and Council Meetings

Name Position
Board 

Meetings 
Attended

Council 
Meetings 
Attended

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Peter Strachan
(First term: 29 May 2018 – 28 May 2021. Reappointed for a second term  
from 29 May 2021 to 28 May 2024)

Chairman 16 7/7

John Marshall
(Re-appointed on 1st November 2020 for a second 3-year term.  
Appointed as Deputy Chair and SID from 1 February 2022).

Deputy Chair and Senior 
Independent Director

16 3/3

Dr Gerry Morrow
(Re-appointed on 1 November 2020 for a second 3-year term)

Non-Executive Director 16 3/3

Helen Suddes
(Second term – 1 November 2018 to 31 October 2021. Re-appointed  
on 1 November 2021 for a one-year extension to support Board stability  
and continuity).

Non-Executive Director 13 2/3

Raman Sanghera
(Appointed on 18 January 2021 for a three-year term).

Non-Executive Director 16 2/3

Paul Chandler
(Appointed on 1 November 2021 for a three-year term).

Non-Executive Director 5/6 1/1

Alison Slater
(Appointed on 6 December 2021 for a three-year term).

Non-Executive Director 6/6 1/1

Marie Liston
(Appointed on 10 January 2022 for a three-year term).

Associate Non-Executive 
Director

3/4 0/0

Carolyn Peacock
(Left the Trust on 31 October 2021 following completion of second term)

Non-Executive Director 10/10 0/2

Catherine Young
(Left the Trust on 31 January 2022 following one-year extension to second term).

Non-Executive Director 12/13 6/7

Christopher Fairs
(Left the Trust on 31 October 2021 following completion of term).

Associate Non-Executive 
Director

8/9 2/2

Executive Directors

Helen Ray Chief Executive 16 3/3

Paul Liversidge Chief Operating Officer 15 2/3

Stephen Segasby Chief Operating Officer 1/1 N/A

Kevin Scollay Group Director of Finance and Contracting 13 1/3

Dr Mathew Beattie Medical Director 16 3/3

Sarah Rushbrooke
Director of Quality, Patient Safety, Innovation and 
Improvement

12 3/3

Karen O’Brien Director of People and Development 15 2/3
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Declaration of Interests
Upon appointment, members of the Board 
of Directors are asked to declare any business 
interests, directorships, positions of authority in 
a charity or voluntary body in the field of health 
and any connection with contracting bodies for 
NHS services. All such declarations are entered 
in a register and are available for public scrutiny. 
Furthermore, it is a requirement that the Chair 
and all members of the Board of Directors declare 
any conflict of interest that arises in the course of 
conducting NHS business.

The Code of Governance requires the Trust to 
explicitly disclose the interests of the Chair as 
part of the Annual Report. Peter Strachan is the 
Director, Rail UK and Europe at Serco plc.
He is a Non-Executive Director at Transport for 
Wales Rail Ltd, a Board Member at Transport 
for London and Chair of UKROEd Ltd (UK 
Road Offender Education). He holds additional 
directorships in respect of Serco Caledonian 
Sleeper Ltd, Merseyrail Electrics Ltd and Inverness 
Business Improvement District Ltd. 
Peter Strachan’s wife is an independent member 
of the Parole Board.

A copy of the Board’s register of interests  
is available on the Trust’s website  
www.neas.nhs.uk. Alternatively, you can  
obtain a copy of the register of interests  
by writing to our Trust Secretary using the  
contact information at the end of this report.  

Similar to our Board of Directors, all of the Trust’s 
Governors must declare details of any company 
directorships or other significant interests which 
could conflict with their responsibilities as a 
Governor of the Trust. A register of interests is 
maintained by the Trust and is available through 
request to the Trust Secretary. Address details can 
be found at the end of this report.

Our Council of Governors
In accordance with our constitution and the 
requirements of our Foundation Trust licence, 
NEAS has a Council of Governors. The general 
duties of the Council of Governors are to:

• hold the Non-Executive Directors individually 
and collectively to account for the performance 
of the Board of Directors, and

• represent the interests of the members  
of the trust as a whole and  the interests  
of the public.

The Council has other specific responsibilities 
such as:

• appointing (and removing) the Chair and 
other Non-Executive Directors and approving 
remuneration and allowances; 

• appointing (and removing) the Trust’s external 
auditors through a fair tendering process and 

• receiving the annual accounts and the  
annual report.

The Council meets formally and in public on a 
quarterly basis. All Governor meetings and the 
Annual General Meeting took place virtually in 
2021/22. Governor engagement with members 
and the public was appropriately restricted during 
2021/22 due to the pandemic and the need to 
follow the government safety restrictions on 
contact and activity. Governors received updates 
on the Trust strategy and the integrated care 
system at Council meetings and also provided 
input into the Trust Quality Report. 

Simon Walford served as the Council’s Lead 
Governor during 2021/22, supported by Violet 
Rook and Michael McNulty as Deputy Lead 
Governors. Simon, Violet and Michael were all  
re-elected to these positions in January 2022.
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Governor elections were held during 2021/22 
and this resulted in a number of new public 
and staff Governors being elected into post. As 
at 31 March 2022, there were 24 Governors 
on the NEAS Council of Governors. The NEAS 
Constitution provides for 35 Governors and as 
such there are a number of vacancies. Elections 
will be held in Q2 2022 to ensure that vacancies 
are filled. The Board records its sincere thank 
you to all Governors who left the Council during 
2021/22 for their contribution and commitment 
to the Trust.

The table overleaf shows the members of the 
Council of Governors, each Governor’s term of 
election, whether they were elected or appointed, 
including a description of the constituency 
or organisation that they represent, and their 
attendance at the Council of Governors’ 
meetings. Where a Governor was not in post 
for the full year, the table shows attendance 
against the number of Council meetings they 
were eligible to attend. During the year there 
were four public Council of Governors meetings 
(the regular quarterly meeting) and four private 
Council meetings (in respect of recruitment, 
reappointment and appraisal processes).
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Table 9: NEAS Governors, Terms of Office and Meeting Attendance

Governor name Term of Appointment 
Council of Governors 

meetings (max 7)

North of Tyne Region

Simon Walford
(Lead Governor)

2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021
Re-elected 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024

7 out of 7

Violet Rook 
(Deputy Lead Governor)

3 years from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2019
Re-elected 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022

5 out of 7

Derek Bramley
3 years from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2019
Re-elected 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022

6 out of 7

Nik Ritchie
2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021

Left the Council 31 October 2021
4 out of 5

Ian Ellison
2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021

Re-elected 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024
4 out of 7

John Rawling 3 years from 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022 4 out of 7

Callum Brown
3 years from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024

Left the Council 6 January 2022
0 out of 0

VACANCY

South of Tyne Region

Janice Chandler
3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 

Left the Council on 8 October 2021
2 out of 5

Bill Laing
3 years from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2019
Re-elected 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022

1 out of 7

Nathan Carr 3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 0 out of 7

Michael McNulty
(Deputy Lead Governor)

3 years from 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022 4 out of 7

Elizabeth Highmore 3 years from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024 0 out of 2

VACANCY
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Governor name Term of Appointment 
Council of Governors 

meetings (max 7)

Durham  Region

Adam Skeen 3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 3 out of 7

Stephen Dunn 3 years from 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022 1 out of 7

Alex Murray
3 years from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2019
Re-elected 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022

0 out of 7

Keith Ringer 3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 3 out of 7

Ann Workman 3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 0 out of 7

Teesside Region

Michael Daley 3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023 2 out of 7

Olalekan Odedeyi 3 years from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024 2 out of 2

Craig Jacques
2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021

Re-elected 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024
0 out of 7

Graeme Smith
2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021

Left the Council on 31 October 2021
2 out of 5

VACANCY

VACANCY

Ambulance Service (Staff Governors)

Matthew Potts
(Unscheduled Care)

3 years from 1 November 2019 to 31 October 2022 3 out of 7

Jonathan Knox
(Support Services)

3 years from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024 1 out of 2

James McCormack 
(Scheduled Care)

3 years from 1 November 2018 to 31 October 2021
Left the Council 31 October 2021

0 out of 5

Jebby Goodbrand
(Emergency Operations 
Centre)

2 years 5 months from 1 June 2019 to 31 October 2021
Left the Council 31 October 2021

2 out of 5

David Simpson
(Scheduled Care)

3 years from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2024 1 out of 2

VACANCY (EOC)
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Governor name Term of Appointment 
Council of Governors 

meetings (max 7)

Voluntary Organisations’ Network North East (Stakeholder Governor)

VACANCY

Local Authority Governors

Councillor Oskar Avery
3 years from 9 May 2017 to 31 May 2020
Reappointed 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023

1 out of 7

Councillor Jeff Watson
3 years from 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023

Left the Council 21 February 2022
0 out of 7

Councillor Kevin Nicholson 2 years from 10 July 2020 to 1 August 2022 7 out of 7

Councillor Matthew 
Wilson

10 months from 8 October 2021 to 1 August 2022 1 out of 2

Councillor Gary Bell
1 year 4 months from 26 March 2021 to 1 August 2022

Left the Council 12 May 2021
0 out of 2

VACANCY

Mental Health Trusts

Linda Nelson
1 year 10 months from 1 January 2016 to 31 October 2017

Re-appointed 1 November 2017 to 31 October 2020
Re-appointed 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2023

6 out of 7

Teesside University

VACANCY

Clinical Commissioning Group Representative

VACANCY

Acute Trust Representative

VACANCY

Local Resilience Forum Representative

VACANCY
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The number of Governors in post during the year 
varied due to a number of new appointments, 
resignations and changes in our appointed 
Governors. The year commenced with 27 
Governors and ended with 24 Governors in post. 

The recruitment of Governors has been 
challenging over the past number of years, 
due in part to the impact of the pandemic but 
also the time commitment involved. As the 
establishment of the ICB progresses, we will 
take the opportunity to review our Governor 
representation to ensure comprehensive 
representation and alignment with the ICB.

The Board of Directors and the Council of 
Governors Relationship
Our Board of Directors recognises the importance 
of receiving and reacting to the views of our 
Council of Governors. The Board of Directors 
were well represented at Council meetings 
throughout the year. 

Governor development sessions are usually held 
on a quarterly basis, with all Board Members 
invited to attend. It is noted that due to the 
pandemic the full development programme 
was not completed during the year. The Trust 
successfully held a Governor development event 
with the HART Team in March 2022 and we hope 
to return to pre-pandemic levels of development 
throughout 2022/23. Plans are in place to restart 
the development programme in 2022/23 and this 
will include an externally facilitated development 
session between the Board and the Council later 
in the year.

The schedule of matters reserved for the Board 
of Directors includes a specific section detailing 
the roles and responsibilities of the Council of 
Governors. There is also a specific policy which 
outlines how the Council of Governors can raise 
serious concerns about the Board of Directors, 
should the situation ever arise. This policy 
was reviewed and approved by the Council of 
Governors at their meeting in January 2022.

Performance Evaluation
The executive arm of the Board of Directors is 
monitored both collectively and individually on 
the delivery of key objectives, with the Chief 
Executive appraising the performance of Directors 
on an annual basis (but meeting with each 
Director on a one-to-one basis every month), 
and the chair reviewing the Chief Executive’s 
performance every six months.  

As a Foundation Trust, it is the role of the 
Council of Governors to ensure there is 
an effective and meaningful performance 
assessment and appraisal process in place for 
both the Chair and non-executive directors.  
Further information on individual Board Member 
performance evaluation processes is included 
within the Remuneration Report. 

All Board committees (and any groups 
reporting to them) conduct a formal ‘Review of 
Effectiveness’ on an annual basis. Each committee 
is required to demonstrate to the Board that it 
has fulfilled its remit, remained within its terms 
of reference and has satisfactorily discharged its 
duties, adding value in terms of assurances and 
identifying and mitigating risk. This process is 
led by the non-executive chair of the committee. 
The evaluation process incorporates the use 
of a survey assessment tool, which was sent 
to all members and regular attendees of each 
Committee to seek views on effectiveness. This 
then informs the overall assessment to ensure 
that the outcomes reflected broader feedback. 
A comprehensive Board self-assessment will be 
conducted as part of the externally-facilitated 
well-led review planned for 2022/23. 
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Audit Committee 
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is 
to provide structured, systematic oversight of the 
organisation’s governance, risk management, and 
internal control practices. The Committee assists 
the Board by providing advice and guidance on 
the adequacy of the organisation’s initiatives for:

• Financial statements and public accountability 
reporting

• Risk management

• Internal control framework

• Governance structure

• Oversight of the internal audit activity, external 
auditors, and other providers of assurance

• Values and ethics

In broad terms, the Audit and Risk Committee 
reviews each of the items noted above and 
provides the Board with independent advice 
and guidance regarding the adequacy and 
effectiveness of management’s practices, 
including in relation to quality and potential 
improvements to those practices. It does this 
through receipt of assurances from auditors, 
management and other sources.

The Chair of the Audit Committee until 31 
January 2021 was Catherine Young with 
responsibility transferring to Raman Sanghera 
following the end of her term as a Non-Executive 
Director. 

The Audit Committee is the Group Audit 
Committee in that it covers both the Trust and 
its subsidiary, NEASUS. The Audit Committee is 
accountable to the Board of Directors and details 
of its meetings and member attendance are set 
out in the following table:

Table 10: Audit Committee Membership and 
Meeting Attendance

Committee Member Meeting 
Attendance

Catherine Young (Committee 
Chair until 31 January 2022)

5/5

Raman Sanghera (Committee 
Chair from 1 February 2022)

5/5

Dr Gerry Morrow 3/5

Carolyn Peacock (Committee 
member until 31 October 2021)

4/4

Alison Slater 1/1

The Committee met the minimum number of 
five meetings per year and other attendees at 
meetings included: 

• External and Internal Audit at all meetings

• The Counter Fraud Specialist 

• Management, represented by the Group 
Director of Finance and Contracting, Director 
of Quality, Patient Safety, Innovation and 
Improvement and the Medical Director

• The Trust Secretary and PA to the Director 
of Finance and Contracting who provided 
secretariat support to the Committee

• The Corporate Risk Manager

During 2021/22 the Committee: - 

• Reviewed regulatory submissions in accordance 
with its terms of reference and external 
requirements. This included: the annual 
accounts; annual report; annual governance 
statement; annual planning self-certifications; 
ISA260 and external audit reports

• Reviewed the organisational risk register and 
sought assurance regarding the robustness of 
risk management processes 
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• Reviewed the processes behind the 
development of the clinical audit plan,  
and sought assurance over progress made  
in implementing the plan

• Approved the terms of engagement in  
relation to the external audit, the subsidiary 
audit and the independent examination  
of the Charitable Fund

• Considered the risks contained within  
the external audit plan

• Evaluated the effectiveness of both internal 
and external audit functions

• Reviewed internal audit updates throughout 
the year, including providing input on the 
draft plans presented at the beginning of 
the year. Progress in implementing audit 
recommendations was reviewed at each 
meeting

• Approved the counter fraud annual work  
plan and received progress updates as well  
as updates on ongoing investigations

• Sought assurances regarding the processes and 
controls in place to appropriately investigate 
and act upon Freedom to Speak Up concerns

• Received an annual update on the Trust’s 
Business Contingency arrangements

• Received regular updates on losses  
and special payments

• Reviewed the Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) noting ongoing work towards a revised 
approach to align with the new strategy

• Received annual reports on compliance with 
policies falling within the remit of the Audit 
Committee.

In line with requirements of the Code of 
Governance the Committee reviewed the 
effectiveness of the External Audit and Internal 
Audit functions. The assessment was conducted 
following the completion of the 2020/21 year-
end audits. 

Audit Committee members completed a 
comprehensive survey and the results were 
reported to the Committee in July 2021. A similar 
process will be initiated in June 2022 to review 
the effectiveness of both functions for 2021/22.

In October 2020 the Council of Governors 
re-appointed Mazars LLP as the Trust’s external 
auditors under a four-year contract. Mazars LLP’s 
fee for the core audit work for 2021/22 was 
£71,592 including VAT and incorporating fees 
for the whole of government accounts audit. 
In line with 2019/20 and 2020/21 there was no 
requirement for external audit assurance work to 
be undertaken in respect of the Quality Report. 

Mazars LLP undertake an independent 
examination of the Trust’s Charitable Fund, which 
in 2021/22 is proposed to cost £440 excluding 
VAT. Mazars LLP also undertake the audit of the 
Trust’s subsidiary, NEASUS, and a fee of £14,990 
(excluding VAT) is proposed for 2021/22. 

During the year no non-audit services were 
provided (with the exception of the audit of the 
subsidiary company and the independent review 
of the Charitable Fund accounts). These services 
are excluded from the National Audit Office’s 
70% threshold for non-audit services work.  
The Internal Audit function for the Trust and 
NEASUS is provided by the NHS Audit Consortium 
AuditOne. 

The Committee is satisfied that the system of risk 
management in the organisation is adequate in 
identifying risks and allows the Board of Directors 
to understand the appropriate management of 
those risks. The Committee believes there are 
no areas of significant duplication or omission in 
the systems of governance (that have come to 
the Committee’s attention) that have not been 
adequately resolved.
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Better Payments Practice Code  
and Invoice Payment 
Performance

The Government’s ‘Better Payment Practice Code’ 
requires public sector bodies to pay all trade 
creditors within 30 days or within the agreed 
terms. The Trust is an approved signatory of the 
prompt payment code, hosted by the Institute of 
Credit Management on behalf of the Department 
of Business Innovation and Skills. As a result, the 
Trust is committed to:

• Paying suppliers within agreed terms

• Ensuring suppliers know how to invoice them

• Encouraging good practice

The Trust paid 95% and 97% of its non-NHS 
invoices within 30 days by number and value 
respectively and similarly 92% and 95% on its 
NHS invoices within 30 days by number and value 
respectively.

During 2021/22 no interest was payable under 
the Late Payments of Commercial Debts (interest) 
Act 1998.

North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust has complied with the cost allocation and 
charging guidance issued by HM Treasury.   

No political donations were made during the year.

Income disclosure

The Trust has complied with Section 43(2A) of 
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012) which requires that 
the income from the provision of goods and 
services for the purposes of the health service in 
England must be greater than its income from 
the provision of goods and services for any other 
purposes. The impact of other income on the 
Trust is insignificant.

NHS Improvement’s Well-Led 
Framework

The Board last undertook a detailed assessment 
against the joint CQC and NHS England and 
Improvement Well-Led Framework just prior to 
the pandemic in February 2020.

Whilst the full self-assessment was not repeated 
in 2021/22, the Board has demonstrated its 
regard for the Framework throughout the year. 

The Board development programme initiated 
with NHS Providers in 2020/21 continued into 
2021/22, with further sessions held in April 
and June 2021 where the Board reflected on 
risk, accountability, performance and system 
leadership. Additional development sessions were 
held in July and August 2021 with the Executive 
Management Group, in order to embed a well-
led approach at the senior management level 
within the organisation.

The Board and its Committees continued to 
meet throughout 2021/22, ensuring appropriate 
oversight of strategy and performance while 
remaining cognisant of the need for a more agile 
approach to governance in light of the pressures 
posed by the pandemic. Key indicators of NEAS’s 
commitment to Well-Led include:

• launch of the new strategy in August 2021

• expansion of the senior leadership team to 
include an Assistant Director of Strategy, 
Planning and Partnership

• restructure of the operations directorate to 
align to the ICP boundaries ensuring more 
effective system working

• restructure of the Executive Management 
Group (EMG) to meeting weekly with a focus 
on embedding service line conversations, 
transformation and development
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• internal development sessions with the 
Board, EMG and senior leadership forum (SLF) 
around governance, decision-making and 
accountability in the context of the integrated 
care landscape

• SLF participation in an in-house questionnaire 
survey on good governance

In-depth, externally facilitated developmental 
reviews of leadership and governance are 
good practice across all industries. NHS Trusts 
are recommended to commission an external 
well-led review every three to five years. NEAS 
last undertook such a review in 2015 with the 
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic delaying 
this activity. As such, the Board commits to 
undertaking an external well-led review in 
2022/2023. A first step in conducting this review, 
will also be an internal well-led self-assessment 
which was delayed in 2021/2022 due to the 
impact of the pandemic. Further detail on the 
Trust’s approach to ensuring services are well-led 
is provided in the performance report and annual 
governance statement.

There are no material inconsistencies between 
the annual governance statement, corporate 
governance statement and reports from the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC).
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Delivering high quality and effective patient care 
continued to be a core priority for us throughout 
2021/22 and we developed innovative ways to 
enable us to safely respond to patient needs 
during the pandemic.

Ambulance Clinical Quality Indicators
All UK ambulance services participate in the 
national ambulance clinical quality indicators 
(AQI). AQI measures benchmark the clinical care 
provided by ambulance services for patients who 
have had a cardiac arrest, stroke and suspected 
sepsis. Each indicator is calculated based on 
clinically relevant times, the delivery of relevant 
clinical care criteria and patient outcomes (where 
indicated). NEAS consistently performs in the 
highest 25% of all Ambulance Trusts for all AQI 
and is one of the highest performing ambulance 
Trusts for the stroke care bundle metric. 

Quality Governance 
Quality Governance is provided via the Trust’s 
Quality Committee which gives the Board 
assurance on all aspects of quality of clinical 
care, quality and clinical governance systems, 
clinical risk issues, research and development, 
and regulatory standards of quality, safety and 
patient experience. This Committee also oversees 
production of the Quality Report. 

Quality Priorities
Progress against our 2020/21 quality priorities 
was limited due to the focus on responding 
to the pandemic so our Board of Directors has 
approved the extension of the three priorities 
for 2021/22. Monitoring of the progress against 
our quality priorities was reported to the Clinical 
Quality Group. Despite the challenges posed by 
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic response and 
the unprecedented demands on our services we 
successfully achieved our priorities. Some actions 
are outstanding and we will ensure that these will 
be completed in the coming year. 

Priority 1 - Managing the Deteriorating 
Patient in the Emergency Operations Centre 
(EOC) 
Our aim was to ensure we have robust processes 
to manage the identification of deteriorating 
patients in the care of the EOC efficiently and 
effectively. We achieved this by updating our 
Clinical Safety Plan which helped to identify and 
allocate resources safely and efficiently to the 
sickest patients during unprecedented periods of 
demand. We recognise that there are still further 
improvements to be made and we continue to 
review and adapt our processes including the use 
of digital systems to support our EOC teams to 
achieve this priority.

Priority 2 - Improving Cardiac Arrest Care
Our aim was to improve cardiac arrest outcomes 
for our communities. We increased the number 
of Community Public Access Defibrillators 
(cPADs) throughout the north east and we are 
working with the British Heart Foundation to 
map the location of all defibrillators. We would 
like to reduce inequalities in our region through 
our research projects and we aim to increase 
life-saving skills training events as Covid-19 
restrictions ease.

Priority 3 - Improving End of Life Care
Our aim was to ensure patients receive end  
of life care and a calm and peaceful death, in 
their preferred place of care, wherever possible. 
We continued to work closely with our regional 
palliative care stakeholders to continually improve 
our services and focused on updating and 
improving training content.

Further information about our quality priorities 
can be found in our annual Quality Report at: 
www.neas.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing

Patient Care Activities
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CQC Compliance 
The Trust is fully compliant with the registration 
requirements of the Care Quality Commission. 
North East Ambulance Service was rated ‘Good’ 
by the Care Quality Commission (January 2019). 
The Trust seeks continuous improvement in its 
services for the benefit of its patients and staff. 
Further information is available at www.neas.nhs.
uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing

Further information about our performance can 
be found in our annual Quality Report at:  
www.neas.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing. 

Service Improvements following Staff or 
Patient Feedback 
A number of service improvement have taken 
place over the last 12 months following patient 
feedback. We have: 

• updated information to patients and 
stakeholders on our services, how to use 
them and provided a range of public health 
information messages and interactive ways to 
engage with the Trust in ways that are tailored 
to different groups needs

• developed an online engagement offer to 
assist people to access engagement in non-
traditional ways

• developed a range of videos to answer some 
of the most common questions the public 
would like answered from a paramedic 

• updated our webpage information on help 
and support available to deaf, hearing-
impaired and people who communicate  
non-verbally to access our services

• created staff welfare cars delivering food and 
drinks to crews at A&E departments and a 
re-stocking van which reduces the need for 
ambulances to travel to restock supplies.

Complaints Handling
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust endeavours to ensure the quality of care 
we provide is of the highest standard and that 
that our patients, staff and the public are safe 
when in our care. The views, opinions, ideas, 
and feedback of the people of the North East is 
extremely important to us and provides a valuable 
way to recognise where we may need to learn 
and improve our services, whether it be from 
patient surveys, complaints, or compliments and 
appreciations.

The high standard of care the Trust provides 
is reflected in the number of compliments, 
appreciations and outstanding family and friends 
feedback scores it receives each year. However, 
sometimes things go wrong or do not meet 
expectations of the patient, their family or care 
givers leading to complaints. NEAS investigated 
380 complaints during 2021/22, maintaining an 
average complaint response timeframe of 33 days. 

The Board has corporate responsibility for 
the quality of care and the management and 
monitoring of complaints received by the 
Trust. The Chief Executive has delegated the 
responsibility for the management of complaints 
to the Director of Quality, Patient Safety, 
Innovation and Improvement (Executive Nurse). 
The Trust Board receives assurance that all 
complaints are investigated appropriately and 
are responded to within the set local standard 
response times via the monthly Integrated Quality 
Performance Report and Quality and Safety 
Directorate Quarterly Report.
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The Trust promotes a positive environment in 
which complaints are welcomed, taken seriously, 
looked at with empathy and resolved as soon as 
possible. Complaints contain vital information to 
enable us to understand the impact we have on 
patients, their families and care givers when they 
are at their most vulnerable and provide early 
insight into any areas which could be improved 
within our services. The Trust is committed to 
continuous learning and improvement and 
every complaint provides a valuable opportunity 
to enhance services and to find better ways of 
meeting the needs of our patients and community. 

The Head of Patient Safety and Patient 
Experience triangulates complaints data with 
patient safety incidents and patient experience 
data to gather a greater insight into the ‘bigger 
picture’ of patient safety and experience and 
drive organisational improvements. Thematic 
analysis of complaints and “you said we did” 
feedback is cascaded to senior leaders via 
internal governance meetings and is reported 
to the Trust Board, commissioners and external 
partners via the Quality and Safety Directorate 
quarterly report. Learning for staff is cascaded 
via the monthly Patient Safety and Patient 
Experience Learning Bulletin. This approach 
has succeeded in keeping complaints high on 
the agenda of the Trust’s leadership and has 
had a positive impact on staff recognising the 
importance that is placed on good complaint 
handling.

In accordance with the NHS Complaints 
Regulations (2009), the Trust is required to 
prepare an Annual Complaints Report, which 
sets out the information gained from the 
complaints received during the year. The report 
summarises activity and performance of the 
complaints process, highlights the main themes 
and identifies any learning or actions arising from 
the complaints received. The report is reviewed 
and approved by the Quality Clinical Governance 
Group and Trust Board prior to publication on the 
Trust website for members of the public. 

The report is available at:  
www.neas.nhs.uk/about-us/how-we-are-doing
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Our usual community engagement and 
attendance at physical events and activities 
has not been possible again this year due to 
the pandemic and associated restrictions. We 
have continued to meet with the HealthWatch 
Ambulance Forum, participated in a small 
number of online events such as Prides, a school 
visit to launch our online engagement and started 
to open up face to face engagement up again in 
March 2021.

Last year we held two meetings as our March 
meeting was postponed. We gathered useful 
information on our services, received and 
engaged with HealthWatch Groups and PALs on:

• Patient Survey annual and quarterly reports

• Patient Experience and Complaints data

• Emergency Services 

• Operations centre – voice recognition project 

• Patient Transport Service Eligibility criteria 

• Talk before you walk

• Online Engagement 

We launched our Positive Action project over 
the last year working with ethnic minority 
communities to improve information on our 
service and how to access them, raise awareness 
of support services such as telephone interpreters 
and promote jobs and volunteering opportunities. 

The project has been a huge success:

• Employment skills workshops - 138 people 
have participated 

• Job Applications – 6.3% of applications from 
ethnic minority people, an increase from 4.5%

• Shortlisting – 5.8% of people shortlisted were 
from ethnic minority backgrounds, an increase 
from 4%

• Offered employment – 5.7% of people 
shortlisted were from ethnic minority 
backgrounds, an increase from 5.6%

• Volunteers - 83 volunteers appointed to our 
new BAME Community Ambassador role

• Trained in how to use our services  
– 929 people 

• Trained in Emergency First Aid – 788 people

• Ethnic minority organisations engaged  
with – 97

The project has helped us to reach into wider 
communities and has helped to improve 
community confidence, knowledge, awareness 
of our services and what to do in an emergency. 
Thanks to NHS Charities, we have secured 
funding to run the project for a second year and 
hope to build on the success achieved to date.

Stakeholder Relations
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Foundation Trust Membership Information
Our membership profile as at 31 March 2021 was 
as follows:

Table 11: Membership Profile

Public Constitutency

At 1st April 2021            8965

At 31st March 2021       8888

New members              37

Members leaving          114

Staff Constituency – Awaiting HR data

Staff Unscheduled Care 1,486

Scheduled Care 458

Emergency Operations Centre 632

Support Services 426

The following tables illustrates our membership 
profile. Please note the analysis section of this 
report excludes:

• 745 public members with no dates of birth

• 241 members with no stated ethnicity

• 67 members with no stated gender 

Table 12: Membership Age Profile

Age*  (Public Constituency)
Number of 
Members

Age 17 - 21  19

Age 22+                            8124 

Not stated                            745 

*Note only individuals aged16+ are eligible 
to become members in accordance with our 
Constitution.

Table 13: Membership Gender Profile

Gender (Public Constituency) Number of 
Members

Female 4677

Male 4144

Unspecified  67

Table 14: Membership Ethnicity Profile

Ethnicity (Public 
Constituency)

Number of 
Members

White                               8230

Black or Black British          36

Asian or Asian British         239

Mixed                                 101

Other                                   41

Not stated                          241

Table 15: Membership ONS Profile

ONS Classifications  (Public 
Constituency)

Number of 
Members

AB                        2091

C1 2510

C2 2008

DE 2266

Not available                                                13
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We held our annual members’ meeting in 
September 2021 online via Microsoft Teams. 
The event attracted a range of stakeholders 
including Governors, staff, members, the public 
and representatives from partner organisations. 
We provided a look back at the highlights and 
challenges during 2021/2022 including how the 
Trust continued to respond to the pandemic. 
Due to the pandemic our normal face-to-face 
membership activities were suspended for part  
of the year.

Members who wish to contact their Governor 
should email governors@neas.nhs.uk or 
alternatively write to our Engagement and 
Membership Officer who will direct the contact  
to the appropriate Governor, using the address  
at the end of this report. 

Members who wish to contact a Director  
should address a letter to the director concerned, 
at the address on the last page of this report.  
We operate in an open and transparent manner 
and members are always welcome to get in touch 
if they have a query or comment.

Helen Ray
Chief Executive
16 June 2022
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Remuneration Report

Annual statement on remuneration

The Trust has a Board Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee which has been 
in place since 2014. The membership of the 
Committee is made up of the Chair and all  
of the non-executive directors.

The remuneration for non-executive directors 
is determined by the Council of Governors, as 
delegated to the Governor Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. Remuneration for 
non-executive directors is in accordance with 
the guidance issued by NHS England and NHS 
Improvement regarding the ‘Structure to align 
remuneration for chairs and Non-Executive 
Directors of NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation 
Trusts’. The level of remuneration for Non-
Executive Directors reflects the time commitment 
of approximately three to four days per month.

Both Board and Governor Nomination and 
Remuneration Committees were advised on 
the annual performance appraisal exercises and 
succession planning discussions for the executive 
and non-executive directors.

Peter Strachan
Chairman 
16 June 2022
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Senior Managers Remuneration Policy

For the purposes of this policy and this report, 
senior managers are defined as those individuals 
who hold Board positions, namely the chief 
executive, chair, executive directors and non-
executive directors. As outlined in the Directors 
Report, the Council of Governors decides on the 
remuneration of the Chair and Non-Executive 
Directors.

In line with best practice and regulatory 
guidance, the Governor Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, on behalf of the 
Council, reviews the latest NHS England and 
Improvement guidance and benchmarking on 
basic pay and enhancements for the Chair and 
Non-Executive Directors. 

The Terms of Reference for the Board Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee provides for 
that Committee to set the policy and authorise 
remuneration packages and contractual terms 
which are sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate executive directors whilst remaining 
cost effective. Proper regard to the Trust’s 
circumstances, performance, policy on diversity 
and equality and comparative information 
from within the NHS and other public sector 
organisations are considered. Pay and conditions 
of other Trust employees are considered when 
setting the remuneration for senior managers. 
Executive director salaries are market-tested, 
and benchmarking is a key factor in determining 
appropriate salaries, alongside the regulatory 
remuneration scales. 

Board-level recruitment is undertaken in line  
with the Trust’s equality and diversity policies  
and the principles used for all staff recruitment. 
The Board and its Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee are committed to ensuring that  
the Board of Directors is as representative as 
possible of the communities the Trust serves.  
The Committee reviewed and updated their 
Terms of Reference in 2022 to reflect the 
consideration of diversity, as well as knowledge, 
skills and experience when appointing the chair, 
deputy chair and non-executive directors

There are two very senior managers with 
basic earnings greater than £150,000 during 
2021/2022. We understand and fully support the 
need to critically assess executive remuneration 
levels in order to ensure they are necessary and 
justifiable, particularly in the current financial 
climate. It is critical that we are able to attract 
the right calibre of candidates within our local 
market, and our salaries therefore need to be 
within a reasonable range when compared to 
other local trusts. We also need to ensure that 
we are able to attract and retain good calibre 
candidates for the benefit of the Trust, our 
patients and our staff.  
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The Trust is committed to ensuring that director’s 
pay is considered in line with the Trust’s 
performance, delivery of our strategy, together 
with the national context. 

This is shown within the future policy table 
below.

Table 16: Future Policy Table

Component of 
Pay 

Link to Strategic 
Objectives

How the Trust 
Operates this in 

practice
Maximum Limit

Performance 
Measures

Basic Salary To enable the 
Trust to attract 
and retain the 
highest calibre 
of senior leaders 
in a competitive 
market place 
through offering 
appropriate but 
attractive salary 
packages 

Executive Director 
salaries are 
monitored using 
market testing and 
benchmarking.   

Non-Executive 
Director salaries are 
also benchmarked 
to provide 
assurance that 
salaries remain 
appropriate. 

No prescribed 
maximum limit, 
however salaries 
over £150,000 are 
subject to external 
opinion.

Annual appraisal 
of performance 
against agreed 
personal and 
corporate 
objectives.

Taxable Benefits Directors are given 
a car allowance / 
lease car 

Depending on 
job role, some 
Directors are in 
receipt of a phone 
allowance. 

Non-Executive 
Directors do 
not receive any 
benefits. 

No prescribed 
maximum limit

Not applicable

Pension Via the NHS 
Pension Scheme

Standard NHS 
Pension Scheme

Not applicable
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Component of 
Pay 

Link to Strategic 
Objectives

How the Trust 
Operates this in 

practice
Maximum Limit

Performance 
Measures

Bonus The Trust has no 
annual bonus 
arrangements in 
place. However:  
The Remuneration 
Committee 
reserves the 
right to approve 
one-off, non-
recurring payments 
to recognise 
exceptional 
performance, or 
delivery of specific 
projects. 

No prescribed 
maximum limit. 

Exceptional 
performance, as 
defined by the 
Remuneration 
Committee

Earn-Back Where salary levels 
are pitched in 
excess of £150,000

Annual appraisal 
of performance 
against agreed 
personal and 
corporate 
objectives.

Table 17: Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Role
Basic salary 
per annum (£)

Salary 
enhancement per 
annum in respect 
of the role (£)

Fees payable 
for any other 
duty (£)

Other items 
considered 
in respect of 
remuneration

Chair 44,000 - - -

Existing Non-Executive 
Directors

14,000 - - -

Newly appointed Non-
Executive Directors*

13,000 - - -

Deputy Chair 14,000 - - -

Senior Independent Director 14,000 1,500 - -
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For Non-Executive Directors, the components of 
their remuneration are set out in the above table. 
NHS England and Improvement released new 
requirements regarding Chair and Non-Executive 
Director remuneration in November 2019. The 
aim of this publication was to align remuneration 
for Chairs and Non-Executive Directors in both 
trusts and foundation trusts by April 2022. 
The Governor Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee reviewed the proposed national 
remuneration structures set by NHS Improvement 
and determined that no immediate changes  
were required to current remuneration levels  
for existing post-holders.

*In line with the single uniform rate 
recommended by NHS England and 
Improvement.

Service Contracts for Senior Managers
Executive directors’ contracts are subject to a 
notice period of 6 months. Agreement to any 
lesser period of notice must be approved by the 
Trust Board, subject to an assessment of the risk 
to the continuity of the business. Non-Executive 
Directors can terminate their contract at any time.  
 
Senior managers’ remuneration and pension 
benefits are detailed in the tables on the 
following pages. Accounting policies for pension 
and other retirement benefits are set out within 
the accounts. No compensation for loss of office 
payable or receivable has been made under the 
terms of the approved compensation scheme, 
and there have been no payments to past senior 
managers (this aspect of the remuneration report 
is subject to audit).  

The key components of the remuneration 
package for senior managers include:  

• Salary and fees

• All taxable benefit 

• Pension-related benefit

Some terms are specific to individual senior 
managers, which is assessed on a case by case 
basis, such as:   

• Vehicles

• On call arrangements 

• Earn-back – in response to NHS England 
and Improvement’s guidance on Very Senior 
Manager Pay.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
is chaired by the chair of the Board, and all 
Non-executive directors are members of the 
Committee. As a result of the streamlined 
governance arrangements in place throughout 
the pandemic, and to enable management 
colleagues to focus on the operational response 
to Covid-19, the Board’s Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee met once during 
2021/2022 to receive assurance over the 
performance of the chief executive, including 
performance-related elements of remuneration. 
As such the Committee approved the award of 
the earn-back element of the chief executive’s 
salary, as the appraisal objectives had been met. 

In attendance at that meeting were as follows:
Peter Strachan, Chairman
Catherine Young, Deputy Chair and Senior 
Independent Director
John Marshall, Non-Executive Director
Helen Suddes, Non-Executive Director
Dr Gerry Morrow, Non-Executive Director
Raman Sanghera, Non-Executive Director
Paul Chandler, Non-Executive Director
Alison Slater, Non-Executive Director

The term dates for senior managers can be 
seen within the Board composition table in the 
Directors’ Report.
 
Performance Conditions
The Council of Governors approved a performance 
assessment and appraisal process for the chair 
and non-executive directors and the Governor 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
decided on some of the key elements of that. 
The performance appraisal process considers best 
practice and enables all Governors and fellow 
Board Members to provide feedback on a non-
attributable basis in the form of a survey. 

The chair agrees objectives with each Non-
Executive Director and develops their own personal 
objectives. The Senior Independent Director 
conducts the Chair’s appraisal, with input from  
the Lead Governor.  

In respect of the Chair’s appraisal the Senior 
Independent Director put in place plans to 
follow the new NHS England and Improvement 
requirements. This included utilising standardised 
competencies and seeking views from stakeholders 
on performance against these competencies.  
All 2021/2022 appraisals for Board Members have 
been completed.

The Executive arm of the Board of Directors is 
monitored both collectively and individually, on 
delivery of key objectives. The Chief Executive 
meets with each Director on a monthly basis which 
assists in preparation for the year-end appraisal. 
The Chair meets with the Chief Executive on a 
weekly basis and conducts performance reviews 
every six months. 

The Trust’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee (consisting of Non-Executive Directors) 
takes account of the performance of each Director 
and that of the Executive arm of the Board as part 
of its annual salary review discussions. 

Expenses payments to Governors  
and Directors
Directors’ expenses for the reporting period 
were £938.95 (£1,589 2020/2021). This was 
largely for business travel. The total number of 
Directors claiming was three out of a maximum 
of seventeen Directors who served on the Board 
during the year. 

The sum of £24.40 was paid in expenses to one 
Governor during 2021/22. 

The remuneration tables on the following pages 
are subject to audit.
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Remuneration tables:

Name and Title

Period 1st April 2021 - 31 March 2022

Salary 
Taxable 
Benefits

Annual Performance 
Related Bonus*

Long-Term  
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest 
£100)    
Note 1

(bands of £5,000)
(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of 
£5,000)Salary Earn 

Back Bonus

Executive Directors £'000 £ £'000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Helen Ray - Chief 
Executive* 

140-145 600 10-15 0 25-27.5 185-190

Kevin Scollay - Group 
Director of Finance and 
Contracting

100-105 700 0 0 20-22.5 120-125

Paul Liversidge - Chief 
Operating Officer

115-120  0 0 10-12.5 125-130

Karen O'Brien - 
Director of People and 
Development

105-110  0 0 25-27.5 130-135

Sarah Rushbrooke - 
Director of Quality and 
Patient Safety, Executive 
Nurse (from 03/08/20)

100-105 600 0 0 0 100-105

Mathew Beattie -  
Medical Director

150-155 600 0 0 25-27.5 175-180

Joanne Baxter -  
Director of Quality and 
Safety, Executive Nurse  
(to 30/06/20)

  0 0   

Caroline Thurlbeck - 
Director of Strategy, 
Transformation & 
Workforce (to 24/02/21)

  0 0   

Non-Executive 
Directors

£'000 £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Peter Strachan - 
Chairman 

40-45  0 0 0 40-45

Douglas Taylor –  
Non-Executive Director

0  0 0 0 0
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Name and Title

Period 1st April 2021 - 31 March 2022

Salary 
Taxable 
Benefits

Annual Performance 
Related Bonus*

Long-Term  
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest 
£100)    
Note 1

(bands of £5,000)
(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of 
£5,000)Salary Earn 

Back Bonus

Catherine Young –  
Non-Executive Director  
(to 31/01/22)

10-15  0 0 0 10-15

Helen Suddes –  
Non-Executive Director

10-15  0 0 0 10-15

Carolyn Peacock –  
Non-Executive Director  
(to 31/10/21)

5-10  0 0 0 5-10

John Marshall –  
Non-Executive Director 

10-15  0 0 0 10-15

Dr Gerry Morrow –  
Non-Executive Director 

10-15  0 0 0 10-15

Chris Fairs - Associate  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 01/09/20 to 
30/11/21) 

0-5  0 0 0 0-5

Raman Sanghera –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 18/01/21)

10-15  0 0 0 10-15

Paul Chandler –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 01/11/21)

5-10  0 0 0 5-10

Alison Slater –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 04/12/21)

0-5  0 0 0 0-5

Marie Liston –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 10/01/22)

0-5  0 0 0 0-5

*  We follow NHS guidance which states that at least 10% of the base pay salary of a very senior manager 
(VSM) should be placed at risk and subject to being paid only when agreed performance objectives have 
been met. It is not a bonus, as listed in the table above.

Pa
rt

 3

73



Name and Title

Period 1st April 2020 - 31 March 2021

Salary 
Taxable 
Benefits

Annual Performance 
Related Bonus*

Long-Term  
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest 
£100)    
Note 1

(bands of £5,000)
(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of 
£5,000)Salary Earn 

Back Bonus

Executive Directors £'000 £ £'000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Helen Ray - Chief 
Executive* 

145-150 5,300 10-15 0 30-32.5 190-195

Kevin Scollay - Group 
Director of Finance and 
Contracting

100-105 0 0 0 25-27.5 130-135

Paul Liversidge - Chief 
Operating Officer

115-120 0 0 0 0 115-120

Karen O'Brien - 
Director of People and 
Development

105-110 0 0 0 92.5-95 200-205

Sarah Rushbrooke - 
Director of Quality and 
Patient Safety, Executive 
Nurse (from 03/08/20)

70-75 0 0 0 70-72.5 140-145

Mathew Beattie -  
Medical Director

155-160 0 0 0 0 155-160

Joanne Baxter -  
Director of Quality and 
Safety, Executive Nurse  
(to 30/06/20)

25-30 0 0 0
157.5-
160

180-185

Caroline Thurlbeck - 
Director of Strategy, 
Transformation & 
Workforce (to 24/02/21)

130-135 0 0 0 12.5-15 145-150

Non-Executive 
Directors

£'000 £ £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Peter Strachan - 
Chairman 

40-45 0 0 0 0 40-45

Douglas Taylor –  
Non-Executive Director

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Catherine Young –  
Non-Executive Director  
(to 31/01/22)

15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20
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Name and Title

Period 1st April 2020 - 31 March 2021

Salary 
Taxable 
Benefits

Annual Performance 
Related Bonus*

Long-Term  
Performance 

Related Bonus

All Pension 
Related 
Benefits

Total 
Remuneration

(bands of 
£5,000)

(nearest 
£100)    
Note 1

(bands of £5,000)
(bands of 
£5,000)

(bands of 
£2,500) 
Note 2

(bands of 
£5,000)Salary Earn 

Back Bonus

Helen Suddes –  
Non-Executive Director

5-10 3,400 0 0 0 5-10

Carolyn Peacock –  
Non-Executive Director  
(to 31/10/21)

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

John Marshall –  
Non-Executive Director 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Dr Gerry Morrow –  
Non-Executive Director 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15

Chris Fairs - Associate  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 01/09/20 to 
30/11/21) 

5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10

Raman Sanghera –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 18/01/21)

0-5 0 0 0 0 0-5

Paul Chandler –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 01/11/21)

0 0 0 0 0 0

Alison Slater –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 04/12/21)

0 0 0 0 0 0

Marie Liston –  
Non-Executive Director 
(from 10/01/22)

0 0 0 0 0 0

Note 1 Taxable benefits refer to a salary sacrifice lease car and HCI schemes    
Note 2 This is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the HMRC 

method.   
Note 3 There have been no payments made to past senior managers in the year. 
Note 4    The salary of the Chief Executive has not decreased between years. The reduction is due to salary 

sacrifice arrangements

*  We follow NHS guidance which states that at least 10% of the base pay salary of a very senior manager 
(VSM) should be placed at risk and subject to being paid only when agreed performance objectives have 
been met. It is not a bonus, as listed in the table above.
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Fair Pay Multiple
NHS foundation trusts are required to disclose  
the relationship between the remuneration of  
the highest-paid director in their organisation  
and the lower quartile, median and upper quartile 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. The 
banded remuneration of the highest-paid director 
in the organisation in the financial year 2021-22 
was £160k-£165k (2020-21, £160k-£165k). This 
is a change between years of 0%. This was 5 (6) 
times the median remuneration of the workforce 
which was £29,690.
   
For employees of the Trust as a whole, the range 
of remuneration in 2021/22 was £250.00 to 
£230,926.51 (2020/21 £212.85 to £227,265.11). 
The percentage change in average employee 
remuneration (based on total for all employees on 
an annualised basis divided by full time equivalent 
number of employees) between years is -1.68%. 

Four employees received remuneration in  
excess of the highest-paid director in 2021-22 
(2020-21 Four).
 
The remuneration of the employee at the 25th 
percentile, median and 75th percentile is set 
out below. The pay ratio shows the relationship 
between the total pay and benefits of the highest 
paid director (excluding pension benefits) and 
each point in the remuneration range for the 
organisation’s workforce. Total remuneration 
includes salary and non-consolidated 
performance-related pay. It does not include 
employer pension contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Table 20a – Percentage Change in Remuneration

Salary 
21/22

Bonus/
Earnback 

21/22

Salary 
20/21

Bonus/
Earnback 

21/22

Percentage 
change in 

salary

Percentage 
change in 

bonus

Highest paid Director £152,500 £15k £147,500 £15k 3% 0%

Trust Overall £37,500 £0 £32,500 £0 15% N/A

The table above shows that he highest paid director had a 3% increase in their salary compared to an 
overall Trust increase in salary of 15% for the mean salary

Table 20b – Fair Pay Multiple

Band of Highest Paid Directors Total Remuneration (£'000) 155-160 160-165

Median Total £29,690 £27,514

Remuneration Ratio 5 6
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Pension Benefits
The value of pension benefits accrued during the 
year is calculated as the real increase in pension 
multiplied by 20, less the contributions made by 
the individual. The real increase excludes increases 
due to inflation or any increase or decrease due 
to a transfer of pension rights. This value derived 
does not represent an amount that will be 
received by the individual. 

It is a calculation that is intended to provide an 
estimation of the benefit being a member of 
the pension scheme could provide. The pension 
benefit table provides further information on the 
pension benefits accruing to the individual. 

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the 
actuarially assessed capital value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a 
particular point in time. The benefits valued 
are the member’s accrued benefits and any 
contingent spouse’s pension payable from 
the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by 
a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme 
and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued 
in their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the individual 
has accrued as a consequence of their total 

membership of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure 
applies. The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 
the other pension details, include the value 
of any pension benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has transferred 
to the NHS pension scheme. They also include 
any additional pension benefit accrued to the 
member as a result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the scheme at their 
own cost.  

CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty 
of Actuaries. Benefits and related CETVs do not 
allow for any potential future adjustment arising 
from the McCloud judgment.

The method used to calculate CETVs has changed 
to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed 
Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If an 
individual was entitled to a GMP, this will affect 
the calculation of the real increase in CETV which 
has been reported. This is more likely to affect 
individuals who are members of the 1995 Section 
and 2008 Section of the NHS Pension Scheme.

Total remuneration includes salary, non-
consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-
in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not 
include employer pension contributions and the 
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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Table 20c – Fair Pay Multiple Percentiles

2021/2022
25th 

percentile
Median

75th 
percentile

Salary component of pay £24,831 £29,691 £42,993

Total pay and benefits excluding pension benefits £24,831 £29,691 £42,993

Pay and benefits excluding pension benefits: 
pay ratio for highest paid director

7:1 6:1 4:1
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Name and title Period

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age                 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump 

sum at pension 
age (bands of 

£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2022 (bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2022 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2022

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2021

Real increase 
in Employer 
Funded Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to Stakeholder 
Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Helen Ray - Chief Executive (from
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 65-70 145-150 1,393 1,332 40  0

Kevin Scollay - Group Director of Finance and Contracting
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 2.5-5.0 15-20 30-35 239 219 7 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 50-55 150-155 1,279 1,223 41 0

Karen O’Brien - Director of People and Development
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 25-30 40-45 326 301 11 0

Sarah Rushbrooke - Director of Quality and Patient Safety, Executive Nurse
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0 0 45-50 105-110 950 958 0 0

Mathew Beattie - Medical Director
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 30-35 60-65 571 532 18 0 

Period

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age                 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump 

sum at pension 
age (bands of 

£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2022 (bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2022 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2022

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2021

Real increase 
in Employer 
Funded Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to Stakeholder 
Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Helen Ray - Chief Executive (from
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

2.5-5.0 0 60-65 145-150 1,325 1,239 45 0

Kevin Scollay - Group Director of Finance and Contracting
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 15-20 30-35 218 191 10 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

0 0 50-55 150-155 1,217 1,249 0 0

Karen O’Brien - Director of People and Development
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

5.0-7.5 7.5-10.0 20-25 40-45 304 228 58 0

Sarah Rushbrooke - Director of Quality and Patient Safety, Executive Nurse (from 
03/08/20)

03/08/20 - 
31/03/21

2.5-5.0 2.5-5.0 45-50 115-120 953 859 45 0

Joanne Baxter - Director of Quality and Safety (Executive Nurse)
01/04/20 - 
27/06/20

0.0-2.5 2.5-5.0 40-45 120-125 66 727 0 0

Caroline Thurlbeck - Director of Strategy, Transformation and Workforce
01/04/20 - 
24/02/21

0.0-2.5 0 40-45 95-100 853 803 19 0
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Name and title Period

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age                 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump 

sum at pension 
age (bands of 

£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2022 (bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2022 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2022

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2021

Real increase 
in Employer 
Funded Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to Stakeholder 
Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Helen Ray - Chief Executive (from
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 65-70 145-150 1,393 1,332 40  0

Kevin Scollay - Group Director of Finance and Contracting
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 2.5-5.0 15-20 30-35 239 219 7 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 50-55 150-155 1,279 1,223 41 0

Karen O’Brien - Director of People and Development
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 25-30 40-45 326 301 11 0

Sarah Rushbrooke - Director of Quality and Patient Safety, Executive Nurse
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0 0 45-50 105-110 950 958 0 0

Mathew Beattie - Medical Director
01/04/21 - 
31/03/22

0-2.5 0 30-35 60-65 571 532 18 0 

Period

Real increase 
in pension at 
pension age                 

(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase in 
pension lump 

sum at pension 
age (bands of 

£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2022 (bands of 
£5,000)

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2022 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2022

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at 31 March 

2021

Real increase 
in Employer 
Funded Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value

Employers 
Contribution 

to Stakeholder 
Pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Helen Ray - Chief Executive (from
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

2.5-5.0 0 60-65 145-150 1,325 1,239 45 0

Kevin Scollay - Group Director of Finance and Contracting
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

0.0-2.5 0.0-2.5 15-20 30-35 218 191 10 0

Paul Liversidge - Director of Operations
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

0 0 50-55 150-155 1,217 1,249 0 0

Karen O’Brien - Director of People and Development
01/04/20 - 
31/03/21

5.0-7.5 7.5-10.0 20-25 40-45 304 228 58 0

Sarah Rushbrooke - Director of Quality and Patient Safety, Executive Nurse (from 
03/08/20)

03/08/20 - 
31/03/21

2.5-5.0 2.5-5.0 45-50 115-120 953 859 45 0

Joanne Baxter - Director of Quality and Safety (Executive Nurse)
01/04/20 - 
27/06/20

0.0-2.5 2.5-5.0 40-45 120-125 66 727 0 0

Caroline Thurlbeck - Director of Strategy, Transformation and Workforce
01/04/20 - 
24/02/21

0.0-2.5 0 40-45 95-100 853 803 19 0
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Helen Ray
Chief Executive
16 June 2022
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Looking after our people is one of the 
cornerstones of our new Trust strategy and will 
be supported by our People Plan which provides 
the foundations for the delivery of our people
priorities over the next five years. Our first 
ambition is for the Trust to be a great place to 
work and grow.

We will do this by:

• looking after our people now, supporting a 
period of recovery by creating a compassionate 
and inclusive culture, that promotes staff 
wellbeing;

• growing and empowering our workforce for 
the future, providing opportunities for learning 
and development in order to deliver the best 
possible care for our patients;

• strengthening our team ethos as #One team. 
We know from feedback, that in our response 
to the coronavirus pandemic we are stronger 
together whether that is front line, corporate 
and support staff at NEAS or working with 
our partners both regionally and on a national 
footing; and

• supporting our staff to work flexibly,  
building on our learning from 2021,  
with the appropriate support to feel safe, 
healthy, effective and connected.

Our People plan is aligned to the  
NHS People Promise.

Workforce headlines –  
recruitment and retention
We have continued to adopt new and enhanced 
ways to recruit and retain high calibre staff, 
both in relation to our frontline teams and 
support functions. Following a number of large 
recruitment campaigns for health advisors, we 
now have a strong pipeline of candidates and we 
have increased capacity by opening an operations 
centre in the south of the region.  

The Trust’s monthly turnover fluctuates around 
1% per month; averaging 0.96%, with an 
average annual turnover rate of 9.59%.  

Staff Report
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Workforce headlines - staff wellbeing
The health and wellbeing of our people has 
continued to be a priority for the Trust as 
we enter a period of recovery following the 
pandemic.  In September 2021 we launched the 
Health and Wellbeing group and secured funding 
for two staff wellbeing roles to develop and drive 
activity across the Trust. This has included running 
three welfare cars, delivering healthy snacks  
and hot drinks to our frontline crews delayed  
at hospitals. 

In November 2021 all staff received a £20 
wellbeing voucher and in January 2022 we 
launched Trauma Risk Management (TRiM)  
which is a confidential intervention designed  
to help colleagues process trauma experienced  
in the line of duty.

As part of a whole system absence management 
review, we have held a series of stakeholder 
groups to understand the experiences of our 
people and managers when reporting and 
managing absence. Through analysing our 
absence data, we have set a new sickness absence 
ambition underpinned with specific service line 
activity to promote a healthy working culture. 

The sickness absence rate for the year end (31 
March 2022) was 9.20% (8.42% with COVID 
absences excluded). More statistics in relation  
to sickness absence can be found on the NHS 
Digital website:
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/
publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absencerates 

We have undertaken a review of our Help Hub to 
ensure we build on the suite of healthy tips and 
self-help tools to support our people. 

As a result of COVID-19 many of our teams 
have adapted to agile working over the last 
12 months. 216 employees have now signed 
new agile working contracts, which allows us 
to use some of our estates in a different way. 
We recognise the importance of supporting our 
agile working staff and last year we introduced 
our “leading from your laptop” development 
programme to provide leaders with the 
opportunity to reflect and understand how best 
to approach virtual leadership. We launched 
a digital pledge to encourage agile workers 
to consider their wellbeing when desk-based 
and working remotely. As we recover from the 
pandemic, we are also encouraging teams to 
remain connected by offering more hybrid ways 
of working and increasing the agile working 
locations across the Trust sites.

Analysis of staff costs and numbers  
(subject to audit)
An analysis of our average staff numbers for the 
year is shown below (in respect of wholetime 
equivalent numbers). The ‘other’ category 
includes staff engaged by the Trust that do not 
have a permanent employment contract. This 
includes employees on short-term contracts 
of employment, temporary staff and inward 
secondments from other organisations. 
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As at 31 March 2022 the gender split of the 
Trust’s workforce was as per the table below. 
Note: Directors includes Executive, Medical, Chair 
& Non-Executive and Associate Non-Executive 
Directors. (This table is not subject to audit)

Table 22: Workforce Numbers

Staff Group
Permanent 

Staff 
2021/22

Other 
2021/22

Total 
2021/22

Permanent 
Staff 

2020/21

Other
2020/21

Total 
2020/21

Ambulance staff 2,225 5 2,230 2,203 24 2,226

Medical and Dental 10 0 10 10 0 10

Administration and 
Estates

384 5 390 370 3 374

Health Advisors 66 8 74 66 6 71

Nursing, Midwifery and 
Health visiting staff

55 15 70 51 17 68

Scientific, Therapeutic 
and Technical staff

2 0 2 1 0 1

Others 2 0 2 2 0 2

Total Average 
numbers

2,744 32 2,776 2,703 50 2,752

* Please note that due to rounding differences some of the above figures do not exactly correlate  
to the totals shown.

Table 23: Workforce Gender Split

Staff Group
Assignment 

Category
Male

2021/22
Female
2021/22

Male
2020/21

Female
2020/21

Directors 
Full time 4 3 3 3

Part time 5 3 5 3

Other Senior Managers 
(Agenda for Change 
Bands 8a to 8d)

Full time 28 26 22 21

Part time 1 4 1 4

Employees
Full time 1260 991 1,249 918

Part time 232 443 202 437
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Staff policies and actions
Our people policies are formally reviewed every 
three years, or more frequently if required, to 
ensure that they are fit for purpose and reflect 
the latest requirements and good practice.  
This includes equality analysis assessments  
which ensures our people with additional  
needs are identified, assessed and any necessary 
actions taken (ie, to support staff from ethnic 
communities, disabled staff, staff who identify 
as lesbian, gay, or bisexual). We are developing 
a range of toolkits and guidance documents to 
underpin our policies and support our managers.

Engagement with staff representatives
We remain fully committed to working in 
partnership with our Trade Union colleagues to
ensure the views of people are considered in our 
decision making. We have established weekly 
Trade Union engagement meetings to maintain 
regular dialogue around key issues that affect 
our people. Regular consultation on key issues 
takes place at our Joint Consultative Committee, 
attended by both staff representatives and senior 
managers/Directors, on a bi-monthly basis. All 
policies and procedures that have potential impact 
on our with people are reviewed in our monthly 
policy sub group with trade union partners. 
 
We support regular and consistent trade union 
facility time across both our main union partners 
which is reported accordingly Public-sector trade 
union facility time data - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Occupational Health 
Our occupational health team continues  
to provide a specialist nurse-led clinical service 
that benefits both staff and patients and as 
one of only two in-house Occupational Health 
Services within an Ambulance Trust in the UK,  
is seen as an investment in the health and 
wellbeing of our people.

In maintaining Safe, Effective Quality 
Occupational Health Service (SEQOHS) 
accreditation since 2013 the team’s delivery 
continues to be underpinned by the following 
principles:

• Strong focus on a high quality, clinically led, 
evidence-based service

• An equitable and accessible service for the 
whole workforce

• Impartial, approachable and receptive to both 
clients and employer

• Articulates the range of services required

• Contributes to improved organisational 
productivity

• Works in partnership with all NHS 
organisations and within the community

• Strives for innovation and excellence

• Offers diversity and depth of specialisation  
and training opportunities.
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Contributing to the prevention of ill health 
or injury at work, the team provides timely 
interventions focussed on addressing the main 
causes of sickness absence (musculoskeletal and 
mental ill health). It prides itself on offering all 
staff access to:

• a Rapid Access Physiotherapy Service that has 
been in situ since 2008

• a Rapid Access Psychological Service that offers 
Counselling, Cognitive Behaviour Therapy, Eye 
Movement Desensitisation and Reprocessing 
(EMDR) Therapy and Clinical Psychology

• an Occupational Health Consultant with varied 
emergency services experience

The clinicians ensure that a wealth of evidence-
based treatments, guidance and support is 
available each week, caring for staff on an 
individual basis. Working alongside the Trust 
management teams, human resources and 
union colleagues, particularly in undertaking 
case review meetings, the service is instrumental 
in supporting staff in either returning to or 
remaining at work.

The team engages with all staff at all stages of 
their employment by actively participating in 
the corporate induction, undertaking mobile 
clinics in a well-equipped purpose-built vehicle, 
responding to daily referrals generated by the 
staff themselves or management referrals and 
working with staff who are due to retire. NEASUS 
colleagues continue to have hand vibration 
screening undertaken and the HART team have  
a customised medical in relation to their role.

Where reasonably practicable, annual health 
surveillance has been undertaken with specific 
staff groups within the Trust. As a result of 
continued escalation and pressures across 
the Trust, the service has had to adapt a 
range of services to alternative ways without 
compromising on quality. During the continued 
Covid-19 pandemic, information and practical 
guidance was offered to those staff suffering 
from the effects of having Covid-19 and those 
who were deployed to alternative roles. The 
team continued to embrace the use of PPE 
in particularly by maintaining all vaccination 
programmes (including Covid-19 and flu), 
pre-employment medicals and musculoskeletal 
screening. 
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Staff Survey for the Annual Report 2021

Statement of approach to staff engagement

We engage with and gather feedback from our 
people in several ways, including the annual NHS 
staff survey, our quarterly people pulse survey and 
our recently formed task group. We also have a 
number of staff networks from whom we gather 
information, and we receive informal feedback 
through our welfare car and the Workplace social 
media platform. The executive team have also 
undertaken live Q and As and roadshows.

In this summary we will highlight the key results 
from the NHS Staff Survey 2021 which we have 
triangulated with data from our people pulse 
and task group, to identify trends and key areas 
for action.

The national annual NHS staff survey aims to 
collate employee views on their experience at work 
in several key areas and this year the survey has 
seen significant changes. Many new questions 
were added, and some removed, to align to 
the national people promise and to support 
the delivery of the NHS people plan. Due to the 
significant changes to this year’s survey, and the 
introduction of new questions, we do not have 
historical data for every question or every promise, 
to compare our performance to 2020. 

Introduction to Survey Results

The results of the most recent survey highlight 
a number of areas of concern, particularly 
when compared with other ambulance trusts. 
Whilst some of this may be expected due to 
the pandemic, we have already recognised in 
our strategy that recovery for our people - both 
colleagues and patients - is our focus over the 
next two years. Some of the steps we are already 
taking include: seeking additional funding to 
recruit more resources, looking at different ways 
to support health and wellbeing, addressing the 
inflexibility of our rostering processes, improving 
supplies & equipment to frontline colleagues, and 
working with partners across the North East to 
reduce ambulance handover delays. All of these 
actions will support a better patient and colleague 
experience, improved morale, and address some of 
the staff survey areas for improvement.

It is also unsurprising that colleagues across the 
ambulance sector, within NEAS and the wider 
NHS, have reported feeling burnout and therefore 
have not had the most positive experience 
over the last 12 months. We recognise that the 
cumulative effect of COVID and high pressure on 
all our services has impacted on the staff survey 
results this year, albeit we also acknowledge there 
are things we can all do to change this. There 
are some results that we want to understand 
further with colleagues, particularly where teams 
are reporting an increase in harassment and/
or bullying, as there is no place for this in our 
organisation where we are striving to show our 
values of CARE each and every day. We will be 
looking to understand this more through a range 
of face-to-face activities over the coming weeks 
and months. Further detail on the staff survey 
results and our response, is provided on the 
following pages.
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Summary of Performance

Response rate
Our response rate has increased to 50%, 
recovering the dip we had seen in the last few 
years, shown in the table below. With the size of 
our workforce, a response rate over 30% indicates 
that the results are statistically significant.

Table 24: NEAS response rates in relation to other Ambulance Trusts

Year
Trust Response 

Rate
Best Response Rate 
(Ambulance Sector)

Average Rate 
(Ambulance Sector)

Worst Response 
Rate (Ambulance 

Sector)

2017 54% = (1,325) 61% 42% 34%

2018 49% = (1,204) 65% 49% 34%

2019 47% = (1,225) 71% 50% 41%

2020 45% = (1,257) 73% 56% 37%

2021 50% = (1,456) 67% 56% 34%

NEAS response rates in relation to other Ambulance Trusts.
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People Promise Results

The Trust has received a summary score for each 
of the seven People Promise elements, and two 
key themes of Morale and Staff Engagement.  
The score is on a scale of 0 to 10, with 10 being 
the highest possible positive score.

  Best 7.1 5.6 6.6 5.6 4.9 5.6 6.4 6.3 5.5

  NEAS 6.6 4.8 5.7 5.2 4.4 4.4 5.8 5.7 5.0

  Average 6.6 5.1 5.9 5.3 4.4 4.9 5.9 5.9 5.3

  Worst 6.0 4.4 5.2 4.9 3.3 4.4 5.2 5.2 4.6

Reponses 1456 1453 1446 1451 1367 1448 1454 1455 1456

Score (0-10)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

We are compassionate 
and inclusive

We are recognised  
and rewarded

We each have a voice 
that counts

We are safe and healthy

We are always learning

We work flexibly

We are a team

Staff engagement

Morale

Table 25: NEAS overall scores against the People Promise and key themes in relation to the 
Ambulance Trust average, and the best and worst scores.
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Table 25 indicates the score for NEAS, the 
average for ambulance trusts and the best 
and worst scores for each promise and theme. 
As shown, NEAS scores comparably with 
the two People Promise elements of ‘we are 
compassionate and inclusive’ and ‘we are always 
learning’, however all other scores sit below 
the average for ambulance trusts. We have the 
lowest score when compared to other ambulance 
trusts for the promise ‘we work flexibly’.

Data for the ten indicator themes used in 
previous years is shown below:
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Table 25a: NEAS scores against the 10 indicators of previous surveys 

2020/21 2019/20

Trust 
Score

 Benchmarking
group score

Trust 
Score

 Benchmarking
group score

Equality, diversity and inclusion 8.4 8.5 8.6 8.5

Health and wellbeing 5.2 5.5 5.0 5.0

Immediate managers 6.4 6.4 6.2 6.3

Quality of care 7.5 7.5 7.5 7.4

Safe environment – bullying and 
harassment

7.4 7.4 7.3 7.4

Safe environment – violence 8.9 8.8 8.8 8.8

Safety Culture 6.4 6.4 6.2 6.2
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Table 26: Engagement and morale scores 2017- 2021 and compared to the average for 2021

Theme 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Average 

2021

Engagement 6.4 6.5 6.2 6.3 5.7 5.9

Morale N/A 5.8 5.5 5.7 5.0 5.3

Table 27: NEAS Engagement Scores compared to the Ambulance Trust average for 2017-2021

Engagement 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

NEAS 6.4 6.5 6.2 6.3 5.7

Average 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.3 5.9

Table 28: NEAS Morale Scores compared to the Ambulance Trust average for 2017-2021

Morale 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

NEAS N/A 5.7 5.5 5.7 5.0

Average N/A 5.5 5.5 5.7 5.3

Staff Engagement and Morale

Due to changes to the survey for 2021, we are 
unable to provide historical comparison scores 
for the people promises. However, the themes 
of staff engagement and morale have remained, 
and we have provided the scores below for the 
past 5 years.
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People Promise Sub Scores

The questions which make up each people 
promise have been divided further into ‘sub 
scores’, shown in the table below (figure 6)  
which provide additional detail. The sub scores 
are out of 10, with 10 being the highest possible 
positive score. 

This data shows that we have performed higher 
than average in two sub scores, appraisals 
and burnout, although there is still room for 
improvement for NEAS and across the sector,  
in all areas.

Table 29: People promise sub scores for NEAS, compared to the average score for Ambulance 
Trusts and the highest scores for 2021

People Promise Sub Score
NEAS 
Score

Sector 
Average

Highest 
Score

Above 
average 
scores

We are safe and healthy Burnout 4.3 4.2 4.6

We are always learning Appraisals 3.3 2.8 3.6

Average 
scores

We are compassionate and inclusive Inclusion 6.4 6.4 6.7

We are compassionate and inclusive Compassionate culture 6.4 6.4 6.8

We are compassionate and inclusive Raising Concerns  6.6 6.6 6.8

We are a team Team Working 5.9 5.9 6.3

Below 
average 
scores

We are compassionate and inclusive Diversity and equality 7.4 7.5 8.2

We are compassionate and inclusive Compassionate Leadership 6.1 6.3 6.9

We each have a voice that counts Autonomy and Control 5.5 5.8 6.4

We are safe and healthy Health and Safety Climate 4.6 4.7 5.1

We are safe and healthy Negative Experiences 6.8 6.9 7.4

We are always learning Development 5.5 5.8 6.2

We work flexibly Support for work-life balance 4.6 5.0 5.8

We work flexibly Flexible working 4.2 4.8 5.5

We are a team Line Management 5.7 5.9 6.6
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Friends and Family Questions

Another key indicator of how our people feel 
are the “Friends and Family” questions, which 
are measured each quarter. The results show 
that we have seen a very significant decline in 
the responses to these two questions and whilst 
they may be expected due to the pandemic, they 
require further work to understand the reasons 
behind these indicators. 

Table 30: Scores for the two Staff Friends and Family questions for 2020 and 2021

Question
NEAS  

% 2020
NEAS  

% 2021
% 

Difference

I would recommend my organisation as a place  
to work. 

57% 39% -17.70%

If a friend or relative needed treatment I would  
be happy with the standard of care provided by 
this organisation. 

78% 66% -11.87%

Conclusions and Key Findings
We have studied the feedback from the staff 
survey in conjunction with the data from our 
January 2022 people pulse and task group. Data 
shows us that overall performance has declined 
this year. We are doing well around some 
areas including teams working well together, 
colleagues supporting each other and ensuring 
our colleagues have an appraisal.

Over the last five years, it can be seen there has 
been a positive upward trend as colleagues feel 
able to raise concerns around clinical practice and 
reporting violence and aggression. Colleagues 
who were redeployed or required to work in an 
agile way have also reported higher scores across 
the people promise themes, some in line with the 
highest scores in the sector which is positive. 

Despite this, there is a clear indication that our 
colleagues are feeling burnt out. Our health and 
wellbeing score from the staff survey is below 
average, although positive feedback from the 
January 2022 people pulse indicates that recent 
actions taken to support wellbeing from the 
introduction of a wellbeing task and finish group 
in Autumn 2021 may be starting to have a 
positive impact for our workforce.

Lack of opportunities for flexible working patterns 
is a constant concern for colleagues, with 
themes around creating more flexible rotas, relief 
shifts, and annual leave opportunities already 
highlighted to the Trust through other forums 
and therefore work is underway to address 
this. Some of this data is expected due to the 
pandemic. However, we are below average when 
comparing to other ambulance trusts in several 
key areas, where action is needed to improve the 
experience for our teams and colleagues. 
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Current Activity and Future Priorities
We continue to review all feedback we receive 
from our people, triangulate the key findings, and 
use this to ensure the actions we are taking will 
address any concerns raised. 

Current activities that are in progress that align to 
our Trust strategy and focus on recovery, include:

Table 31: Current activity and future priorities

Health and 
Wellbeing

Health and Wellbeing Task and Finish group and Two Health and Wellbeing Leads 

Snack boxes have been provided to our frontline workforce

Introduction of welfare cars to visit crews at Emergency Departments

£20 wellbeing voucher provided to all staff in November 2021

We have supported COVID and flu vaccine delivery

Redesigned ‘Help Hub’ on our Intranet, for quick access to wellbeing resources

We are currently reviewing our absence policy and the absence recording system

We have recently introduced the TRiM (Trauma Risk Management) Programme to 
support colleague welfare with difficult and traumatic experiences

A mental health practitioner will be joining our occupational health team in May 2022

Engagement We continue to gather feedback from our colleagues through a number of routes, 
including staff networks, live Q&As and roadshows, informal feedback through social 
media/Workplace and our welfare cars

Our recently formed Task Group is made up of colleagues across the organisation 
and they are in the process of managing over 200 ideas from colleagues, such as key 
operational issues around equipment and resources

An annual leave working group has recently been set up to review leave arrangements 
for operational colleagues

Additional 
Activities

We have carried out a review of agile working, including introducing additional agile 
spaces and equipment 

We have carried out a restructure across operational management to improve visibility 
and to provide dedicated clinical team leadership support

We are reviewing leadership development, to better support our leaders and offer a 
more flexible approach to training opportunities, including CPD and “off the road” 
time for clinical leadership sessions

Our appraisal paperwork is under review and will launch later this year

A refresh of our behaviour framework is underway and due to be launched in the 
next few months
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In addition to the activities that have already 
commenced we have identified actions that will be 
progressed over the next 12 months, including:

• Introduction of local team level reporting and 
working with our directorate leads to review 
the data for their areas. 

• Investigating the data around bullying and 
harassment in more detail and triangulate with 
free text comments, Freedom to Speak Up 
Guardian, grievances and exit interviews to get 
a more detailed picture. 

• Keeping the conversation going and continue 
to engage with our people, trade unions and 
staff networks across the year to gather their 
views on specific survey questions and themes.

We will also continue to look for new ways to 
engage with our colleagues to ensure we build a 
healthy culture across our organisation. We have 
committed as a Trust to ensure over the coming 
years we have a set of achievable actions within 
our people plan to try and realise our ambition for 
NEAS to be a great place to work and grow. 
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The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance 
contains guidance on good corporate governance. 
NHS England and Improvement, as the healthcare 
sector regulator, is keen to ensure that NHS 
Foundation Trusts have the autonomy and 
flexibility to ensure their structures and processes 
work well for their individual organisations, whilst 
making sure they meet overall requirements. 
For this reason, the Code is designed around a 
“comply or explain” basis. NHS Improvement 
recognises that departure from the specific 
provisions of the Code may be justified in 
particular circumstances, and reasons for non-
compliance with the Code should be explained.

North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust has applied the principles of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply 
or explain basis. The Code, most recently revised 
in July 2014, is based on principles of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012 and 
most recently revised in 2019.

There are other disclosures and statements 
(mandatory disclosures) that we are required to 
make, even where we are fully compliant.

The mandatory disclosures have already been made 
within the main text of the Annual Report and 
section references are therefore provided below.

Table 32: NHS FT Mandatory Disclosures

Code ref. Summary of requirement Section reference

A.1.1 The Schedule of Matters reserved for the Board of Directors should 
include a clear statement detailing the roles and responsibilities of the 
Council of Governors.

Directors’ Report 
– The Board 
and Governor 
Relationship 

This statement should also describe how any disagreements between 
the council of governors and the board of directors will be resolved. 
The annual report should include this schedule of matters or a 
summary statement of how the board of directors and the council 
of governors operate, including a summary of the types of decisions 
to be taken by each of the boards and which are delegated to the 
executive management of the board of directors.

A.1.2

The annual report should identify the chairperson, the deputy 
chairperson (where there is one), the chief executive, the senior 
independent director (see A.4.1) and the chairperson and members of 
the nominations, audit and remuneration committees. It should also 
set out the number of meetings of the board and those committees 
and individual attendance by directors.

Directors’ Report – 
Board Composition  

Directors Report – 
Audit Committee

Remuneration 
Report – 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committee

A.5.3 The annual report should identify the members of the Council of 
Governors, including a description of the constituency or organisation 
that they represent, whether they were elected or appointed, and the 
duration of their appointments. The annual report should also identify 
the nominated lead governor. 

Directors’ Report 
– Council of 
Governors 
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Code ref. Summary of requirement Section reference

FT ARM The annual report should include a statement about the number  
of meetings of the Council of Governors and individual attendance  
by governors and directors. 

Directors’ Report – 
Board Composition 
and table

Directors’ Report 
– Council of 
Governors and 
table.

B.1.1 The Board of Directors should identify in the annual report each  
non-executive director it considers to be independent, with reasons 
where necessary. 

Directors’ Report – 
Board Composition 
section and table

B.1.4 The Board of Directors should include in its annual report a description 
of each director’s skills, expertise, and experience. Alongside this, in 
the annual report, the Board should make a clear statement about its 
own balance, completeness and appropriateness to the requirements 
of the NHS foundation trust. 

Directors’ Report – 
Board Composition 

FT ARM The annual report should include a brief description of the length  
of appointments of the non-executive directors, and how they may 
be terminated 

Directors’ Report – 
Board of Directors 

Directors’ Report – 
Board Composition 
and table shows 
appointment 
length

B.2.10 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work  
of the nominations committee(s), including the process it has used  
in relation to Board appointments. 

Annual Report on 
Remuneration – 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committee

FT ARM The disclosure in the annual report on the work of the nominations 
committee should include an explanation if neither an external search 
consultancy nor open advertising has been used in the appointment 
of a chair or non-executive director. 

Not applicable – 
open advertising 
was used for all 
vacant Board 
positions.

B.3.1 A chairperson’s other significant commitments should be disclosed 
to the Council of Governors before appointment and included in the 
annual report. Changes to such commitments should be reported to 
the Council of Governors as they arise and included in the next annual 
report.

Declaration of 
Interests 

B.5.6 Governors should canvass the opinion of the trust’s members and the 
public, and for appointed governors the body they represent, on the 
NHS foundation trust’s forward plan, including its objectives, priorities 
and strategy, and their views should be communicated to the Board of 
Directors. The annual report should contain a statement as to how this 
requirement has been undertaken and satisfied. 

Directors’ Report 
– Council of 
Governors 

Directors’ Report 
– The Board 
and Governor 
Relationship

B.6.1 The Board of Directors should state in the annual report how 
performance evaluation of the Board, its committees, and its directors, 
including the chairperson, has been conducted. 

Directors’ Report 
– Performance 
Evaluation section
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Code ref. Summary of requirement Section reference

B.6.2 Where there has been external evaluation of the Board and/or 
governance of the trust, the external facilitator should be identified  
in the annual report and a statement made as to whether they have 
any other connection to the trust. 

Directors’ Report 
– NHSI Well Led 
Framework

C.1.1 The directors should explain in the annual report their responsibility 
for preparing the annual report and accounts, and state that they 
consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced, and understandable and provide the information necessary 
for patients, regulators, and other stakeholders to assess the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance, business model and strategy. Directors 
should also explain their approach to quality governance in the 
Annual Governance Statement (within the annual report). 

Performance 
Report: Overview 
– Going Concern 
section

Further disclosures 
are made in the 
Annual Governance 
Statement

C.2.1 The annual report should contain a statement that the Board has 
conducted a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal 
controls. 

Annual Governance 
Statement

C.2.2 A trust should disclose in the annual report: 
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured 
and what role it performs; or 
(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the 
processes it employs for evaluating and continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes. 

Directors’ Report – 
Audit Committee 
section

C.3.5 If the Council of Governors does not accept the audit committee’s 
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment or removal 
of an external auditor, the Board of Directors should include in the 
annual report a statement from the audit committee explaining the 
recommendation and should set out reasons why the Council of 
Governors has taken a different position. 

Not applicable for 
2021/22

C.3.9 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work 
of the audit committee in discharging its responsibilities. The report 
should include: 
• the significant issues that the committee considered in relation to 

financial statements, operations and compliance, and how these 
issues were addressed; 

• an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the 
external audit process and the approach taken to the appointment 
or re-appointment of the external auditor, the value of external 
audit services and information on the length of tenure of the 
current audit firm and when a tender was last conducted; and 

• if the external auditor provides non-audit services, the value of the 
non-audit services provided and an explanation of how auditor 
objectivity and independence are safeguarded. 

Directors’ Report – 
Audit Committee 

D.1.3 Where an NHS foundation trust releases an executive director, 
for example to serve as a non-executive director elsewhere, the 
remuneration disclosures of the annual report should include a 
statement of whether or not the director will retain such earnings. 

Not applicable for 
2021/22

E.1.5 The Board of Directors should state in the annual report the steps they 
have taken to ensure that the members of the Board, and in particular 
the non-executive directors, develop an understanding of the views of 
governors and members about the NHS foundation trust, for example 
through attendance at meetings of the Council of Governors, direct 
face-to-face contact, surveys of members’ opinions and consultations. 

Directors’ Report 
– The Board 
and Governor 
Relationship
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Code ref. Summary of requirement Section reference

E.1.6 The Board of Directors should monitor how representative the NHS 
foundation trust’s membership is and the level and effectiveness of 
member engagement and report on this in the annual report. 

Directors’ Report 
– Foundation 
Trust Membership 
section

E.1.4 Contact procedures for members who wish to communicate with 
governors and/or directors should be made clearly available to 
members on the NHS foundation trust’s website and in the annual 
report. 

Directors’ Report 
– Foundation Trust 
Membership 

FT ARM The annual report should include: 
• a brief description of the eligibility requirements for joining different 

membership constituencies, including the boundaries for public 
membership; 

• information on the number of members and the number of 
members in each constituency; and 

• a summary of the membership strategy, an assessment of the 
membership and a description of any steps taken during the year 
to ensure a representative membership [see also E.1.6 above], 
including progress towards any recruitment targets for members.

Directors’ Report 
– Foundation Trust 
Membership 

FT ARM The annual report should disclose details of company directorships 
or other material interests in companies held by governors and/
or directors where those companies or related parties are likely to 
do business, or are possibly seeking to do business, with the NHS 
foundation trust. As each NHS foundation trust must have registers of 
governors’ and directors’ interests which are available to the public, 
an alternative disclosure is for the annual report to simply state how 
members of the public can gain access to the registers instead of 
listing all the interests in the annual report.  

Directors’ Report 
– Declaration of 
Interests 
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NHS England and NHS Improvement’s NHS 
Oversight Framework provides the framework 
for overseeing providers and identifying potential 
support needs. The framework looks at five themes: 

• Quality of care;

• Finance and use of resources; 

• Operational performance;

• Strategic change; and

• leadership and improvement capability 
(well-led). 

Based on information from these themes, 
providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where ‘4’ 
reflects providers receiving the most support, and 
‘1’ reflects providers with maximum autonomy. 

A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 
or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or 
suspected breach of its licence.

Segmentation
The Trust is in segment 2 with targeted support 
needs identified due to operational performance. 
This is consistent with the previous year. The Trust 
is not in breach of its licence and formal action is 
not required.

This segmentation information is the 
Trust’s position as at 17 May 2022. Current 
segmentation information for NHS trusts and 
foundation trusts is published on the NHS 
Improvement website.
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The NHS Act 2006 states that the chief executive 
is the accounting officer of the NHS foundation 
trust. The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their responsibility 
for the propriety and regularity of public finances 
for which they are answerable, and for the 
keeping of proper accounts, are set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum issued by NHS Improvement. 

NHS Improvement, in exercise of the powers 
conferred on Monitor by the NHS Act 2006, 
has given Accounts Directions which require the 
North East Ambulance Service NHS foundation 
trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the 
basis required by those Directions. The accounts 
are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of North 
East Ambulance Service NHS foundation trust 
and of its income and expenditure, other items 
of comprehensive income and cash flows for the 
financial year. 

In preparing the accounts and overseeing the 
use of public funds, the Accounting Officer is 
required to comply with the requirements of the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group 
Accounting Manual and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by 
NHS Improvement, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements,  
and apply suitable accounting policies on  
a consistent basis 

• make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis 

• state whether applicable accounting standards 
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual (and the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group Accounting 
Manual) have been followed, and disclose  
and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds complies 
with the relevant legislation, delegated 
authorities and guidance 

• confirm that the annual report and accounts, 
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information 
necessary for patients, regulators and 
stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation 
trust’s performance, business model and 
strategy and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis and disclose any material 
uncertainties over going concern. 

The accounting officer is responsible for keeping 
proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the NHS foundation trust and 
to enable them to ensure that the accounts 
comply with requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
NHS foundation trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities. 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the foundation trust’s 
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the 
steps that I ought to have taken to make myself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of 
that information. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have 
properly discharged the responsibilities set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum. 

Signed

 
Chief Executive
Date: 21 June 2022

Statement of Accounting  
Officer’s Responsibilities
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Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the 
NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and departmental assets for which I am 
personally responsible, in accordance with 
the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also 
responsible for ensuring that the NHS Foundation 
Trust is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities 
as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

The purpose of the system of 
internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level rather than 
to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, 
aims and objectives; it can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
of effectiveness. The system of internal control 
is based on an on-going process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of the policies, aims and objectives of North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, 
to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically. The system of internal control has 
been in place in North East Ambulance Service 
NHS Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 
March 2022 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk 

Leadership
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility 
for the management of risk within the 
Foundation Trust. The Medical Director is 
designated as the Executive Lead for risk 
management and is responsible for ensuring that 

there are robust systems and processes in place 
for effective risk management and for ensuring 
that the Risk Management Strategy and Policy are 
implemented and evaluated.  These are effectively 
implemented via the Annual Risk Management 
Plan which is monitored by the Executive 
Management Group.  Professional support is 
provided by the Head of Risk and Regulatory 
Services. 

The Board of Directors receive a quarterly 
risk management report containing the 
Board Assurance Framework (BAF) and the 
Organisational Risk Register (ORR), both of which 
are subject to regular scrutiny at the Executive 
Management Group. Additionally, the strategic 
risks on the Board Assurance Framework are 
mapped to an appropriate Non-Executive 
Director-chaired Board Committee, and the 
relevant extracts are reviewed at every meeting of 
the Board Committees.

Executive Directors of the Foundation Trust 
have the responsibility for leadership in risk 
management for their own Directorates. On 
a cyclical basis the Directorate and service 
risk registers are scrutinised by the Executive 
Management Group (EMG).
 
The current NEAS operational governance 
structure was developed in late 2019/early 2020, 
however its implementation was paused due to 
the outbreak of the pandemic in March 2020. 
Since then, key internal and external drivers such 
as the launch of the new five-year strategy in 
August 2021 and the creation of operational 
service lines aligned to the boundaries of the 
three integrated care partnerships, have indicated 
a need to review the effectiveness of the EMG 
and the governance sub-structure beneath it, to 
ensure they remain fit-for-purpose and aligned to 
the delivery of our strategic objectives.
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EMG continues to be responsible for the 
operational management of the Trust and for 
the delivery of strategic objectives. It holds 
responsibility for delivery of the annual operating 
plan, strategic plans, corporate objectives, and 
the mitigation of corporate risks.  However, 
the move to service lines requires new ways 
of working, based around the principles of 
subsidiarity, accountability and devolved 
leadership. To this end, the Terms of Reference 
and membership of the EMG have been revised 
in order to create the opportunity for service line 
conversations, create dedicated space for strategy 
and transformation, while continuing to do the 
existing business of the EMG. 

Risk management is also embedded within the 
sub-group structure that reports to EMG. 

The Audit and Risk Committee continues to lead 
on seeking assurance over the effectiveness of 
the control environment for risk management. 

Foundation Trust managers are responsible for 
the management of day-to-day risks of all types 
within their management structure and budget 
allocation.  They are charged with ensuring that 
risk assessments are undertaken throughout 
their area of responsibility on a pro-active basis 
and that remedial action is carried out where 
problems are identified in order to reduce or 
mitigate that risk. 

Risk training
It is the policy of the Foundation Trust to provide 
and maintain, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
all plant, systems of work (including safe use, 
handling, storage and transport of substances and 
articles), places of work and working conditions, 
such that they are safe and with minimal risks to 
employees, as well as to non-employees, and to 
provide such information, instruction and training 
as is necessary for this purpose.  

Due to the significant pressures faced by the 
Foundation Trust during the year, no specific risk 
management training was delivered to the Board. 
This was scheduled but cancelled due to the 
pressures faced by the Foundation Trust and wider 
health system.  All Board Members received health 
and safety training as part of the Foundation Trust’s 
statutory and mandatory training programme.

Risk management is incorporated in the 
Foundation Trust’s induction and statutory and 
mandatory training programme.  General risk 
awareness/health and safety training is also 
provided to all staff on an annual basis according 
to their level of need/responsibility. 

The Risk Management Strategy, policies and 
procedures and responsibilities are held in the 
Foundation Trust’s Document Management 
System, available to all staff.

The Medical Directorate has a number of 
appropriately qualified and experienced staff 
to lead, support and advise staff at all levels 
of the organisation with the identification and 
management of risk. 

All adverse events are recorded and investigated by 
the Foundation Trust utilising the Ulysses System.  
Those of a serious nature are considered by the 
Clinical Review Group and Executive Safety Panel, 
with the latter chaired by the Director of Quality 
and Safety. The outcomes of such incidents inform 
future training plans, policies and wider learning 
for the Foundation Trust.

The Foundation Trust has representation on the 
National Ambulance Risk and Safety Forum and 
various other national and regional groups which 
promote active benchmarking and learning from 
good practice.
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The risk and control framework 
The Foundation Trust endeavours to establish 
a positive risk culture within the organisation 
where every member of staff feels committed 
and empowered to identify and correct/escalate 
system weaknesses. 

The Trust Board is committed to ensuring a robust 
infrastructure is in place to manage risks from 
operational level to Board level, and that where 
risks crystallise, demonstrable improvements can 
be put in place. 

The Foundation Trust therefore has a 
comprehensive Risk Management Strategy, 
Procedures and Plans.  The Risk Management 
Strategy describes how risks are identified, 
recorded and managed via the electronic Ulysses 
system and how they are quantified, using a risk 
scoring matrix. This allows standardisation of risk 
assessment across the Foundation Trust, utilising 
a common currency. The strategy also requires 
action plans to be determined and implemented 
for those risks that are inadequately controlled.  
The Foundation Trust also has a number of 
associated policies and procedures.

The Annual Risk Management Plan is reported 
into the EMG on a quarterly basis. The 
Foundation Trust recognises that it is impossible 
and not always desirable to eliminate all risks 
and that systems of control should not be so 
rigid that they stifle innovation and imaginative 
use of limited resources, in order to achieve 
health benefits for patients. The strategy defines 
the leadership, responsibility and accountability 
arrangements of risk within the Foundation 
Trust.  It promotes integrated governance and 
the philosophy of Enterprise Risk Management 
(ERM).  ERM dictates that risk management is 
systematic, robust and evident, that it should 
identify potential events that may affect the 
organisation and manage risks to be within its 
risk appetite. The strategy covers non-clinical, 
clinical, organisational and financial risks. It also 
requires that risk management processes are 
applied to business planning at all levels and that 

risk management issues are communicated to key 
stakeholders where necessary.  

The Risk Management Strategy also contains a 
section on risk appetite and risk maturity. Due 
to the pressures faced by the Foundation Trust 
during 2021/2022, the Trust Board session on risk 
appetite and maturity was postponed until Q1 
2022/23. The Foundation Trust has therefore not 
yet formally reviewed the risk appetite statement 
and risk maturity. The previously reported position 
agreed that the Trust’s appetite was assessed 
as High, the risk to the delivery of our Strategy 
within the Trust’s accountability and compliance 
frameworks whilst maximising performance 
within value for money frameworks.

The Trust may take considered risks, where the 
long-term benefits outweigh any short-term 
losses. Well managed risk taking will ensure that 
the skills, ability and knowledge are there to 
support innovation and maximise opportunities 
to further improve services. The Trust commits to 
review its risk appetite statement on an annual 
basis and/or following any significant changes or 
events.  

There have been no changes to the assessment of 
the Trusts risk maturity since the Board reviewed 
its risk maturity in February 2020 and an internal 
self-assessment indicated that the Foundation 
Trust had maintained its risk maturity as ‘risk 
enabled’ level. 

In terms of external reviews, the AuditOne 
team conducted a risk-based audit of the Board 
Assurance Framework and Risk Management. 
The final Internal audit report for the BAF 
concluded: governance, risk management 
and control arrangements provide substantial 
assurance that the risks identified are managed 
effectively. Compliance with the control 
framework was found to be taking place. For risk 
management, the report concluded: governance, 
risk management and control arrangements 
provide reasonable assurance that the risks 
identified are managed effectively. Compliance 
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with the control framework was not found to 
be taking place in a consistent manner. Some 
moderate remedial action is required.  A plan to 
address the risks is already in place.

Board Assurance Framework
The arrangements in place to manage the 
organisation’s risk also include the Trust’s 
Board Assurance Framework (BAF).  The BAF 
provides the Trust with a method for effective 
management of the principal strategic risks to 
meeting its corporate objectives and links to 
the Trust’s mission, vision and strategic aims.  
The BAF is directly linked to the relevant risk 
registers therefore improving the governance 
arrangements. It provides a structure for evidence 
to support the Annual Governance Statement.  

The Board Assurance Framework includes the 
following key elements:

• Srategic objectives of the Foundation Trust by 
the responsible Director, with each objective 
mapped to a Board Committee for monitoring

• A description of the strategic risk, including 
initial score, current score and target score

• The corporate / organisational risks which link 
to the main strategic risk, including scores and 
the groups responsible for seeking assurance 
over the effective management of these risks

• Risks to achieving the objectives

• Key controls in place at the committee level to 
manage the risks

• Any gaps in control

• Any mitigations for gaps in controls

• Assurances split by internal and external 
assurances

• Any gaps in assurance at the committee and

• Mitigation (actions) to address gaps in control 
and assurances.

The BAF is approved by the Board at the 
beginning of the financial year and managed 
through delegation of specific BAF risks to the 
Board committees. The Executive Management 
Group oversees and monitors the full BAF prior to 
its quarterly review by the Board of Directors.

It is noted that the pandemic impacted upon 
the way in which the BAF was utilised during 
2020/21 and 2021/22. The BAF is normally 
developed at the beginning of the year based 
on the new corporate objectives. Due to the 
pandemic the corporate objectives for 2019/20 
were retained into 2020/21 and therefore the 
BAF from the previous year was continued. The 
introduction of the new governance structure, 
changes in senior personnel and the launch of 
the new strategy meant that the content of the 
BAF required significant in-year revision, with the 
Board of Directors approving a revised BAF in 
September 2021.A further iteration of the BAF is 
expected in June 2022 to align with the corporate 
objectives for 2022/2023 and the outcome of a 
recent Board development session on risk.

Quality Governance
Quality Governance is provided via the 
Foundation Trust’s Quality Committee which 
monitors the delivery of the Trust’s Quality 
Strategy and compliance with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) fundamental standards.  
This Committee also oversees production of 
the Quality Report. The Quality Committee is 
supported by a number of sub groups covering 
key areas such as patient safety, health and safety, 
patient experience and safeguarding. 

The highest scoring risks throughout the year, 
which were reflected on the Organisational 
Risk Register and linked through to the Board 
Assurance Framework, are outlined below, along 
with a brief summary of the mitigating actions 
taken:    
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Table 33: ORR Risks

Risk Description Key Mitigating Actions

There is a risk that a  
cyber-attack threat 
could affect the core 
infrastructure of the Trust.

Review of intelligence mechanisms such as CareCert, USCert, NCSC, MDE, XDR etc

Sophos XG to manage the network perimeter and se-cure access. Including firewall, web 
filtering.

Sophos Central provides device management and end point security (as opposed to 
perimeter security). This includes anti-virus, anti-malware and anti-ransomware.

Microsoft Defender for Enterprise - national product - in-sight into state of the machine 
regarding patching levels, installed software, known vulnerabilities on the device etc. This is 
enabled on all client devices and monitored by the national team.

Audits - various external agencies such as AuditOne, DSPT, pen testing etc.

Introduction of CI/CD process which alerts regarding outdated or new versions of 
packages and development framework in a pro-active manner.

Replacement laptops which include the supported version of Windows 10 (21xx) 
commencing mid-December. Risk of running unsupported software would be negated

There is a risk that the 
Trust is unable to continue 
full service in the event 
of a total loss of the 
Emergency Operations 
Center (EOC) at Newburn 
or a requirement to 
evacuate the whole team.

In the event of an evacuation into Russell House we would go out to national 
contingency for our 111 service to ensure continuation of call answering for patients.  
Our PTS service may need to be reviewed from a call taking point of view and message 
would have to go out to hospitals and crews regarding gaps in call answering and radio 
traffic.  999 service would continue as normal.

Text message to all remote workers to log on and bolster staffing from home.

Robust safety measures in place to mitigate loss associated with risks such as fire.

There is a risk that 
hospital handover delays 
will increase as activity 
within hospitals increases 
following the pandemic, 
reducing the resources 
available for us to respond 
to our patients and 
resulting in possible 
patient harm.

Delayed hospital handover Patient Care Update circulated to all staff.

Monitoring and reporting implemented in quarterly Q&S board report which goes  
to Clinical Quality Governance Group, Quality Committee and Board.

Regional UEC Handover SOP and escalation plan has been agreed across the system.

Leadership meetings undertaken with each A&E chaired by the Chair Designate of the 
ICS and supported by NHSE/I to understand the key challenges across the region and 
where possible standardise approaches.

Development of a draft handover data pack to be tested at JCUH then rolled out  
to all trusts.

Engagement at a local level through LAEDB and escalation calls.

QI Team working closely with JCUH and North Tees on improving handover including  
a model handover day at NTH.

Participation in monthly national calls to share best practice on handling handover delays.

Escalation of issues via the bi-weekly CQC engagement meetings.

There is an overarching risk 
that the Trust is unable to 
recruit and retain people 
with the required skills and 
values to the levels required 
to run our services - this 
risk applies to clinical, non-
clinical and support staff 
and fluctuates between 
teams, professions and at 
varying times.

Annual recruitment and training plan in place to offset anticipated turnover/
requirements.

Multi-disciplinary Workforce Planning Group meets monthly to review vacancies,  
turnover and recruitment and respond to changes accordingly. 

Standard recruitment information and jobs pages on NEAS website and NHS Jobs.

Exit Interviews collate information from leavers.

Areas of known issue are identified for action in the NEAS 9 People Plan.

Internal progression routes for the majority of roles in the Trust so a small pipeline  
of workforce is guaranteed.
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Risk Description Key Mitigating Actions

Low staff morale and 
engagement across many 
areas of the Trust as a 
longer-term consequence 
of the pandemic and the 
professional/personal 
impact on our staff.

Feedback is being considered from a number of sources including the staff survey, 
reference group, people pulse.

Themes will be triangulated, and actions identified to improve staff engagement.

New culture and experience role to be created to drive programmes of work around 
cultural transformation, staff engagement and wellbeing.

Joint Consultative Committee and informal meetings with Trade Unions allow transfer of 
two-way feedback and a sense check of staff’s feelings.

Quarterly People Pulse and Annual Staff Survey takes places to listen to staff and respond 
accordingly.

There is a risk that we 
are unable to manage 
pressures in all services 
linked with the longer 
term impact of Covid-19, 
growing demand, 
challenges experienced by 
other regional providers 
and changing patient 
behaviours.

Performance improvement action plan.

Regular internal and external meetings focusing on performance and related matters.

Suite of reports to assist with monitoring performance and aiding with the identification 
of assurances and emerging risks.

Transformation projects.

External scrutiny to review our improvement plans and offer further advice on 
improvement initiatives.

Specific policies and procedures to aid performance management.

Workforce plan and the review thereof through our internal governance arrangements.

ORH re-review completed but not agreed due to COVID.

Implementation of the demand and capacity review.

Ambulance response programme (ARP) implemented.

Implementation of the single pin arrangement to ensure accurate patient hand over 
information.

Update and present financial and operational benchmarking information to 
commissioners and NHS Improvement detailing our relative position within the sector on 
reference costs, staffing skill mix, vehicle numbers and the scale of comparative under 
funding and investment required to meet our ongoing financial challenge.

New 111 performance measures announced nationally do not align with the 
performance measures the Trust responded to in the 111 tender. The Trust and the 
commissioners have raised the issue at national level.

Agreed winter funding.

4-year plan agreed by our lead commissioners for implementation of our demand and 
capacity review.

Capital plan and procurement process for the delivery of new vehicles.
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During the year the Foundation Trust also 
reported a risk that, as the organisation 
emerged from the pandemic, the expenditure 
run rate would not reduce sufficiently to pre-
covid 19 levels and/or the increased income 
would not be sufficient, to ensure continued 
financial sustainability.  However, this risk did not 
materialise by year end.

Action plans to minimise the possibilities of 
these risks being realised are co-ordinated 
via the relevant directorate leads and include 
continuous monitoring via the appropriate group 
or Board-level committee. 

Future risks are typically identified as part of the 
financial and operational planning process for 
the forthcoming year. This process is delayed 
for 2021/22 due to the national delay in the 
financial and operational planning round.

The primary future risks for the Foundation 
Trust as at the year-end relate to the continuing 
situation regarding COVID-19 and the longer-
term impact of this on the Foundation Trust’s 
operations, staffing and finances. Planning for 
future recovery and the return to business as 
usual was a key priority at the year-end.

The risks listed in the above table all remain 
relevant for 2022/23 and beyond, and once 
the COVID-19 situation is largely resolved, 
the Foundation Trust will return its focus to 
managing key risks including:

• The risk of not securing sufficient funding and 
resources to be able to deliver against the core 
performance standards.

NHS Foundation Trust Licence Condition 4 sets 
out the overall standards expected for different 
aspects of governance. This includes but is not 
limited to: the effectiveness of the Board and its 
committees; the clarity of reporting lines; and 
the clarity of responsibilities and accountabilities 
throughout the Trust.  Under NHS Improvement’s 
Single Oversight Framework, the segmentation 

of providers is based, in part, on compliance 
with the licence conditions.

The Board routinely reviews information which 
provides assurance over compliance with the key 
elements of Licence Condition 4, including but 
not limited to:

• Annual reviews of effectiveness for each 
Board-level Committee

• An annual assessment of Board effectiveness 

• Summary of assurances and escalations from 
each Board Committee and

• An annual review of key corporate documents 
including the Scheme of Delegation, Standing 
Financial Instructions, Standing Orders and the 
Constitution.

The Board is required to assess compliance with 
the underlying principles, systems and standards 
of good corporate governance in the form of a 
Corporate Governance Statement. The Audit and 
Risk Committee reviewed the Foundation Trust’s 
Corporate Governance Statement and sought 
evidence to support the declarations being made.  
It considered the risks and mitigating actions that 
management provided to support the Statement 
and determine both from its own work 
throughout the year and assurances provided 
from the work of the Trust’s internal auditors, 
external auditors and other external audits 
or reviews, whether the Statement was valid. 
Only then did the Audit and Risk Committee 
recommend to the Board that the Corporate 
Governance Statement could be signed.

Risk Management is embedded within 
the organisation in a number of ways. All 
departments within Directorates maintain up-to-
date risk registers via the Ulysses System.  Risks 
are escalated via departmental and directorate 
risk registers to the Organisational Risk Register 
which identifies the major risks to the whole 
organisation both within a year and for the 
foreseeable future.  
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Management of these risks are reported to the 
EMG. There is a clear escalation process to ensure 
high level risks are reported on the Organisational 
Risk Register.  

All Cost Improvement Schemes have processes in 
place to identify and mitigate risks to quality. All 
cost improvement schemes undergo a full quality 
impact assessment prior to approval.

Management and operational structures are in 
place to manage the risks that the Trust faces.  
All the groups working within the governance 
structure are remitted to identify, and where 
appropriate, escalate all risks emerging from the 
business transacted. The Groups/Committees 
report through Committees of the Board in a 
structured manner, ultimately to the Board.  

Internal Audit provision also forms part of the 
risk and control framework, testing systems 
and processes linked to the BAF, on a risk-based 
approach. Their work culminates in the Head 
of Internal Audit Opinion and feeds into the 
assessment of the overall control environment.  
During the year their work has identified 2 
areas where controls have only provided limited 
assurance, the first regarding Cyber Incident 
Response Management and the second regarding 
Data Changes and Validation.  In each case a 
detailed corrective action plan is being developed 
for implementation.  

There are clear Terms of Reference for each Board 
Committee and a robust process is in place to 
review the effectiveness of the groups and Board 
Committees on an annual basis. The structure 
of these reviews ensures that consideration 
is given to any potential overlap and gap in 
responsibilities; minimising the risks to compliance 
with the Foundation Trust’s licence.  The timing 
of these meetings has been aligned to provide for 
the most up-to-date information to be considered 
to inform decision-making and assess risk.

Clinical Risk is monitored via the Foundation 
Trust’s Clinical Quality Governance Group and 

Quality Committee. The Trust’s Medical Director 
chairs the Clinical Advisory Group which provides 
access to expert professional opinion from 
specialist medical advisers and clinicians and 
reports to the Quality Committee. Additional 
support was provided by the appointment of a 
Deputy Medical Director during the year.

Clinical risk, whilst being everyone’s responsibility, 
is managed by operational staff and monitored by 
the Quality and Safety Directorate. Clinical risk is 
reported through the Risk Management System, 
Ulysses, which, allows themes and trends to be 
identified and inform organisational learning.   
All clinical practices are carried out using the best 
available clinical evidence base. This includes 
advice that is given to patients over the telephone 
as well as advice and skills performed when the 
paramedic is in a face-to-face situation.  

Developing Workforce Safeguards
The Foundation Trust is committed to ensuring 
that our patients receive the highest quality 
of care through ensuring that our staffing 
processes are safe, sustainable and effective.

Internally a workforce plan is developed, 
supported by recruitment and training plans. 
These are reviewed on a regular basis by board 
committees as delegated to do so by the Trust 
Board. This medium to long term strategic 
plan ensures we review what is required of the 
workforce and how this is delivered through 
strong partnership working with the local 
higher education institutions to ensure a robust 
pipeline of skilled practitioners as well as plans 
to work with our communities to recruit and 
provide meaningful employment as an Anchor 
Institution. 

Any significant changes to the workforce 
establishments, introduction of new roles/
working practices or changes to current roles are 
considered by the Director of Quality and Patient 
Safety, Innovation and Improvement (Executive 
Nurse) and the Medical Director to consider 
the Quality Impact Assessment undertaken by 

Annual Report and Accounts | 2021/22

108



the service, prior to approving or rejecting the 
changes. 

Systems are in place to monitor staffing levels 
in the Emergency Operations Centre and across 
Unscheduled and Scheduled Care and there is 
currently an ongoing project to ensure our shift 
patterns and rotas are effective in supporting 
staff health and wellbeing, whilst balancing this 
with meeting patient demands, and thus to 
ensure correct deployment of resources across 
the 24-hour period. 

Short term strategies are in place to respond 
to day-to-day challenges with workforce, with 
demand and capacity modeling across the 
services to establish where hot spot areas may 
be. A clear escalation process is in place, with 
daily calls to review safe staffing and other 
operational issues, which is led by the Strategic 
Manager on call. Where staffing pressures 
cannot be addressed with internal Trust 
employed resources, we have the ability to draw 
on third party providers to optimize patient and 
staff safety. Regular updates are provided to 
relevant Board Committees and the Trust Board 
for appropriate assurance.

CQC Compliance
The Foundation Trust is fully compliant with the 
registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission. In 2018 the Foundation Trust was 
inspected by the CQC and retained its overall 
rating of ‘good’. The Foundation Trust seeks 
continuous improvement in its services for the 
benefit of its patients and staff. 

Register of Interests
The Foundation Trust has published on its 
website an up-to-date register of interests, 
including gifts and hospitality, for decision-
making staff (as defined by the Foundation Trust 
with reference to the guidance) within the past 
twelve months, as required by the ‘Managing 
Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ guidance.

NHS Pension Scheme
As an employer with staff entitled to 
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied with. 
This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and payments 
into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme 
records are accurately updated in accordance 
with the timescales detailed in the Regulations. 

Equality Diversity and Human Rights
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the 
organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity 
and human rights legislation are complied with. 

Carbon Reduction
The Foundation Trust has undertaken risk 
assessments and has plans in place which 
take account of the ‘Delivering a Net Zero 
Health Service’ report under the Greener 
NHS programme. The Trust ensures that its 
obligations under the Climate Change Act and 
the Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources 
The Group and Trust have a range of measures 
in place to ensure that resources are used 
economically, efficiently and effectively as 
described below.

Financial performance against the plan is 
monitored by the Trust Board at every meeting, 
with a summary version also being presented to 
the Governors on a quarterly basis. This ensures 
appropriate links back to public, staff and 
stakeholder accountability. 

The Board also receives and reviews a monthly 
Integrated Quality Performance Report which 
draws together operational performance, 
quality, workforce and financial metrics in an 
integrated dashboard format. 
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On a quarterly basis the Board receives a report 
outlining progress against the Foundation Trust’s 
corporate priorities, as well as a presentation 
of the Board Assurance Framework to 
demonstrate how effectively strategic risks are 
being managed. The Board Committees also 
receive updates against the corporate priorities 
which have been mapped to them for ongoing 
scrutiny.

In addition to Board scrutiny, the Performance 
and Finance Committee meets on a monthly 
basis to review progress against the financial 
plan in detail. Progress against the Foundation 
Trust’s financial plans and corporate priorities are 
presented to and reviewed by the Performance 
and Finance Committee each month.

The remit of the Trust Board committees includes 
ensuring the effective use of resources and 
responsibility for investigating specific areas 
contributing to the Integrated Quality Performance 
Report. For example, the Quality Committee 
reviews the progress against Ambulance Quality 
Indicators. 

The Audit and Risk Committee, with delegated 
authority from the Board, agrees an annual 
internal audit plan which aims to test the 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
Trusts systems and processes. The Committee 
received regular internal audit reports of those 
areas tested and any recommendations are 
regularly followed up. The external auditors also 
form a view on this area during their review of 
the accounts.

Information governance 
There are a number of mechanisms in place to 
assess the quality of performance information 
produced by the Trust. The directorate Change 
Approval Boards review data quality issues 
arising from systems within their remit.   

The Foundation Trust manages its information 
security on an on-going basis via two forums, 
the Information Security Working Group (ISWG) 

and the Information Governance Working 
Group (IGWG). The former typically deals with 
technical issues and how to address them and 
escalates more significant issues to the IGWG. 
The IGWG manages the Foundation Trust’s 
information security at a much higher level 
and is in a position to provide much wider 
assurances due to the involvement of staff from 
across the organisation. 

The Foundation Trust also formally assesses its 
compliance against the Information Governance 
standards (including Information Security) via 
the Data Security and Protection Toolkit which 
is visible and auditable to regulating bodies.  
An external assurance audit was undertaken 
towards the end of 2020/21 by PWC as part 
of the NHS assurance work. The report which 
was published in May 2021 had a number 
of recommendations which were reviewed 
by IGWG as well as the Board. The toolkit 
submission was published at the end of June 
2021 with a status of ‘’approaching standards’’. 

An improvement plan was devised with progress 
monitored by IGWG as well as the Technology 
Committee.

The 2021/22 toolkit submission date is June 22 
and an external assurance audit planned for 
May 2022.

During the year, seven incidents were reported 
to the Information Commissioners Office 
relating to data breaches.

As part of the internal audit programme  
an audit of the data breach management 
process was undertaken during the year.   
This highlighted a number of recommendations 
to improve compliance with the control 
framework around the management and 
reporting of data breaches. An action 
plan was subsequently developed, and all 
recommendations have been addressed.
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Data quality and governance

Governance and leadership: Data Quality is 
owned by each system’s Information Asset Owners 
(IAO) and monitored via Change Approval Boards 
(CAB). Part of the responsibility of this group is 
to ensure any change to operational process or 
system use is raised with stakeholders in order to 
capture all changes that could impact reported 
data. The Trust’s information team produce Trust-
wide data quality dashboards for regular review by 
IAOs and Information Asset Administrators (IAA) 
to strengthen data quality contained within all 
systems that are used to feed performance reports. 
The data quality dashboards highlight any potential 
issues and offer the opportunity for correcting 
data at source, as well as highlighting any general 
problems with certain procedures or training 
requirements. The information team also log any 
issues that become apparent whilst reporting, 
and these are raised with the IAO and reviewed at 
the appropriate CAB, providing assurances to the 
Information Governance Working Group (IGWG 
ensuring the Trust’s compliance with legislative, 
mandatory, and regulatory requirements.

The Role of Policies and Plans: In ensuring 
the quality of care provided, the Trust maintains 
and reviews data quality dashboards where any 
data quality issues are identified and monitored 
by the appropriate services. If data quality issues 
are discovered, the IAO is responsible for making 
the necessary improvements to the data within 
the source system. All IAOs, IAAs and staff have 
access to all Trust policies and additional training 
has been undertaken during the year.

Systems and processes: The Trust has robust 
processes around data quality. Each system 
has a nominated IAO and IAA who work 
with the information team to ensure that 
data can be accurately extracted for reporting 
purposes. All reported data is reviewed by the 
information team as well as independently by 
the performance team or relevant department 
to ensure this adheres to national guidance. 
Reconciliation checks are regularly carried out to 

ensure that reported performance figures can be 
reconciled back to source data, with any issues 
identified raised with the IAO.

People and skills: IAO and IAA, are the 
members of staff with expertise in that area, 
understanding the operational requirements 
and processes as well as the requirements for 
information. Informatics staff are highly skilled 
in extraction and presentation of data using the 
latest Microsoft business intelligence technology. 
The performance team then reviews all data 
from an objective standpoint to ensure the 
data is concurrent with forecasts or established 
baselines.  

Data use and reporting: Data is reported 
to internal Board-Level Committees only after 
it has been checked by the IAO, and then 
by the performance team. The Board-Level 
Committees are then given the opportunity 
to scrutinise the data, before it is published 
externally on our internet site. Any group or 
individual then has the opportunity to question 
anything about the data and demand rationale 
for data. Healthwatch, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
all have direct and open contact to reported 
performance. 

Coronavirus Pandemic
The pandemic continued throughout the 
entirety of 2021/22. This caused unprecedented 
pressure on the Foundation Trust and the 
whole healthcare system as a major event was 
triggered and multiple business continuity plans 
were put into action.

However, during these unprecedented 
times, controls were always maintained 
with supporting actions mobilised to ensure 
continuity of the service without significant 
undue risk to the public purse. The approach 
to governance during the pandemic which 
was shared with the Board in March 2020 
was updated in January 2021 and again in 
December 2021 to provide assurance over how 
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key decisions about the Trust’s response to the 
pandemic were being made, on a daily basis. 
This structure was utilised in times of pressures 
during the year, with usual governance and 
operational processes resuming between the 
waves of the pandemic. This was in line with 
the guidance issued from NHS England and 
Improvement regarding freeing up the capacity 
to respond to the pandemic. 

Review of effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is informed 
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical 
audit and the executive managers and clinical 
leads within the NHS Foundation Trust who 
have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. 
I have drawn on performance information 
available to me. My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. I have 
been advised on the implications of the result 
of my review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control by the Board, the Audit and 
Risk Committee, the Executive Management 
Group and Quality Committee, and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place. 

The system of internal control is managed by 
the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 
therefore employs a number of systems to 
assure itself that the systems of internal control 
are working effectively. The formal governance 
structure of committees reporting through to 
the Board, maintains effective systems and 
identifies, and where appropriate, escalates all 
risks emerging from the business transacted.

The Board of Directors endorses the strategic 
priorities, all formalised risk management plans 
and endorses and reviews the Board Assurance 
Framework. It also receives and reviews the 
monthly Board Performance Report which draws 

together the main components of Trust-wide 
performance (finance, operational, workforce 
and quality) against plan, from which the Board 
gains assurance.

The Audit and Risk Committee acts 
independently from the Executive, to provide 
assurance to the Board, based on a challenge 
of evidence and assurance obtained, that the 
interests of the Trust are properly protected in 
relation to annual reporting and internal control.  
It keeps under review the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control, that is, the systems 
established to identify, assess, manage and 
monitor risks both financial and otherwise, and 
to ensure the Trust complies with all aspects of 
the law, relevant regulation and good practice.

This Committee reports to the Board any 
matters in respect of which it considers that 
action or improvement is needed and makes 
recommendations as to the steps to be taken.

The Committee developed, approved and 
monitored a programme of internal audit work 
which assessed the effectiveness and fitness for 
purpose of key assurance processes and systems 
of internal control. The Head of Internal Audit 
opinion has provided reasonable assurance on 
the system of internal control. Where scope for 
improvement was identified, recommendations 
were made, and action plans put in place 
that were monitored by the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has overseen 
the effectiveness of the Trust’s risk management 
arrangements, considered the Annual 
Governance Statement and reviewed its 
statutory role and responsibilities and remains 
vigilant in assessing its controls in a complex and 
fast-moving environment. 

The Audit and Risk Committee has also sought 
assurance over the development of the Clinical 
Audit Plan, its delivery and the effective 
implementation of recommendations.
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During the year the Executive Management 
Group has enabled a focussed review 
of strategic, Trust-wide, directorate and 
departmental risks to take place. In addition, 
the Group has undertaken detailed scrutiny of 
the risk management delivery plan, business 
continuity and resilience arrangements.  

The Quality Committee provides the Board 
with an independent and objective review of all 
aspects of quality governance. This includes but 
is not limited to: clinical effectiveness; patient 
safety; patient experience; CQC compliance; 
safeguarding; clinical audit; and progress against 
the Foundation Trust’s Quality Strategy and 
quality priorities. The Committee fulfilled these 
roles throughout 2021/22 and escalated any key 
issues to the Board for further action, decision 
and scrutiny.

The Head of Internal Audit provides me with 
an opinion on the overall arrangements for 
gaining assurance through the Board Assurance 
Framework and on the controls reviewed as part 
of the Internal Audit work. The work undertaken 
throughout the year, following a risk-based audit 
plan, agreed by the Audit and Risk Committee, 
culminated in a Head of Internal Audit Opinion. 
This Head of Internal Opinion concluded that, 
on the basis of work carried out in accordance 
with the Tactical Internal Plan 2021/22, 
reasonable assurance could be given that there 
is a generally sound system of internal control, 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently.  

My review is informed by internal and external 
assessments during the year as follows:

• Compliance with Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance

• Internal Audit reports on arrangements within 
key Foundation Trust functions

• Monthly performance reports covering all 
Directorates in the form of an Integrated 
Quality Per-formance Report

• External Audit reports in its Auditor’s Annual 
Report on the arrangements the Trust has 
in place to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.

The Board of Directors of North East Ambulance
Service NHS Foundation Trust approves this
Annual Governance Statement.

Conclusion 
We can conclude that no significant control 
issues have been identified.

 

Helen Ray 
Chief Executive    
22 June 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the Council of 
Governors of North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust

Report on the audit of the financial 
statements

Opinion on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of North 
East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
(‘the Trust’) and its subsidiary (‘the Group’) for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 which comprise 
the Group and Trust Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Group and Trust 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position, 
the Group and Trust Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Group and 
Trust Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to 
the financial statements, including the summary 
of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and international 
accounting standards as interpreted and adapted 
by HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 
2021/22 as contained in the Department of 
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 
2021/22, and the Accounts Direction issued under 
the National Health Service Act 2006.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Trust and Group as at 31 
March 2022 and of the Trust’s and the Group’s 
income and expenditure for the year then 
ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2021/22; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the National Health 
Service Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 

the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. 
We are independent of the Trust and Group in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we  
have concluded that the Accounting Officer’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting  
in the preparation of the financial statements  
is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we 
have not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on 
the Trust’s or the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
Accounting Officer with respect to going concern 
are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement 
of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in these regards.

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer  
for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement 
of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accounting Officer is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 
and for such internal control as the Accounting 
Officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

The Accounting Officer is required to comply 
with the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2021/22 and prepare 
the financial statements on a going concern 
basis, unless the Trust is informed of the intention 
for dissolution without transfer of services or 
function to another entity. The Accounting 
Officer is responsible for assessing each year 
whether or not it is appropriate for the Trust and 
Group to prepare financial statements on the 
going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit  
of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations. We 
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, 
outlined above, to detect material misstatements 
in respect of irregularities, including fraud. 
Based on our understanding of the Trust and 
Group, we identified that the principal risks 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations 
related to the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012), and we considered the extent to which 
non-compliance might have a material effect on 
the financial statements.

We evaluated the Accounting Officer’s incentives 
and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation 
of the financial statements (including the risk 
of override of controls) and determined that 
the principal risks were related to posting 
manual journal entries to manipulate financial 
performance, management bias through 
judgements and assumptions in significant 
accounting estimates, significant one-off or 
unusual transactions, and the risk of fraud in 
revenue recognition.

Our audit procedures were designed to 
respond to those identified risks, including 
non-compliance with laws and regulations 
(irregularities) and fraud that are material to 
the financial statements. Our audit procedures 
included but were not limited to:

• discussing with management and the Audit 
Committee the policies and procedures 
regarding compliance with laws and 
regulations;

• communicating identified laws and regulations 
throughout our engagement team and 
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remaining alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout our audit; and

• considering the risk of acts by the Trust and 
Group which were contrary to applicable laws 
and regulations, including fraud.

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included 
but were not limited to:

• making enquiries of management and the 
Audit Committee on whether they had 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged 
fraud;

• gaining an understanding of the internal 
controls established to mitigate risks related to 
fraud;

• discussing amongst the engagement team the 
risks of fraud;

• addressing the risks of fraud through 
management override of controls by 
performing journal entry testing and testing 
for management bias in judgements and 
assumptions relating to provisions and deferred 
income; and

• addressing the risk of fraud through revenue 
recognition by testing a sample of revenue 
around the year-end and considering 
information provided by the Department of 
Health and Social Care in respect of year end 
intra-NHS transactions.

There are inherent limitations in the audit 
procedures described above and the primary 
responsibility for the prevention and detection 
of irregularities including fraud rests with 
management and [the Audit Committee. As with 
any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection 
of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations 
or the override of internal controls.

We are also required to conclude on whether 
the Accounting Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. We 
performed our work in accordance with Practice 
Note 10: Audit of financial statements and 

regularity of public sector bodies in the United 
Kingdom, and Supplementary Guidance Note 01, 
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 
April 2021.

A further description of our responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on the Trust’s arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources

Matter on which we are required to report 
by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, we are not satisfied that the Trust 
has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.

We have not completed our work on the Trust’s 
arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, 
having regard to the guidance issued by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General in December 
2021, we have not identified any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 
31 March 2022.

We will report the outcome of our work on the 
Trust’s arrangements in our commentary on 
those arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual 
Report. Our audit completion certificate will set 
out any matters which we are required to report 
by exception.

Responsibilities of the Accounting Officer
The Chief Executive as Accounting Officer 
is responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the Trust’s use of resources, 
to ensure proper stewardship and governance, 
and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the review 
of arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use  
of resources
We are required by Schedule 10(1) of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 to satisfy 
ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are 
not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the Trust’s arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our work in accordance 
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and 
Auditor General in December 2021.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report 
subject to audit have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2021/22; and

• the other information published together with 
the audited financial statements in the Annual 
Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception under the Code of Audit Practice
We are required to report to you if:

• in our opinion the Annual Governance 
Statement does not comply with the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 
2021/22; or

• the Annual Governance Statement is 
misleading or is not consistent with our 
knowledge of the Trust and Group and other 

information of which we are aware from our 
audit of the financial statements; or

• we refer a matter to the regulator under 
Schedule 10(6) of the National Health Service 
Act 2006; or

• we issue a report in the public interest under 
Schedule 10(3) of the National Health Service 
Act 2006.

We have nothing to report in respect of these 
matters.

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the Council of 
Governors of North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust as a body in accordance with 
Schedule 10(4) of the National Health Service Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Council of Governors 
of the Trust those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Council of Governors 
of the Trust as a body for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Delay in certification of completion  
of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue 
an audit certificate until we have completed the 
work necessary to satisfy ourselves that the Trust 
has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness is its use of 
resources.

Cameron Waddell (Audit Partner)  
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

The Corner Bank Chambers 26 Mosley Street 
Newcastle NE1 1DF United Kingdom

21 June 2022
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Audit Completion Certificate issued to the Council of Governors 
of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust for the 
year ended 31 March 2022 
 
In our auditor’s report dated 21 June 2022 we explained that the audit could not be formally concluded 
until we had completed the work necessary to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness is its use of resources. 
This work has now been completed. 
No matters have come to our attention since 21 June 2022 that would have a material impact on the 
financial statements on which we gave our unqualified opinion. 

 
 
The Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources 

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2022. 

 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
in December 2021, we have nothing to report in this respect. 

 
Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit of North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with the requirements of chapter 5 of part 2 of the National Health Service Act 2006 and 
the Code of Audit Practice. 

Signature:  

Email:  cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk 

 
Cameron Waddell (Audit Partner) 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

The Corner 
Bank Chambers 
26 Mosley Street 
Newcastle 
NE1 1DF 
United Kingdom 

 
 

11 August 2022 
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Annual accounts  
for the year ended 31 March 2022

These accounts, for the year ended 31 March 
2022 have been prepared by North East 
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust in 
accordance with paragraphs 24 & 25 of Schedule 
7 within the National Health Service Act 2006.

Helen Ray
Chief Executive
16 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Operating income from patient care 
activities

3 180,056 160,925 179,985 160,856 

Other operating income 4 5,178 23,797 6,159 25,039 

Operating expenses 6, 8 (182,246) (182,345) (183,294) (183,557)

Operating surplus from continuing 
operations

2,988 2,377 2,850 2,338 

Finance income 11 43 17 468 459 

Finance expenses 12 (247) (223) (699) (594)

Public dividend capital (PDC)  
dividends payable

(467) (509) (467) (509)

Net finance costs (671) (715) (698) (644)

Other gains / (losses) 13 (4) (31) 17 (44)

Surplus for the year 2,313 1,631 2,169 1,650 

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income  
and expenditure:

Revaluations 16 1,453 929 1,453 929 

Total comprehensive income  
for the period

3,766 2,560 3,622 2,579 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 14 1,025 1,613 1,025 1,613 

Property, plant and equipment 15 46,843 44,937 43,179 42,986 

Loans to Subsidiary 17 - - 11,409 10,078 

Total non-current assets 47,868 46,550 55,613 54,677 

Current assets

Inventories 18 1,227 2,547 1,173 2,513 

Receivables 19 4,517 7,525 4,327 7,629 

Loans to Subsidiary 17 - - 2,577 2,040 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 

Total current assets 44,730 35,910 46,103 37,395 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 (16,345) (15,990) (14,890) (15,336)

Borrowings 24 (585) (521) (2,372) (1,994)

Provisions 26 (5,027) (6,445) (5,895) (6,406)

Other liabilities 23 (7,464) (1,721) (7,464) (1,721)

Total current liabilities (29,421) (24,677) (30,621) (25,457)

Total assets less current liabilities 63,177 57,783 71,095 66,615 

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 (1,138) (858) (1,138) (858)

Borrowings 24 (3,997) (3,708) (11,886) (11,459)

Provisions 26 (3,878) (3,250) (2,971) (3,251)

Total non-current liabilities (9,013) (7,816) (15,995) (15,568)

Total assets employed 54,164 49,967 55,100 51,047 

Financed by 

Public dividend capital (PDC) 37,678 37,247 37678 37,247 

Revaluation reserve 7,500 6,439 7500 6,439 

Income and expenditure reserve 8,986 6,281 9922 7,361 

Total taxpayers' equity 54,164 49,967 55,100 51,047 

The notes on the following pages form part of these accounts.

Helen Ray
Chief Executive
21 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Group
Public 

dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2021 
- brought forward

37,247 6,439 6,281 49,967 

Property, plant and equipment 46,843 44,937 43,179 42,986 

Surplus for the year - - 2,313 2,313 

Revaluations - 1,453 - 1,453 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - (59) 59 - 

Public dividend capital received 431 - - 431 

Other reserve movements - (333) 333 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity  
at 31 March 2022

37,678 7,500 8,986 54,164 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group
Public 

dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 
- brought forward

35,935 5,837 4,323 46,095 

Surplus for the year - - 1,631 1,631 

Revaluations - 929 - 929 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - (36) 36 - 

Public dividend capital received 1,312 - - 1,312 

Other reserve movements - (291) 291 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity  
at 31 March 2021

37,247 6,439 6,281 49,967 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2022

Trust
Public 

dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2021 - 
brought forward

37,247 6,439 7,361 51,047 

Surplus for the year 2,169 2,169 

Revaluations 1,453 1,453 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets (59) 59 - 

Public dividend capital received 431 431 

Other reserve movements (333) 333 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2022 37,678 7,500 9,922 55,100 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Trust
Public 

dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve
Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - 
brought forward

35,935 5,837 5,384 47,156 

Surplus for the year - - 1,650 1,650 

Revaluations - 929 - 929 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - (36) 36 - 

Public dividend capital received 1,312 - - 1,312 

Other reserve movements - (291) 291 - 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021 37,247 6,439 7,361 51,047 

Information on reserves

Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the 
predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may 
also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health 
and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the Trust, is payable to the Department of 
Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse impairments 
previously recognised in operating expenses, in 
which case they are recognised in operating income. 
Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations 
are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent 
that a previous gain was recognised unless the 
downward movement represents a clear consumption 
of economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Income and expenditure reserve
The balance of this reserve is the accumulated 
surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus 2,988 2,377 2,850 2,338 

Non-cash income and expense

Depreciation and amortisation 6 7,301 7,552 7,254 7,503 

Net impairments 7 (612) 339 (612) 339 

Decrease in receivables and other assets 2,596 1,171 831 791 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories 1,320 (2,036) 1,320 (2,022)

Increase in payables and other liabilities 5,745 6,609 5,841 6,461 

Increase / (decrease) in provisions (815) 3,968 (815) 3,930 

Net cash flows from operating activities 18,522 19,980 16,669 19,340 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 43 17 468 459 

Purchase of intangible assets (184) (426) (184) (426)

Purchase of PPE and investment property (4,973) (5,155) (3,883) (3,954)

Sales of PPE and investment property 158 295 151 232 

Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets 72 - 72 - 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (4,884) (5,269) (3,376) (3,689)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received 431 1,312 431 1,312 

Movement on other loans - - 1,868 1,394 

Capital element of finance lease rental payments (611) (653) (2,122) (1,535)

Interest paid on finance lease liabilities (255) (318) (602) (646)

PDC dividend paid (55) (1,011) (55) (1,011)

Net cash flows from used in financing 
activities

(490) (670) (480) (486)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,148 14,041 12,813 15,165 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - 
brought forward

25,838 11,797 25,213 10,048 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 21 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 
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Notes to the Accounts

Note 1 Accounting policies and other 
information

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation

NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory 
functions conferred on Monitor, has directed that 
the financial statements of the Trust shall meet 
the accounting requirements of the Department 
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 
Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the GAM 2021/22 issued by the Department 
of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies 
contained in the GAM follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that 
they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, 
as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised 
by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where 
the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, 
the accounting policy that is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances 
of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true 
and fair view has been selected. The particular 
policies adopted are described below. These have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the accounts.

Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention modified to account for 
the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.2 Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. The financial reporting framework 
applicable to NHS bodies, derived from the HM 
Treasury Financial Reporting Manual, defines that 
the anticipated continued provision of the entity’s 
services in the public sector is normally sufficient 
evidence of going concern. The Trust’s Board of 
Directors have reasonable expectation that this 
will continue to be the case.

Note 1.3 Consolidation

Other subsidiaries 
North East Ambulance Service Unified Solutions 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Foundation 

Trust. Subsidiary entities are those over which 
the trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves 
of subsidiaries are consolidated in full into the 
appropriate financial statement lines. The capital 
and reserves attributable to minority interests are 
included as a separate item in the Statement of 
Financial Position. The amounts consolidated are 
drawn from the published financial statements of 
the subsidiaries for the year.

The Trust has not consolidated its charity on the 
basis of materiality.

Note 1.4 Revenue from contracts with 
customers

Where income is derived from contracts with 
customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. 
The GAM expands the definition of a contract to 
include legislation and regulations which enables 
an entity to receive cash or another financial 
asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of 
National Statistics (ONS). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is 
recognised when (or as) performance obligations 
are satisfied by transferring promised goods/
services to the customer and is measured at the 
amount of the transaction price allocated to 
those performance obligations. For the trusts 
main contracts, credit terms are that payment is 
due by 15th of the month. At the year end, the 
Trust accrues income relating to performance 
obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s 
entitlement to consideration for those goods or 
services is unconditional a contract receivable will 
be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration 
is conditional on a further factor other than 
the passage of time, a contract asset will be 
recognised. Where consideration received or 
receivable relates to a performance obligation that 
is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is 
deferred and recognised as a contract liability. 

Revenue from NHS contracts
The main source of income for the Trust is 
contracts with commissioners for health care 
services. In 2021/22 and 2020/21, the majority 
of the trust’s income from NHS commissioners 
was in the form of block contract arrangements. 
The Trust receives block funding from its 
commissioners, where funding envelopes are 
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set at a Integrated Care System level. For the 
first half of the 2021/22 comparative year these 
blocks were set for individual NHS providers 
directly, but the revenue recognition principles 
are the same. The related performance obligation 
is the delivery of healthcare and related services 
during the period, with the trust’s entitlement to 
consideration not varying based on the levels of 
activity performed. 

The Trust also receives additional income outside 
of the block payments to reimburse specific 
costs incurred and, in 2021/22, other income 
top-ups to support the delivery of services. 
Reimbursement and top-up income is accounted 
for as variable consideration.

In 2021/22, the Elective Recovery Fund enabled 
systems to earn income linked to the achievement 
of elective activity targets including funding any 
increased use of independent sector capacity. 
Income earned by the system is distributed 
between individual entities by local agreement. 
Income earned from the fund is accounted for as 
variable consideration.

Note 1.5 Other forms of income

Grants and donations
Government grants are grants from government 
bodies other than income from commissioners or 
trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant 
is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to 
match that expenditure. Where the grants are 
used to fund capital expenditure, it is credited 
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income once conditions attached to the grant 
have been met. Donations are treated in the 
same way as government grants.

Apprenticeship service income
The value of the benefit received when accessing 
funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service 
is recognised as income at the point of receipt of 
the training service. Where these funds are paid 
directly to an accredited training provider from 
the Trust’s Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) 
account held by the Department for Education, the 
corresponding notional expense is also recognised 
at the point of recognition for the benefit.

Note 1.6 Expenditure on employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related 

payments such as social security costs and the 
apprenticeship levy are recognised in the period 
in which the service is received from employees. 
The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but 
not taken by employees at the end of the period 
is recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry-
forward leave into the following period. 
 
Pension costs 
NHS Pension Scheme 
Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both 
schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes 
that cover NHS employers, general practices and 
other bodies, allowed under the direction of 
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in 
England and Wales. The scheme is not designed 
in a way that would enable employers to identify 
their share of the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for 
as though it is a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the trust is taken as equal to the 
employer’s pension contributions payable to 
the scheme for the accounting period. The 
contributions are charged to operating expenses 
as and when they become due.

Additional pension liabilities arising from early 
retirements are not funded by the scheme except 
where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full 
amount of the liability for the additional costs 
is charged to the operating expenses at the 
time the trust commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment. 

Note 1.7 Expenditure on other goods and 
services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised 
when, and to the extent that they have been 
received, and is measured at the fair value 
of those goods and services. Expenditure is 
recognised in operating expenses except where  
it results in the creation of a non-current asset 
such as property, plant and equipment.

Note 1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:    
• it is held for use in delivering services or for 

administrative purposes
• it is probable that future economic benefits  

will flow to, or service potential be provided to, 
the trust
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• it is expected to be used for more than one 
financial year 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably
• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or
• collectively, a number of items have a cost 

of at least £5,000 and individually have cost 
of more than £250, where the assets are 
functionally interdependent, had broadly 
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated 
to have similar disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, eg, plant and 
equipment, then these components are treated 
as separate assets and depreciated over their own 
useful lives.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of 
property, plant and equipment is recognised 
as an increase in the carrying amount of the 
asset when it is probable that additional future 
economic benefits or service potential deriving 
from the cost incurred to replace a component of 
such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost 
of the item can be determined reliably. Where a 
component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the 
replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria 
for recognition above. The carrying amount 
of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other 
expenditure that does not generate additional 
future economic benefits or service potential, 
such as repairs and maintenance, is charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the 
period in which it is incurred.

Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are 
measured initially at cost, representing the costs 
directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the 
asset and bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. 
Assets which are held for their service potential 
and are in use (ie operational assets used to 
deliver either front line services or back office 
functions) are measured at their current value in 
existing use. Assets that were most recently held 
for their service potential but are surplus with no 
plan to bring them back into use are measured 
at fair value where there are no restrictions on 

sale at the reporting date and where they do not 
meet the definitions of investment properties or 
assets held for sale.

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment 
are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure 
that carrying values are not materially different 
from those that would be determined at the end 
of the reporting period. Current values in existing 
use are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market 

value for existing use
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement 

cost on a modern equivalent asset basis.

For specialised assets, current value in existing use 
is interpreted as the present value of the asset’s 
remaining service potential, which is assumed 
to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that 
service potential. Specialised assets are therefore 
valued at their depreciated replacement cost 
(DRC) on a modern equivalent asset (MEA) 
basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will 
be replaced with a modern asset of equivalent 
capacity and meeting the location requirements 
of the services being provided. Assets held at 
depreciated replacement cost have been valued 
on an alternative site basis where this would meet 
the location requirements.

Properties in the course of construction for service 
or administration purposes are carried at cost, less 
any impairment loss. Cost includes professional 
fees and, where capitalised in accordance with 
IAS 23, borrowings costs. Assets are revalued and 
depreciation commences when the assets are 
brought into use.

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture 
and fittings, and plant and machinery that 
are held for operational use are valued at 
depreciated historic cost where these assets have 
short useful lives or low values or both, as this 
is not considered to be materially different from 
current value in existing use. 

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated over their remaining useful lives in 
a manner consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold 
land is considered to have an infinite life and is 
not depreciated. 

Property, plant and equipment which has 
been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be 
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depreciated upon the reclassification. Assets in 
the course of construction are not depreciated 
until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the 
trust, respectively.

Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the 
revaluation reserve, except where, and to the 
extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease 
that has previously been recognised in operating 
expenses, in which case they are recognised in 
operating expenditure.

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation 
reserve to the extent that there is an available 
balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter 
are charged to operating expenses. 

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation 
reserve are reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other 
comprehensive income’.

Impairments
In accordance with the GAM, impairments that 
arise from a clear consumption of economic 
benefits or of service potential in the asset are 
charged to operating expenses. A compensating 
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve 
to the income and expenditure reserve of an 
amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment 
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the 
balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to 
that asset before the impairment.

An impairment that arises from a clear 
consumption of economic benefit or of service 
potential is reversed when, and to the extent 
that, the circumstances that gave rise to the 
loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in 
operating expenditure to the extent that the 
asset is restored to the carrying amount it would 
have had if the impairment had never been 
recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised 
in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time 
of the original impairment, a transfer was made 
from the revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred 
back to the revaluation reserve when the 
impairment reversal is recognised.

Other impairments are treated as revaluation 
losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are 
treated as revaluation gains.

De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as 
‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are 
met. The sale must be highly probable and the 
asset available for immediate sale in its present 
condition.

Following reclassification, the assets are measured 
at the lower of their existing carrying amount and 
their ‘fair value less costs to sell’. Depreciation 
ceases to be charged and the assets are not 
revalued, except where the ‘fair value less costs 
to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets 
are de-recognised when all material sale contract 
conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which is to be 
scrapped or demolished does not qualify for 
recognition as ‘held for sale’ and instead is 
retained as an operational asset and the asset’s 
useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised 
when scrapping or demolition occurs.

Donated and grant funded assets
Donated and grant funded property, plant and 
equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value 
on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to 
income at the same time, unless the donor has 
imposed a condition that the future economic 
benefits embodied in the grant are to be 
consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within 
liabilities and is carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the condition has not yet 
been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are 
subsequently accounted for in the same manner 
as other items of property, plant and equipment.  

This includes assets donated to the trust by the 
Department of Health and Social Care as part 
of the response to the coronavirus pandemic. 
As defined in the GAM, the trust applies the 
principle of donated asset accounting to assets 
that the trust controls and is obtaining economic 
benefits from at the year end. 
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Useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment 
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and 
not the remaining life of an asset. The range of 
useful lives are shown in the table below: 

Min 
life

Max 
life

Years Years

Buildings, excluding 
dwellings

1 114 

Plant & machinery 4 15 

Transport equipment 4 10 

Information technology 2 7 

Finance-leased assets (including land) are 
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life 
or the lease term, unless the trust expects to 
acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in 
which case the assets are depreciated in the same 
manner as owned assets above.

Note 1.9 Intangible assets

Recognition  
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without 
physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the trust’s business or 
which arise from contractual or other legal rights. 
They are recognised only where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the trust and where the 
cost of the asset can be measured reliably.   
 
Internally generated intangible assets 
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, 
publishing titles, customer lists and similar items 
are not capitalised as intangible assets.

Expenditure on research is not capitalised. 
Expenditure on development is capitalised where 
it meets the requirements set out in IAS 38. 
 
Software 
Software which is integral to the operation of 
hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of property, plant and 
equipment. Software which is not integral to the 
operation of hardware, eg application software, is 
capitalised as an intangible asset.

Measurement  
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, 
comprising all directly attributable costs needed 
to create, produce and prepare the asset to the 
point that it is capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at 
current value in existing use. Where no active 
market exists, intangible assets are valued at 
the lower of depreciated replacement cost 
and the value in use where the asset is income 
generating. Revaluations gains and losses and 
impairments are treated in the same manner as 
for property, plant and equipment. An intangible 
asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it 
back into use is valued at fair value where there 
are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date 
and where they do not meet the definitions of 
investment properties or assets held for sale.

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount or fair value less 
costs to sell.

Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over their 
expected useful lives in a manner consistent  
with the consumption of economic or service 
delivery benefits.

Useful lives of intangible assets   
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and 
not the remaining life of an asset. The range of 
useful lives are shown in the table below: 

Min 
life

Max 
life

Years Years

Information technology 1 7 

Development expenditure 1 7 

Websites 1 7 

Software licences 1 7 

Note 1.10 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. The cost of inventories is measured 
using the first in, first out (FIFO) method.

In 2020/21 and 2021/22, the Trust received 
inventories including personal protective 
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equipment from the Department of Health and 
Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM and 
applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual 
Framework, the Trust has accounted for the 
receipt of these inventories at a deemed cost, 
reflecting the best available approximation of an 
imputed market value for the transaction based 
on the cost of acquisition by the Department. 

Note 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any 
financial institution repayable without penalty 
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash 
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 
months or less from the date of acquisition and 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the Trust’s cash management. 
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded 
at current values.

Note 1.12 Financial assets and financial 
liabilities

Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where 
the Trust is party to the contractual provisions 
of a financial instrument, and as a result has a 
legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay 
cash or another financial instrument. The GAM 
expands the definition of a contract to include 
legislation and regulations which give rise to 
arrangements that in all other respects would 
be a financial instrument and do not give rise to 
transactions classified as a tax by ONS.

This includes the purchase or sale of non-
financial items (such as goods or services), which 
are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s 
normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and 
are recognised when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery 
of the goods or services is made.

Classification and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value plus or minus directly 
attributable transaction costs except where the 
asset or liability is not measured at fair value 
through income and expenditure. Fair value 
is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise 

determined by reference to quoted market prices 
or valuation techniques.

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect 
of assets acquired or disposed of through 
finance leases are recognised and measured in 
accordance with the accounting policy for leases 
described below.

Financial assets are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 
amortised cost
After initial recognition, these financial assets 
and financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment (for financial assets). The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset 
or financial liability to the gross carrying amount 
of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability.

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset or amortised 
cost of a financial liability and recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and a 
financing income or expense.

Impairment of financial assets
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost 
including lease receivables, contract receivables 
and contract assets the Trust recognises an 
allowance for expected credit losses.   
   
The Trust adopts the simplified approach to 
impairment for contract and other receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables, measuring 
expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected losses. For other financial assets, the 
loss allowance is initially measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month expected credit losses (stage 
1) and subsequently at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk 
assessed for the financial asset significantly 
increases (stage 2).   

Expected losses are charged to operating 
expenditure within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and reduce the net 
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carrying value of the financial asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position.   
   
Derecognition
Financial assets are de-recognised when the 
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have expired or the Trust has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.
   
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the 
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
   
Note 1.13 Leases   

Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other 
leases are classified as operating leases.  
   
The trust as a lessee

Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership of a leased asset are borne by the 
trust, the asset is recorded as property, plant 
and equipment and a corresponding liability is 
recorded. The value at which both are recognised 
is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which 
produces a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the outstanding liability.

The asset and liability are recognised at the 
commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset 
is accounted for an item of property plant and 
equipment. 

The annual rental charge is split between the 
repayment of the liability and a finance cost so 
as to achieve a constant rate of finance over 
the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is 
charged to finance costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Operating leases   
“Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially 
in other liabilities on the statement of financial 
position and subsequently as a reduction of 
rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the 
land component is separated from the building 
component and the classification for each is 
assessed separately.    

The trust as a lessor
Finance leases 
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 
Trust’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease 
income is allocated to accounting periods to 
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 
trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of 
the leases.  

Operating leases 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. 

Note 1.14 Provisions

The Trust recognises a provision where it has 
a present legal or constructive obligation of 
uncertain timing or amount; for which it is 
probable that there will be a future outflow of 
cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount. The amount recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the 
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of 
money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted 
cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s 
discount rates effective from 31 March 2022: 
    
Early retirement provisions and injury benefit 
provisions both use the HM Treasury’s pension 
discount rate of minus 1.30% in real terms (prior 
year: minus 0.95).   

Clinical negligence costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling 
scheme under which the trust pays an annual 
contribution to NHS Resolution, which, in return, 
settles all clinical negligence claims. Although 
NHS Resolution is administratively responsible 
for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical 
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negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution 
on behalf of the trust is disclosed at note 34.3 
but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.  
     
Non-clinical risk pooling  
The trust participates in the Property Expenses 
Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties 
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under 
which the trust pays an annual contribution to 
NHS Resolution and in return receives assistance 
with the costs of claims arising. The annual 
membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims are charged 
to operating expenses when the liability arises.

Note 1.15 Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past 
events whose existence will only be confirmed 
by one or more future events not wholly within 
the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, 
but are disclosed in note 35 where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are 
disclosed in note 35 unless the probability of a 
transfer of economic benefits is remote.  
 
Contingent liabilities are defined as:
• possible obligations arising from past events 

whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

• present obligations arising from past events 
but for which it is not probable that a transfer 
of economic benefits will arise or for which the 
amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
with sufficient reliability. 

Note 1.16 Public dividend capital 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 
over liabilities at the time of establishment of the 
predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has 
determined that PDC is not a financial instrument 
within the meaning of IAS 32. 

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and 
require repayments of PDC from, the trust. PDC is 
recorded at the value received.

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised 
by the trust, is payable as public dividend capital 
dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate 
set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the 

average relevant net assets of the trust during the 
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated 
as the value of all assets less the value of all 
liabilities, with certain additions and deductions 
as defined by the Department of Health and 
Social Care.     
 
This policy is available at https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/guidance-on-financing-
available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts. 
In accordance with the requirements laid down 
by the Department of Health and Social Care 
(as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year 
is calculated on the actual average relevant net 
assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the 
annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not 
revised should any adjustment to net assets occur 
as a result the audit of the annual accounts.

Note 1.17 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the trust are outside 
the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax 
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where 
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, 
the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

Note 1.18 Corporation tax 

The Trust has determined that the wholly owned 
subsidiary did not generate any Corporation tax 
liabilities.

Note 1.19 Climate change levy 

Expenditure on the climate change levy is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as incurred, based on the prevailing 
chargeable rates for energy consumption.

Note 1.20 Third party assets 

Assets belonging to third parties in which the 
Trust has no beneficial interest (such as money 
held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in 
the accounts. However, they are disclosed in a 
separate note to the accounts in accordance with 
the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM. 
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Note 1.21 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are items that 
Parliament would not have contemplated when 
it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are items that 
ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject 
to special control procedures compared with the 
generality of payments. They are divided into 
different categories, which govern the way that 
individual cases are handled. Losses and special 
payments are charged to the relevant functional 
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis. 
 
The losses and special payments note is compiled 
directly from the losses and compensations 
register which reports on an accrual basis with 
the exception of provisions for future losses.

Note 1.22 Early adoption of standards, 
amendments and interpretations

No new accounting standards or revisions to 
existing standards have been early adopted in 
2021/22. 

Note 1.23 Standards, amendments and 
interpretations in issue but not yet effective 
or adopted

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a 
lease and other interpretations and is applicable 
in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 
2022. The standard provides a single accounting 
model for lessees, recognising a right of use 
asset and obligation in the statement of financial 
position for most leases: some leases are exempt 
through application of practical expedients 
explained below. For those recognised in the 
statement of financial position the standard also 
requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in 
specific circumstances after the commencement 
of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction 
between operating and finance leases will remain 
and the accounting will be largely unchanged.

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease 
compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will 
apply this definition to new leases only and will 
grandfather its assessments made under the old 
standards of whether existing contracts contain a 
lease.

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the trust 
will apply the standard retrospectively without 
restatement and with the cumulative effect of 
initially applying the standard recognised in the 
income and expenditure reserve at that date. For 
existing operating leases with a remaining lease 
term of more than 12 months and an underlying 
asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will 
be recognised equal to the value of remaining 
lease payments discounted on transition at the 
trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The trust’s 
incremental borrowing rate will be defined by HM 
Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related 
right of use asset will be measured equal to the 
lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments. The difference between the asset 
value and the calculated lease liability will be 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve 
on transition. No adjustments will be made on 1 
April 2022 for existing finance leases.

For leases commencing in 2022/23, the trust 
will not recognise a right of use asset or lease 
liability for short term leases (less than or equal 
to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets 
(less than £5,000). Right of use assets will be 
subsequently measured on a basis consistent with 
owned assets and depreciated over the length of 
the lease term.  

The Trust has invested in a lease system to 
maintain an accurate measurement of leases 
going forward, this is expected to be operational 
in quarter 1 of 2022/23. 
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The trust has estimated the impact of applying 
IFRS 16 in 2022/23 on the opening statement of 
financial position and the in-year impact on the 
statement of comprehensive income and capital 
additions as follows:

£000

Estimated impact on 1 April 2022 statement of financial position

Additional right of use assets recognised for existing operating leases 2,255 

Additional lease obligations recognised for existing operating leases (2,190)

Net impact on net assets on 1 April 2022 65 

Estimated in-year impact in 2022/23

Additional depreciation on right of use assets (586)

Additional finance costs on lease liabilities (10)

Lease rentals no longer charged to operating expenditure 576 

Estimated impact on surplus / deficit in 2022/23 (20)

Estimated increase in capital additions for new leases commencing in 2022/23 1,145

The increase to capital additions is based on 
replacement vehicles and building leases which 
are currently operating leases and have not been 
included in the impact on 1st April 2022 as they 
have less than 12 months remaining on the 
contract. 

Note 1.24 Critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies

The following are the judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations (see below) that 
management has made in the process of 
applying the trust accounting policies and that 
have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements: 
As the majority of Trust income in 2021/22 is 
from a NHS block contract arrangements then 
all revenue have been recorded in the current 
reporting period. Additional payments in the 
second half of the year included income to 
support 111 recruitment, as the recruitment 
will take place in 2022/23 the income has been 
deferred.
 
Other revenue is based on meeting performance 
obligations, so research and development income 
and training income are only recorded when 
those criteria are met.

Note 1.25 Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are assumptions about the future 
and other major sources of estimation uncertainty 
that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year: 

The key sources of estimation relate to the values 
recorded as provisions and the revaluation of 
the Trust’s assets. Further information on these 
values are included within the relevant notes to 
the accounts. Provision discount rates used are 
the employee benefit rates as supplied by HM 
Treasury and every 1% increase in this rate would 
give an approximate £250k gain to the Trust.  

The upward property revaluation for the year 
was £2,261k, the total value of land and 
buildings at 31st March 2022 was £23,028k. 
This demonstrates that the valuation has a large 
impact on the carrying value for the Trust, last 
year the upward revaluation was £686k. The 
increase is reflective of significant rises in the 
property market as a whole.

The Trust has also evaluated the implication of 
the settlement of it’s Flowers legal obligations 
- an estimate of 60% has been put through as 
a provision with each 10% equating to approx 
£130k (total £1,307k. The equivalent provision 
was £1,716k last year but time barring means 1 
year has been removed from the provision. 
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Note 1.26 Other Accounting Standards

The following accounting standards were also 
considered but they were deemed not to be 
applicable to the content of these accounts. 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Note 2 Operating Segments

NEAS has not identified any operating segments 
as all services relate to the delivery of healthcare.  
In addition, segmental reporting is not currently 
provided to the chief operating decision maker, 
the Trust Board.      

Statutory reporting of the Trust’s financial position 
is provided to NHS Improvement monthly and 
the Board and Finance Committee receive 
information consistent to evaluate our current 
financial performance against the measure within 
these returns.     

The key measures within the NHS Improvement 
returns look at the in year financial performance 
against plan and the month 7-12 financial plan. 
      

*The employer contribution rate for NHS 
pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% 
(excluding administration charge) from 1 April 
2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have 
continued to pay over contributions at the former 
rate with the additional amount being paid over 
by NHS England on providers’ behalf. The full 
cost and related funding have been recognised in 
these accounts.   

Block contract arrangements continued at the 
start of 2021/22. In the second half of the year, 
a revised financial framework built on these 
arrangements but with a greater focus on 
system partnership and providers derived most 
of their income from these system envelopes. 
Comparatives in this note are presented to be 
comparable with the current year activity.  

Note 3 Operating income from patient care 
activities

All income from patient care activities relates 
to contract income recognised in line with 
accounting policy 1.4

Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities 
(by nature)

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

A & E income 120,696 99,114 120,696 99,114 

Patient transport services income 29,601 27,628 29,601 27,628 

Other income 24,832 29,529 24,832 29,529 

Additional pension contribution 
central funding*

4,927 4,654 4,856 4,585 

Total income from activities 180,056 160,925 179,985 160,856 
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Note 3.2 Income from patient care activities 
(by source)

Note 4 Other operating income

Income from patient care activities 
received from:

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS England 5,991 8,705 5,920 8,636 

Clinical commissioning groups 172,044 150,596 172,044 150,596 

Other NHS providers 1,234 1,154 1,234 1,154 

Local authorities 71 21 71 21 

Non-NHS: private patients 8 - 8 

Injury cost recovery scheme 204 263 204 263 

Non NHS: other 504 186 504 186 

Total income from activities 180,056 160,925 179,985 160,856 

Of which: Related to continuing 
operations

180,056 160,925 179,985 160,856

Group

2021/22 2020/21

Contract 
income

Non-contract 
income

Total
Contract 
income

Non-contract 
income

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Research and development 262 - 262 211 - 211

Education and training 2,708 - 2,708 2,986 - 2,986

Non-patient care services 
to other bodies

726 726 596 596

Reimbursement and top up 
funding

259 259 12,865 12,865

Receipt of capital grants 1 1 - -

Contributions to 
expenditure, PPE Inventory 
- DHSC

98 98 6,708 6,708

Rental revenue from 
operating leases

100 100 107 107

Other income 1,024 - 1,024 324 - 324

Total income from 
activities

4,979 199 5,178 16,982 6,815 23,797

Of which: Related to 
continuing operations

5,178 23,797
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Trust

2021/22 2020/21

Contract 
income

Non-contract 
income

Total
Contract 
income

Non-contract 
income

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Research and development 262 262 211 211 

Education and training 2,708 2,708 2,986 2,986 

Non-patient care services to 
other bodies

726 726 596 596

Reimbursement and top up 
funding

259 259 12,865 12,865

Receipt of capital grants 1 1 -

Contributions to expenditure, 
PPE Inventory - DHSC

98 98 6,708 6,708

Rental revenue from 
operating leases

100 100 130 107 237

Other income 2,005 2,005 1,436 1,436

Total income from 
activities

5,960 199 6,159 18,224 6,815 25,039

Of which: Related to 
continuing operations

6,159 25,039

Note 5.1 Additional information on contract 
revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period

There was no additional revenue recognised in 
the reporting period that was included in within 
contract liabilities at the previous period end (£0k 
2020/21).

Note 5.2 Income from activities arising from 
commissioner requested services

Under the terms of its provider licence, the trust 
is required to analyse the level of income from 
activities that has arisen from commissioner 
requested and non-commissioner requested 
services. Commissioner requested services are 
defined in the provider licence and are services 
that commissioners believe would need to be 
protected in the event of provider failure. A&E 
income is classified as a Commissioner Requested 
Service and totals £120.7m (£99.1m in 20/21).  
All other income is non-Commissioner Requested 
Services.      
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Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 256 461 256 461 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 16,008 11,904 16,008 11,904 

Staff and executive directors costs 126,748 125,713 123,938 123,170 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 147 147 144 144 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 3,209 6,882 2,839 6,473 

Supplies and services - general 2,204 3,815 2,166 3,778 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 293 494 293 494 

Inventories written down - 1,338 1,338 

Consultancy costs 89 12 89 12 

Establishment 5,249 4,819 4,963 4,745 

Premises 3,657 4,115 3,625 4,098 

Transport (including patient travel) 11,641 8,612 16,318 13,069 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 6,667 6,753 6,620 6,704 

Amortisation on intangible assets 634 799 634 799 

Net impairments (612) 339 (612) 339 

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets (127) 164 (127) 55 

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other receivables and investments 33 40 33 40 

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions - - - 

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 106 130 106 130 

Fees payable to the external auditor

audit services- statutory audit 100 82 80 70 

Internal audit costs 89 137 89 137 

Clinical negligence 944 764 944 764 

Legal fees 232 139 232 139 

Insurance 230 345 230 345 

Research and development 287 236 287 236 

Education and training 2,811 2,556 2,810 2,552 

Rentals under operating leases 805 805 775 805 

Early retirements - 87 - 87 

Redundancy 87 - 87 - 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments - 281 281 

Other services, eg external payroll 453 374 461 374 

Other 6 2 6 14 

Total 182,246 182,345 183,294 183,557 

Of which: Related to continuing operations 182,246 182,345 183,294 183,557 
 
Statutory audit feed are subject to VAT.

Note 6 Operating expenses
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Note 6.1 Limitation on auditor’s liability 
(Group)

There is no limitation on auditor’s liability for 
external audit work carried out for the financial 
years 2021/22 or 2020/21.

Statutory audit feed are subject to VAT.

Note 7 Impairment of assets (Group)

Note 8 Employee benefits

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

Total Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 99,618 99,504 97,404 96,971 

Social security costs 10,241 9,163 10,023 8,971 

Apprenticeship levy 479 439 479 439 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 16,353 15,482 16,120 15,252 

Pension cost - other 69 60 52 47 

Termination benefits 87 - 87 

Temporary staff (including agency) 2,209 3,000 2,081 2,779 

Total gross staff costs 129,056 127,648 126,246 124,459 

Recoveries in respect of seconded staff (270) (148) (270) (148)

Total staff costs 128,786 127,500 125,976 124,311 

2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:

Changes in market price (808) 243 

Other 196 96 

Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit (612) 339 
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Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health (Group)

During 2021/22 there were 5 early retirements from 
the trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (3 in 
the year ended 31 March 2021).  The estimated 
additional pension liabilities of these ill-health 
retirements is £469k (£88k in 2020/21).   

These estimated costs are calculated on an average 
basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 8.2 Reporting of compensation schemes 
- exit packages 2021/22

Note 9 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the 
provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. 
Details of the benefits payable and rules of the 
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are 
unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 
employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed 
under the direction of the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care in England and Wales. 
They are not designed to be run in a way that 
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share 
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it 
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to 
the NHS body of participating in each scheme is 
taken as equal to the contributions payable to 
that scheme for the accounting period.   

In order that the defined benefit obligations 
recognised in the financial statements do not 
differ materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date by a formal 
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that 
“the period between formal valuations shall be 

four years, with approximate assessments in 
intervening years”. An outline of these follows: 
     
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out 
annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the 
end of the reporting period. This utilises an 
actuarial assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated membership 
and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably 
robust figures for financial reporting purposes. 
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 
March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 
March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with 
summary global member and accounting data. 
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed 
by HM Treasury have also been used.  

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the 
scheme is contained in the report of the scheme 
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS 
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can 

Exit package cost band (including any 
special payment element)

Number of  
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Total number of 
exit packages

<£10,000 1 - 1 

£10,000 - £25,000 - - - 

£25,001 - 50,000 - 1 1 

£50,001 - £100,000 1 - 1 

Total number of exit packages by type 2 1 3 

Total cost (£) £86,000 £43,000 £129,000

Exit packages for 2020/21 are £0

Annual Report and Accounts | 2021/22

140



Pa
rt

 4

be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are 
published annually. Copies can also be obtained 
from The Stationery Office.   
     
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level 
of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 
schemes (taking into account recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend contribution 
rates payable by employees and employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the 
NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 
March 2016. The results of this valuation set the 
employer contribution rate payable from April 
2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.   
      
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of 
the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that 
was set following the 2012 valuation. There was 
initially a pause to the cost control element of the 
2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around 
member benefits caused by the discrimination 
ruling relating to the McCloud case.   

HMT published valuation directions dated 7 
October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) 
that set out the technical detail of how the costs of 
remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process.  
Following these directions, the scheme actuary has 
completed the cost control element of the 2016 
valuation for the NHS Pension Scheme, which 
concludes no changes to benefits or member 
contributions are required. The 2016 valuation 
reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website 
at https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-
scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports.  
 
The Trust also offers an additional defined 
contribution workplace pension scheme, the 
National Employment Savings Scheme (NEST) 
scheme for those employees not eligible or 
wanting to join the Trust’s NHS Pension Scheme.

Note 10 Operating leases (Group&Trust)

Note 10.1 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust as a lessor

This note discloses income generated in operating 
lease agreements where North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust is the lessor.  

Revenue is received from customers who share 
the use of Trust radio mast sites.  

2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 

Operating lease revenue

Minimum lease receipts 100 107 

Total 100 107 

The Trust has an additional operating lease 
arrangement with its subsidiary to provide 
accommodation to deliver it’s fleet services.  
This is not recognisd in the group figure above 
but is agreed at £11k per month. The lease 
expires 28/2/2023

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease receipts due: 

not later than one year; 103 107 

later than one year and 
not later than five years;

411 428 

Total 514 535 

Note 10.2 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust as a lessee 

This note discloses costs and commitments 
incurred in operating lease arrangements where 
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation 
Trust is the lessee.   

North East Ambulance Service has 3 main 
operating lease liabilities, namely land, buildings 
and vehicles. Land and buildings include 
ambulance stations and office buildings. Vehicle 
leasing includes some Emergency Care vehicles, 
though some are purchased outright. 

The future lease payments for land relate to 
finance leases which are disclosed in Note 25. 
Contingent rent relates to land and buildings only 
and reflects increases in rent that were unknown 
at the inception of the lease, including finance 
lease rental increases. There were no sub-lets of 
lease arrangements in 2021/22 or 2020/21. 
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2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 

Operating lease expense

Minimum lease 
payments

718 740 

Contingent rents 87 65 

Total 805 805 

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

not later than one year; 502 575 

later than one year and 
not later than five years;

681 642 

later than five years. 288 440 

Total 1,471 1,657 

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest on bank accounts 43 - 43 - 

Interest on loans to subsidiary - - 425 442 

Other finance income - 17 - 17 

Total finance income 43 17 468 459 

Note 11 Finance income

Finance income represents interest received on 
assets and investments in the period.

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest expense:

Finance leases 292 241 744 612 

Total interest expense 292 241 744 612 

Unwinding of discount on provisions (45) (18) (45) (18)

Total finance costs 247 223 699 594 

Note 12.1 Finance expenditure (Group)

Finance expenditure represents interest and other 
charges involved in the borrowing of money or 
asset financing.
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Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gains on disposal of assets - - 17 - 

Losses on disposal of assets (4) (31) - (44)

Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets (4) (31) 17 (44)

Note 12.2 The late payment of commercial 
debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 (Group)

No payments were made in 2021/22 or 2020/21 
for late payment of commercial debt. 

Note 13 Other gains / (losses) (Group)

Note 14.1 Intangible assets - 2021/22

Group &Trust
Software  
licences

Internally 
generated 

information 
technology

Development 
expenditure

Websites Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 
2021 - brought forward

939 2,461 163 52 3,615 

Additions 84 - - - 84 

Disposals / derecognition (34) - (76) - (110)

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 
2022

989 2,461 87 52 3,589 

Amortisation at 1 April 2021 - 
brought forward

328 1,543 79 52 2,002 

Provided during the year 188 423 23 - 634 

Disposals / derecognition (34) - (38) - (72)

Amortisation at 31 March 2022 482 1,966 64 52 2,564 

Net book value at 31 March 2022 507 495 23 - 1,025 

Net book value at 1 April 2021 611 918 84 - 1,613 
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Note 14.2 Intangible assets - 2020/21

Group & Trust
Software  
licences

Internally 
generated 

information 
technology

Development 
expenditure

Websites Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 
2020 - as previously stated

520 2,625 150 52 3,347 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 
2020 - restated

520 2,625 150 52 3,347 

Additions 506 20 - - 526 

Reclassifications - 26 34 - 60 

Disposals / derecognition (87) (210) (21) - (318)

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 
2021

939 2,461 163 52 3,615 

Amortisation at 1 April 2020 - as 
previously stated

283 1,107 79 52 1,521 

Prior period adjustments - - - - - 

Amortisation at 1 April 2020 - 
restated

283 1,107 79 52 1,521 

Provided during the year 132 646 21 - 799 

Disposals / derecognition (87) (210) (21) - (318)

Amortisation at 31 March 2021 328 1,543 79 52 2,002 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 611 918 84 - 1,613 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 237 1,518 71 - 1,826 
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Note 15.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2021/22

Group
Land

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/gross 
cost at 1 April 2021 
- brought forward

3,113 21,386 2,079 10,510 34,821 7,510 79,419 

Additions - 2,270 2,718 155 1,360 130 6,633 

Impairments - (210) - - - - (210)

Revaluations 42 1,434 - - - - 1,476 

Reclassifications - 38 (980) 65 808 69 - 

Disposals / 
derecognition

- (255) - (44) (2,697) (1,005) (4,001)

Valuation/gross 
cost at 31 March 
2022

3,155 24,663 3,817 10,686 34,292 6,704 83,317 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2021 - 
brought forward

- 1,471 - 6,153 21,761 5,097 34,482 

Provided during the 
year 

- 1,064 - 1,236 3,531 836 6,667 

Impairments - 514 - - - - 514 

Reversals of 
impairments

(40) (1,296) - - - - (1,336)

Revaluations 40 (17) - - - - 23 

Disposals / 
derecognition

- (216) - (22) (2,670) (968) (3,876)

Accumulated 
depreciation at 31 
March 2022

- 1,520 - 7,367 22,622 4,965 36,474 

Net book value at 
31 March 2022

3,155 23,143 3,817 3,319 11,670 1,739 46,843 

Net book value at 
1 April 2021

3,113 19,915 2,079 4,357 13,060 2,413 44,937 
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Group
Land

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross 
cost at 1 April 2020 
- as previously 
stated

3,113 18,980 1,406 10,654 34,881 7,384 76,418 

Additions - 3,190 2,081 82 358 682 6,393 

Impairments - (115) - - - - (115)

Revaluations - (29) - - - - (29)

Reclassifications - - (1,408) 65 301 982 (60)

Disposals / 
derecognition

- (640) - (291) (719) (1,538) (3,188)

Valuation/gross 
cost at 31 March 
2021

3,113 21,386 2,079 10,510 34,821 7,510 79,419 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2020 - as 
previously stated

- 1,866 - 5,196 18,504 5,861 31,427 

Provided during the 
year 

- 979 - 1,248 3,752 774 6,753 

Impairments - 436 - - - - 436 

Reversals of 
impairments

- (212) - - - - (212)

Revaluations - (958) - - - - (958)

Disposals / 
derecognition

- (640) - (291) (495) (1,538) (2,964)

Accumulated 
depreciation at 31 
March 2021

- 1,471 - 6,153 21,761 5,097 34,482 

Net book value at 
31 March 2021

3,113 19,915 2,079 4,357 13,060 2,413 44,937 

Net book value at 
1 April 2020

3,113 17,114 1,406 5,458 16,377 1,523 44,991 

Note 15.2 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21
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Note 15.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2021/22

Group Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net book value at 31 March 2022

Owned - purchased 3,155 19,189 3,817 2,406 11,670 1,739 41,976 

Finance leased - 3,954 - 913 - - 4,867 

NBV total at 31 
March 2022

3,155 23,143 3,817 3,319 11,670 1,739 46,843 

Note 15.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21

Group Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Net book value at 31 March 2021

Owned - purchased 3,113 16,879 2,079 2,922 13,060 2,413 40,466 

Finance leased - 3,036 - 1,435 - - 4,471 

NBV total at 31 
March 2021

3,113 19,915 2,079 4,357 13,060 2,413 44,937 
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Note 15.5 Property, plant and equipment - 2021/22

Trust Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation/gross 
cost at 1 April 2021 
- brought forward

3,113 21,386 337 10,261 34,723 7,510 77,330 

Additions 2,270 73 220 2,153 130 4,846 

Impairments (210) (210)

Reclassifications 38 (107) 69 - 

Transfers to / from 
assets held for sale

42 1,434 1,476 

Disposals / 
derecognition

(255) (3) (2,690) (1,005) (3,953)

Valuation/gross 
cost at 31 March 
2022

3,155 24,663 300 10,481 34,186 6,704 79,489 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2021 - 
brought forward

- 1,471 - 6,039 21,737 5,097 34,344 

Provided during the 
year 

1,064 1,204 3,516 836 6,620 

Impairments 514 514 

Reversals of 
impairments

(40) (1,296) (1,336)

Revaluations 40 (17) 23 

Disposals / 
derecognition

(217) (2,670) (968) (3,855)

Net book value at 
31 March 2022

3,155 23,144 300 3,238 11,603 1,739 43,179 

Net book value at 
1 April 2021

3,113 19,915 337 4,222 12,986 2,413 42,986 
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Note 15.6 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21

Trust Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross 
cost at 1 April 2020 
- as previously 
stated

3,113 18,980 1,043 10,405 34,783 7,384 75,708 

Additions 3,190 345 147 525 682 4,889 

Impairments (115) (115)

Revaluations (29) (29)

Reclassifications (1,042) 982 (60)

Disposals / 
derecognition

(640) (9) (291) (585) (1,538) (3,063)

Valuation/gross 
cost at 31 March 
2021

3,113 21,386 337 10,261 34,723 7,510 77,330 

Accumulated 
depreciation at 
1 April 2020 - as 
previously stated

- 1,866 - 5,117 18,494 5,861 31,338 

Provided during the 
year 

979 1,213 3,738 774 6,704 

Impairments 436 436 

Reversals of 
impairments

(212) (212)

Revaluations (958) (958)

Disposals / 
derecognition

(640) (291) (495) (1,538) (2,964)

Net book value at 
31 March 2021

3,113 19,915 337 4,222 12,986 2,413 42,986 

Net book value at 
1 April 2020

3,113 17,114 1,043 5,288 16,289 1,523 44,370 
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Note 15.7 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2021/22

Trust Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net book value at 31 March 2022

Owned - purchased 3,155 19,190 300 1,198 3,716 1,739 29,298 

Finance leased - 3,954 - 2,040 7,887 - 13,881 

NBV total at 31 
March 2022

3,155 23,144 300 3,238 11,603 1,739 43,179 

Note 15.8 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21

Trust Land
Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings

Assets 
under 

construction

Plant & 
machinery

Transport 
equipment

Information 
technology

Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net book value at 31 March 2021

Owned - purchased 3,113 16,879 337 1,668 5,368 2,413 29,778 

Finance leased - 3,036 - 2,554 7,618 - 13,208 

NBV total at 31 
March 2021

3,113 19,915 337 4,222 12,986 2,413 42,986 

Note 16 Revaluations of property, plant and 
equipment

Property assets including land and buildings were 
revalued as at 31 March 2022. The Valuation 
Office Agency (VOA) was commissioned to 
undertake a desktop property valuation with an 
effective date of 31 March 2022 for the Trust’s 
owned property assets (they were also valued as 
a desk top process by the VOA in March 2021).                                                                                                         

These valuations are based upon fair values 
applying Depreciated replacement Cost (DRC) for 
specialised assets and Existing Use Values (EUV) 
for Non-Specialised Assets. Finance lease assets 
were valued on a Leasehold Interest Valuation 
method as at 31 March 2022. The revaluation 
undertaken by the VOA includes two leased 
properties with no designated end dates (namely 
Lanchester Road and TVJI) as in previous years. 

No compensation has been received from third 
parties for assets impaired, lost or given up, that 
is included in the Trust’s surplus. The overall NET 
revaluation for the year was upward by £2,261k. 
This is accounted for £1,453k as an increase to 
revaluation reserve and £808k as a reversal of a 
previous impairment. 
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Note 17 Investments in Subsidiary 
Undertakings

2021/22 2020/21

£ £ 

Shares in Subsidiary Undertakings 100 100 

Loans to Subsidiary Undertakings 13,986,001 12,118,330 

Carrying value at 31 March 13,986,101 12,118,430 

The loan value above can be split by: £'000 £'000 

Current 2,577 2,041 

Non-current 11,409 10,078 

The shares in the subsidiary company North East 
Ambulance Service Unified Solutions Limited 
comprises a 100% holding in the share capital 
consisting of 100 ordinary £1 shares.

The principal activity of North East Ambulance 
Service Unified Solutions Limited is to provide 
fleet repairs and maintenance services. 

The loans to the subsidiary are usually for the 
period of 7 years.

Note 18 Inventories

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Consumables 952 2,331 898 2,297 

Energy 275 216 275 216 

Total inventories 1,227 2,547 1,173 2,513 

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year 
were £4,918k (2020/21: £6,493k). Write-down 
of inventories recognised as expenses for the year 
were £0k (2020/21: £1,338k).

In response to the COVID 19 pandemic, the 
Department of Health and Social Care centrally 
procured personal protective equipment and 
passed these to NHS providers free of charge. 
During 2021/22 the Trust received £98k of items 
purchased by DHSC (2020/21: £6,708k).

These inventories were recognised as additions 
to inventory at deemed cost with the 
corresponding benefit recognised in income. 
The utilisation of these items is included in the 
expenses disclosed above.
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Note 19.1 Receivables

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Contract receivables 2,386 4,124 2,124 3,924 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / 
assets

(441) (568) (341) (459)

Allowance for other impaired receivables (120) (87) (120) (87)

Prepayments (non-PFI) 1,627 2,766 1,609 2,831 

PDC dividend receivable 108 520 108 520 

VAT receivable 632 412 622 542 

Other receivables 325 358 325 358 

Total current receivables 4,517 7,525 4,327 7,629 

Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies:

Current 952 3,625

Note 19.2 Allowances for credit losses - 2021/22

Group Trust

Contract 
receivables 

and 
contract 
assets

All other 
receivables

Contract 
receivables 

and 
contract 
assets

All other 
receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2021 - brought 
forward

568 87 459 87 

Changes in existing allowances (127) 33 (118) 33 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2022 441 120 341 120 
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Note 19.3 Allowances for credit losses - 2020/21

Group Trust

Contract 
receivables 

and 
contract 
assets

All other 
receivables

Contract 
receivables 

and 
contract 
assets

All other 
receivables

£000 £000 £000 £000

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2020  
- as previously stated

404 47 404 47 

Changes in existing allowances 164 40 55 40 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2021 568 87 459 87 

Note 20 Non-current assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

NBV of non-current assets for sale and 
assets in disposal groups at 1 April

- 73 73 

Assets sold in year - (73) (73)

NBV of non-current assets for sale and 
assets in disposal groups at 31 March

- - - - 

Note 21 Cash and cash equivalents 
movements

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, 
in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents 
are readily convertible investments of known 
value which are subject to an insignificant risk  
of change in value.   

Group Trust

2021/22 2020/21 2021/22 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 25,838 11,797 25,213 10,048 

Net change in year 13,148 14,041 12,813 15,165 

At 31 March 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 

Broken down into:

Cash with the Government Banking Service 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 38,986 25,838 38,026 25,213 
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Note 22 Trade and other payables

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Trade payables 1,051 886 1,006 698 

Capital payables 1,148 795 31 237 

Accruals 10,442 11,564 10,213 11,736 

Social security costs 1,773 1,427 1,738 1,403 

Other taxes payable 1,265 1,003 1,240 983 

Other payables 666 315 662 279 

Total current trade and other payables 16,345 15,990 14,890 15,336 

Non-current

Capital payables 683 403 683 403 

Accruals 455 455 455 455 

Total non-current trade and other 
payables

1,138 858 1,138 858 

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 1,820 464

Note 22.1 Early retirements in NHS payables 
above

There were no early retirements in 21/22 (none in 
2020/21).
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Note 23 Other liabilities

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Deferred income: contract liabilities 7,392 1,721 7,392 1,721 

Deferred grants 72 - 72 - 

Total other current liabilities 7,464 1,721 7,464 1,721 

The increase is due to funds received in 2021/22 
for NHS 111 recruitment taking place in 2022/23.

Note 24 Borrowings

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current

Obligations under finance leases 585 521 2,372 1,994 

Total current borrowings 585 521 2,372 1,994 

Non-current

Obligations under finance leases 3,997 3,708 11,886 11,459 

Total non-current borrowings 3,997 3,708 11,886 11,459 
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Note 24.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Group)

2021/22

Group Trust

Finance 
leases

Finance 
leases

£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2021 4,229 13,453

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal (611) (2,122)

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (255) (602)

Non-cash movements:

Additions 960 2,976 

Application of effective interest rate 259 551 

Carrying value at 31 March 2022 4,582 14,256 

 2020/21

Group Trust

Finance 
leases

Finance 
leases

£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2020 3,180 13,167 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of principal (653) (1,535)

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (318) (646)

Non-cash movements:

Additions 1,731 2,366 

Application of effective interest rate 289 101 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021 4,229 13,453 
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Note 25 Finance leases

Note 25.1 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust as a lessor

There are no leases of this nature, (2020/21 £0k).

Note 25.2 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust as a lessee

Obligations under finance leases where the trust 
is the lessee. 

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross lease liabilities 8,684 7,622 19,516 18,110 

of which liabilities are due:

not later than one year; 991 818 3,126 2,712 

later than one year and not later than five 
years;

1,364 2,003 8,143 8,032 

later than five years. 6,329 4,801 8,247 7,366 

Finance charges allocated to future periods (4,102) (3,393) (5,258) (4,657)

Net lease liabilities 4,582 4,229 14,258 13,453 

of which payable:

- not later than one year; 585 521 2,372 1,994 

- later than one year and not later than five 
years;

578 1,114 6,612 6,344 

- later than five years. 3,419 2,594 5,274 5,115 

The Trust incurred additional finance leases 
obligations in the year due to vehicle leases with 
its subsidiary, NEASUS Ltd. There was also an 
external new building lease for £0.960m.
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Note 26 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Group)

Group

Pensions: 
early 

departure 
costs

Pensions: 
injury 

benefits

Legal 
claims

Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2021 707 2,790 119 - 6,079 9,695 

Change in the discount rate 11 95 - - - 106 

Arising during the year - - 77 84 5,324 5,485 

Utilised during the year (83) (162) (28) - (1,268) (1,541)

Reversed unused (42) (12) (57) - (4,684) (4,795)

Unwinding of discount (8) (37) - - - (45)

At 31 March 2022 585 2,674 111 84 5,451 8,905 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

not later than one year; 84 165 111 84 5,451 5,895 

later than one year and not 
later than five years;

341 684 - - - 1,025 

later than five years. 160 1,825 - - - 1,985 

Total 585 2,674 111 84 5,451 8,905 

Trust

Pensions: 
early 

departure 
costs

Pensions: 
injury 

benefits

Legal 
claims

Redundancy Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2021 707 2,790 119 - 6,040 9,656 

Change in the discount rate 11 95 - - - 106 

Arising during the year - - 77 84 5,324 5,485 

Utilised during the year (83) (162) (28) - (1,268) (1,541)

Reversed unused (42) (12) (57) - (4,684) (4,795)

Unwinding of discount (8) (37) - - - (45)

At 31 March 2022 585 2,674 111 84 5,412 8,866 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

not later than one year; 84 165 111 84 5,412 5,856 

later than one year and not 
later than five years;

341 684 - - - 1,025 

later than five years. 160 1,825 - - - 1,985 

Total 585 2,674 111 84 5,412 8,866 
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Legal claims are those recorded via NHS 
Resolution for employers liability claims. The 
“Other” class of provisions includes provisions for 
various employee/pay claims, estates reparations 
and coroner’s costs.

The Pensions - early departures provision 
balances are calculated by using an estimate of 
life expectancy based on the Office of National 
Statistics Life Tables. The future payments for 
early retirements and injury benefits are also 
discounted to take into account the time value 
of money using HM Treasury’s recommended 
discount rate, this was amended to -1.3%  
during the year. 

Note 26.2 Clinical negligence liabilities

At 31 March 2022, £20,328k was included in 
provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical 
negligence liabilities of North East Ambulance 
Service NHS Foundation Trust (31 March 2021: 
£16,177k).

Note 27 Contingent assets and liabilities

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Value of contingent liabilities 

NHS Resolution legal claims (84) (91) (84) (91)

Gross value of contingent liabilities (84) (91) (84) (91)

Amounts recoverable against liabilities - - 

Net value of contingent liabilities (84) (91) (84) (91)

Note 28 Contractual capital commitments

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Property, plant and equipment 3,623 1,368 528 136 

Intangible assets - 39 - 39 

Total 3,623 1,407 528 175 
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Note 29 Financial instruments

Note 29.1 Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires 
disclosure of the role that financial instruments 
have had during the year in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking 
its activities. Because of the continuing service 
provider relationship that the Trust has with 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) and the 
way those CCG’s are financed, the Trust is not 
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 
business entities. Also financial instruments play 
a much more limited role in creating or changing 
risk than would be typical of listed companies, 
to which the financial reporting standards mainly 
apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow 
or invest surplus funds and financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational 
activities rather than being held to change the 
risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities. 

The Trust’s treasury management operations are 
carried out by the finance department, within 
parameters defined formally within the Trust’s 
standing financial instructions and policies agreed 
by the Board of Directors. Trust treasury activity is 
subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 
 
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation 
with the great majority of transactions, assets and 
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.  The 
Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore 
has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 
    

Interest rate risk  
The Trust borrows from government for capital 
expenditure. The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, 
in line with the life of the associated assets, and 
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, 
fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore 
has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes 
from contracts with other public sector bodies, 
the Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The 
maximum exposures as at 31 March 2021 are in 
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the 
trade and other receivables note. The increase in 
the provision for the impairment of receivables is 
documented in Note 19.   

Liquidity risk  
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under 
contracts with CCG’s, which are financed from 
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust 
funds its capital expenditure from funds obtained 
within its prudential borrowing limit. The Trust is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.  
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Note 29.2 Carrying values of financial assets (Group)

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2022

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 2,150 2,150 

Cash and cash equivalents 38,986 38,986 

Total at 31 March 2022 41,136 41,136 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 3,827 3,827 

Cash and cash equivalents 25,838 25,838 

Total at 31 March 2021 29,665 29,665 

Note 29.3 Carrying values of financial assets (Trust)

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2022

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 15,971 15,971 

Cash and cash equivalents 38,026 38,026 

Total at 31 March 2022 53,997 53,997 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 15,854 15,854 

Cash and cash equivalents 25,213 25,213 

Total at 31 March 2021 41,067 41,067 
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Note 29.4 Carrying values of financial liabilities (Group)

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2022

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Obligations under finance leases 4,582 4,582 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 11,742 11,742 

Total at 31 March 2022 16,324 16,324 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Obligations under finance leases 4,229 4,229 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 12,110 12,110 

Total at 31 March 2021 16,339 16,339 

Note 29.5 Carrying values of financial assets (Trust)

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2022

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Obligations under finance leases 14,256 14,256 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 10,353 10,353 

Total at 31 March 2022 24,609 24,609 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 
amortised 

cost

Total book 
value

£000 £000

Obligations under finance leases 13,453 13,453 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 11,520 11,520 

Total at 31 March 2021 24,973 24,973 
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Note 29.6 Maturity of financial liabilities

The following maturity profile of financial 
liabilities is based on the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. This differs to the 
amounts recognised in the statement of financial 
position which are discounted to present value.

Group Trust

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

31 March 
2022

31 March 
2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

In one year or less 12,733 12,928 13,477 14,232 

In more than one year but not more than five 
years

1,364 2,003 8,143 8,033 

In more than five years 6,329 4,801 8,247 7,365 

Total 20,426 19,732 29,867 29,630 

Note 30 Losses and special payments

Group and trust
Total 

number of 
cases

Total 
number of 

cases

Total 
number of 

cases

Total 
number of 

cases

Number £000 Number £000

Losses

Cash losses 181 156 175 151 

Fruitless payments and constructive losses 54 2 22 1 

Stores losses and damage to property 121 82 61 90 

Total losses 356 240 258 242 

Special payments

Ex-gratia payments 9 1,947 18 82 

Special severance payments 1 43 - - 

Total special payments 10 1,990 18 82 

Total losses and special payments 366 2,230 276 324 
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Note 31 Related parties

The Department of Health and Social Care is 
a related party as it is the parent department 
for the Group. Other related categories include 
local Clinical Commissioning Groups  and local 
provider NHS Trusts. Transactions have taken 
place with other public bodies, with material 
transactions taking place with HMRC and local 
authorities during the year.

The Foundation Trust also has its own registered 
charity.  The Foundation Trust board is also 
charged with governance of the Charity.  
The North East Ambulance Service Trust Fund 
is registered with the Charity Commission, 
Charity number 1078575. The balance of 
funds as at 31st March 2022 is £158k (31 
March 2021 £254k). The Trust Fund accounts 
are not consolidated into the Foundation 
Trust accounts due to the immaterial value 
of these funds. As at 31st March 2022, there 
is £97k owed from the Charity to the Trust.                                                                                                                                           
   

The shares in the subsidiary company North East 
Ambulance Service Unified Solutions Limited 
comprise a 100% holding in the share capital 
consisting of 100 ordinary £1 shares. This wholly 
owned subsidiary has had material transactions 
with the Trust during the year, in particular in 
reference to the loan, along with the leasing of 
vehicles and equipment.    

Other related parties include:

• Chairman is Director Rail, at Serco UK  
and Europe (Group spend £25K)

• Non-Executive Director is Apprenticeship Lead 
at Health Education England (Group income 
£1.952m)

• Non-Executive Director’s husband is a 
consultant at Northumbria Healthcare  
NHS FT (Group income £1k)

Note 32 Public Dividend Capital

The Trust is required to pay a dividend to the 
Department of Health equal to 3.5% of the 
average of opening and closing net relevant 
assets for the year. As set out in the Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual, the calculation of 
the dividend excludes the average cash held with 
the Government Banking Service.   

The impact of the Inventories balance of DHSC 
provided PPE and the NBV of Covid-19 assets are 
excluded from the calculation.   
    

The forecast Dividend payment as notified to 
the Department of Health was £575k. Therefore 
there is a receivable due to be paid to the Trust 
of £108k which will be deducted from the 
September 2022 dividend payment. 

The above calculation is based on pre-audited 
accounts and is not adjusted for results in the 
audited accounts.

2021/22

£000

Opening Capital and Reserves (Total Assets Employed) 47,596

Closing Capital and Reserves (Total Assets Employed) 53,376

Average net assets 50,486 (A)

Average cash balance held in Government Banking Service Accounts 37,157 (B)

Average relevant net assets 13,329 (A-B)

Dividend (3.5% of average relevant net assets) 467

Note 33 Events after the reporting date

There were no events after the reporting date.
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North East Ambulance Service
Communications Department, Bernicia House, Goldcrest 

Way, Newburn Riverside, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE15 8NY

T: 0191 4302099
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Support is available to access this document in a range of other accessible formats on request, 
including large print, audio, British Sign Language and other languages.

For more information, telephone or text 07559 918 672 (office hours)  
or email public.relations@neas.nhs.uk

ARABIC 

BENGALI 

CZECH
Na vyžádání je k dispozici podpora pro přístup k tomuto dokumentu v řadě dalších formátů včetně 
velkoformátového tisku, audio formátu, britského znakového jazyka a dalších jazyků.

Pro více informací volejte na tel. číslo: 07559 918 672 (během úředních hodin) nebo pište na e-mail: 
public.relations@neas.nhs.uk

POLISH
Na żądanie pomagamy uzyskać dostęp do tego dokumentu w wielu innych formatach, w tym dużym 
drukiem, w formie nagrania dźwię kowego, w brytyjskim języku migowym i w innych językach.

Aby uzyskać więcej informacji, prosimy zadzwonić lub wysłać SMS: 07559 918 672 (w godzinach 
pracy) lub wysłać e-mail: public.relations@neas.nhs.uk

ROMANIAN
La cerere, puteți beneficia de sprijin pentru a accesa acest document într-o serie de alte formate, 
inclusiv caractere mari, audio, limbajul britanic al semnelor, și în alte limbi.

Pentru mai multe informații, telefonați sau trimiteți un SMS la numărul: 07559 918 672 (în timpul 
programului de lucru) sau un e-mail la adresa: public.relations@neas.nhs.uk

SIMPLIFIED CHINESE
可应要求支持 , 以一系列其他可访问格式访问本文档 , 包括大字体  ` 音频  `  英国手语和其他语言 。

欲了解更多信息 , 请致电或发短信至 : 07559 918 672（办公时间） 或发送电子邮件至 :  
public.relations@neas.nhs.uk




